# A Study of Indigenous Boys and Men

PREPARED FOR



RESEARCH INTEGRATION STRATEGIES EVALUATION

#### PREPARED BY:

Bryan McKinley Jones Brayboy, PhD, and Jessica A. Solyom, PhD

Arizona State University (co-leads)

JEREMIAH CHIN, Doctoral Candidate, Arizona State University

AMANDA TACHINE, PHD, Arizona State University

MEGAN BANG, PHD, University of Washington

NICHOLAS BUSTAMANTE, Doctoral Student, Arizona State University

 ${\tt COLIN\,BEN,\,Doctoral\,\,Candidate,\,\,University\,\,of\,\,Utah\,\,Ceni\,\,Myles,\,\,MS,\,\,University\,\,of\,\,Washington}$ 

AMBER POLEVIYUMA, Undergraduate Student, Arizona State University

#### With

MEGAN TOM, Undergraduate Student, Arizona State University

SARAH ABUWANDI, Undergraduate Student, Arizona State University

ALEXUS RICHMOND, Undergraduate Student, Arizona State University

#### PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATORS:

BRYAN McKinley Jones Brayboy, PhD, Arizona State University

MEGAN BANG, PHD, University of Washington

#### SPECIAL THANKS

June Claypool Whittaker, Hannah Duncan

Joyce Martin - Labriola support, Keola Kawai'ula'iliahi Chan, and Mahelani Babico

WINONA THIRION

RAY OSTOS

#### **ABSTRACT & DOCUMENT LAYOUT**

Covering 15 years of research (2000–2015), this scan seeks to identify, highlight, and outline educational and social programs and interventions that address the needs of American Indian and Alaska Native boys and men, ages 12 to 25, guided by the following questions: What specific interventions for Native boys and men have been developed? In what places have these occurred? What are the guiding principles and practices in these interventions that have led to increased personal and academic achievement?

This report begins by grounding this work in the histories and contexts of Indigenous men and boys and includes an assessment of what is known about their current status. This is followed by our methodological approach and processes. The report then presents our findings and conclusions and extends them to synthesized principles and practices that have emerged through the field scan. Finally, we conclude with recommendations.



# RESEARCH INTEGRATION STRATEGIES EVALUATION

RISE for Boys and Men of Color is a field advancement effort that aims to better understand and strategically improve the lives, experiences, and outcomes of boys and men of color in the United States.

Support for this study was provided by a grant funded by The Atlantic Philanthropies, The Annie E. Casey Foundation, Marguerite Casey Foundation, WK Kellogg Foundation, and members of the Executives' Alliance to Expand Opportunities for Boys and Men of Color. The conclusions and opinions expressed in this study are of the author(s) alone and do not necessarily represent the views of RISE for Boys and Men of Color or its funders.

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	5
Overview of Native Peoples1	1
A Note About Terms	2
METHODS	3
Methodology & Research Design	3
Data Collection	3
Grey Literature: Social Media and Google Searches14	4
Interviews1	5
Coding Strategy and Analysis1	5
Search Results	6
Google and Social Media Data Collected	7
FINDINGS18	В
Non-RISE Relevant18	8
Second Section: RISE Relevant Literature	4
Grey Literature and Emergent Themes: Promising Principles for Indigenous Education25	5
Empower: Nurturing and Strengthening Identity Development	5
Enact: Spiritual Practices and Sharing Stories	6
Engage: Relationships with People and Place Matter27	7
Enlighten: Reciprocal Learning from Engaging with Family, Elders, and Mentors28	8
Envision: Purpose-Driven Framework28	8
Enhance: Institutional and Tribal Support20	9
DISCUSSION	О
RECOMMENDATIONS	2
ABOUT THE AUTHORS35	5
REFERENCES	6

APPENDICES	55
Appendix A: RISE Interview Protocol	55
Appendix B: RISE Coding Sheet	56
Appendix C: RISE Codina Sheet: INSTRUCTIONS	58

# Introduction

The story of American Indian boys and men in academic fields is one of perceived dysfunction, "at-risk" descriptors, substance abuse, partner abuse, poor health, and low educational achievement. By many indicators and social markers, a large majority of Indigenous boys and men are struggling. But, as some are fond of saying, the devil is in the details. The available data tell a grim story about the past and present, but the "real story" of how American Indian boys and men are faring in the world is not fully told.

Without discounting statistics, our fundamental point is that anyone interested in this work needs to have more systematic, structural data to get the full, complex, nuanced picture of what is happening. Data on American Indians in the US Department of Education, Health and Human Services, Interior, and Justice are sparse at best. We have, in the words of Shotton, Lowe, and Waterman (2013) been relegated to "an asterisk." The message to many of us is clear: American Indians, Alaska Natives, and Native Hawaiians (who are too often buried in the Asian Pacific Islander category, making them invisible as an Indigenous population in the United States) have been rendered "insignificant" as a result of this asterisk. Both the data neglect and the analytical dynamic producing invisibility perpetuates inequities that are at best unintended and, in moving forward, are unacceptable due to their contribution to the erosion of Indigenous sovereignty.

Data may have diminished the presence of Indigenous peoples, but the legal and political relationship between American Indians, Alaska Natives, and Native Hawaiians highlights the importance of recognizing and remedying this treatment. First, the US government and tribal nations have a unique relationship. American Indians are mentioned twice in the US Constitution. The "Commerce Clause" (Article I, Section VIII) notes that, "Congress shall have the power to regulate Commerce with foreign nations and among the several states, and with the Indian tribes." The significance of this is profound. In establishing the powers of Congress, it places Indigenous peoples in a political, governmental relationship with the United States. When writing the Constitution, the United States was a fledgling country and needed relationships with tribal nations in order to be seen as legitimate (Alfred 2001; Barker 2005). One only needed to examine some of the early treaties to see how this took shape. Rebecca Tsosie (2005) explores the myths surrounding Native peoples as pliant, obedient peoples who were wards of the state, countering that treaties themselves are indicative of a government-to-government relationship:

The first treaties between the U.S. and the Native Nations tell that story, such as the 1778 Treaty of Ft. Pitt with the Delaware Nation, in which the U.S. officials begged the Delaware leaders to have "safe passage" through "their country" and also begged for military assistance from Delaware warriors against the evil King of England. Who were the "Americans" at that time? Did they think they had the "right" to claim title to Native land? NO. Did they think they had the right to disinter Native remains and cart them off to museums and laboratories? No. Did they think that they had the right to unilaterally command the Delawares to obey their laws? NO, no, and no (44).

Tribal nations, and their citizens, were prominent parts of the national conversation. We believe that they should be again and in ways that reach for Indigenous well-being and thriving.

Early relationships between the United States and tribal nations became less respectful as the United States expanded its territory and authority through the Supreme Court, most notably in a series of cases known as "the Marshall Trilogy." 1 Tribal nations went from treaty partners to "domestic dependent nations" whose "relation to the United States resembles that of a ward to his guardian." (Cherokee Nation, 30 US (5 Pet.) at 17). This legal view of wardship grew into a trust relationship and its concomitant trust responsibility (Wilkins & Lomawaima 2001). The relationship essentially notes that the US government, through these cases and the hundreds of treaties, is responsible for maintaining the health, education, and general welfare of the original inhabitants of the United States. On this count, and many others, the government has failed.

<sup>1</sup> The Trilogy consists of Johnson v. M'Intosh, 21 U.S. (8 Wheat.) 543 (1823), Cherokee Nation v. Georgia, 30 U.S. (5 Pet.) 1 (1831), and Worcester v. Georgia, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515 (1832), all with opinions written by Chief Justice John Marshall—hence Marshall Trilogy. In Johnson, Marshall defined the status of Indigenous lands by establishing that native peoples held only a right of occupancy, or "Indian title," over land that could only be extinguished "by purchase or by conquest" of the United States or a European sovereign—not by private sale. Nearly ten years later, Cherokee Nation established that tribal nations are distinct political entities, but not considered "foreign." Instead, Marshall asserted that tribes are "domestic dependent nations" in a "state of pupilage" that instead resembles the relationship of "a ward to his guardian," 30 U.S. (5 Pet.) at 17. Finally in Worcester, Marshall recognized the sovereignty of tribal nations, finding that states like Georgia could not take jurisdiction or make laws concerning Cherokee Lands; only the federal government has such power.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is important to note here that by some estimates, tribal nations ceded as much as two billion acres of land in signing approximately 371 treaties. These treaties are agreements between equals and ratified by Congress. The agreements did a number of things, including creating reservations and making commitments from the federal government to tribal nations for the overall health, education, and general welfare of tribal nations. These documents have been contested: some were violently enforced, and none of the treaties have been fulfilled by the federal government. Indeed, the current standoff between Lakota and Dakota peoples and the North Dakota Pipeline is rooted in agreements made (and broken) in 1868.

Following the above point, it occurs to us that the federal government should have a policy of understanding what is happening with American Indian peoples. How can the United States fulfill its responsibility to tribal peoples if it regularly marks them with an asterisk (with verbiage that loosely translates to statistical insignificance) and doing nothing to correct the status of the data? It is both irresponsible and unethical under the terms of the relationship. One could logically remove the "statistically" from "statistically insignificant" and read into the term that American Indians/Alaska Natives are simply insignificant. Foreshadowing one of our recommendations at the end of this report, the United States government must begin to oversample in its data collections so that researchers can establish some baseline data to establish mapping trends in the areas of health (both mental and physical), education (in terms of achievement and development), justice-related issues (including incarceration rates, violence), labor, land, and economic markers.

Finally, not fully understanding the experiences of an increasing segment of the population (American Indian/Alaska Native peoples now comprise 5.2 million of the US population)<sup>3</sup> is puzzling. Simply erasing people from having any statistical significance fails to honor the original agreements between American Indians and the federal government and indeed contributes to a legacy of violence against Native peoples.

One of the primary goals of this report is to simply say, researchers, local, state, and federal governments, and society at large have a moral obligation to see American Indian and Alaska Native peoples as present, viable members of societies and nations.

Given this long history that removed (literally and metaphorically) Native peoples from the land as well as larger conversations and accountability around health, education, economics, and other markers of welfare, we want to turn to more specific questions of educational achievement. For Indigenous leaders, achievement in education is critical in beginning to redress the varied and systemic inequities impacting Native communities nationally. Positive education outcomes are important as they have the potential for enhanced social, political, and economic success—not only for the American Indian individuals but also for their tribal nations and communities. For many tribal communities, success is seen as a collective, shared, iterative, and interdependent among the nation and its members. In that sense, success for American Indians is reciprocal. That is, success of the individual is considered success for the community and vice versa. Tragically, the success and capacity for American Indian communities have been severely hampered by the systemic legacy of colonization and forced assimilation that have created an environment wherein American Indians and Alaska Natives are more likely to experience disparate social, economic, and life conditions. For example, American Indians experience higher rates of suicidality, cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, and depressed mortality. These occurrences contribute to the average life expectancy of American Indians and Alaska Natives being roughly 4.4 years less than the US all races population (Indian Health Service 2016). Lower life expectancy among American Indians is not an isolated occurrence but rather is indicative of generally negative trends impacting American Indian communities.

Death statistics are reported higher within Native American communities than all others in respect to death from tuberculosis (600 percent higher), alcoholism (510 percent higher), and diabetes (152 percent higher) (NCAI 2012). Violence is prevalent amongst American Indian communities. For instance, Al/AN women are 2.5 times more likely to be sexually assaulted than any other race (NIEA 2014), and aggravated assault in Al/AN communities is roughly twice the national average (NCAI 2012). Additionally, there is a substantial dependency on alcohol and illicit drug use within NA/AI communities, resulting in Al/AN being more likely than other groups to require treatment for alcohol or illicit drugs (NCAI 2012). Substance abuse is also heavily prevalent among American Indian youth populations. For instance, it is reported that Natives aged 15 to 24 who were admitted to treatment facilities reported higher rates (69 percent) of alcoholism than non-Al/AN admissions (45 percent) (NCAI 2012).

In addition to lower life expectancy stemming from alcoholism, substance abuse, and health inequities, rates of suicide among American Indians are especially devastating American Indian communities. This is particularly stark for American Indian youth, who have the highest rate of suicide among all racial groups in the United States (CDC 2014). Suicide is the second-leading cause of death for Native youth aged 15 to 24 years old (NCAI 2012). The rates of suicide stemming from 15- to 24-year-olds represent 40 percent of all suicide in the Al/AN community (Carmona 2005). This is especially alarming to the overall health and well-being of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> According to the 2010 Census, this is the inclusive number; that is, individuals claimed to have at least part of their ethnic heritage as American Indian/Alaska Native. Almost three million people claimed American Indian/Alaska Native as a sole identity.

American Indian communities, as the age range most afflicted by suicide comprises one of the largest segments of the American Indian population. Specifically, youth under the age of 18 constitute 32 percent of the total AI/AN population (NCAI 2012). These statistics are devastating and are compounded by a lack of access to effective educational opportunities.

Educational disparities persist throughout all age ranges for American Indians and Alaska Native students, beginning as early as kindergarten. Native kindergarten students are twice as likely as their white peers to be held back. There is a gap in national and Al/AN test scores, particularly in mathematics. Only 22 percent of fourth grade Native students score "proficient" or "advanced" levels in math (NIEA, n.d.). The number is even lower in eighth grade, where the percentage of Native students who score "proficient" or "advanced" levels in math is 17 percent. Another disparity exists in the labeling and diagnosis of students based on perceived educational level. Al/AN students are more likely to be mislabeled as special education (SPED) students (NIEA n.d., 26). When considering the level of academic achievement, living and school resource conditions should be considered, rather than individual intelligence or effort. For example, Native students who often live in rural areas may travel distances up to 320 miles to attend classes. In addition, only 40 percent of BIE schools have adequate digital broadband access (NIEA n.d.). At this point, it should be clear that this is less about individual notions of achievement and more about the structural and systemic inequities faced by large groups of people.

Graduation rates among Native students portray the issue of retention and completion. The high school graduation rate of AI/ANs is 67 percent, the lowest of any racial/ethnic demographic group across all schools (Executive Office of the President 2014; NCES 2016). An especially grim possibility faces the 48,000 students, or 7 percent of the overall AI/AN K–12 population, who attend Bureau of Indian Education (BIE) schools (NIEA n.d.; NCES 2012). The Department of Education found that BIE schools have a 53 percent graduation rate, lower than the 80 percent national average (Executive Office of the President 2014). In fact, 22 percent of AI/AN who are 25 years old and up have not completed high school (NCES 2016; NIEA n.d.). In part, this is due to the disparate rates of school punishment American Indians are exposed to inside the classroom. It is estimated that American Indians comprise roughly 1 percent of the student population yet represent 2 percent of school arrests and 3 percent of referrals to law enforcement (US Department of Education 2014). This disparity in education completion is compounded by the fact that native youth are 1.5 times more likely than their white counterparts to be incarcerated and subsequently transitioned into the adult criminal system (NIEA n.d.).

In postsecondary education, AI/ANs are at another disadvantage when compared to non-AI/AN groups. Only 13 percent of American Indians and Alaska Natives earn bachelor's degrees compared to 29 percent in the general population (Executive Office of the President, 2014; NCES 2016). Additionally, AI/ANs receive graduate or professional degrees at half the rate of the general population, at five percent (NCAI 2012). Despite this gap in rates, the amount of AI/AN enrolled in colleges and universities has increased more than twice in the past 30 years (NCAI 2012). Low attainment of postsecondary education is partially due to the ill-equipped nature of colleges. For Indigenous peoples who do graduate onto college, many do not have the proper mentorship to progress throughout their college careers successfully (Executive Office of the President 2014).

Indigenous communities simultaneously face the highest unemployment rates across the nation (as high as 90 percent on some reservations) as well as elevated rates of poverty (Brayboy et al. 2012). In 2012, for example, 29.1 percent of Al/ANs (alone) lived in poverty—the highest rate of any race group—compared to 15.9 percent for the entire nation (American Community Survey, 2012). Although Native women/girls tend to fare better in educational attainment, Native boys and men lag far behind their Native and non-Native counterparts, as evidenced in the following table.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The disparity experienced by AI males within education compared to AI women is also indicative of similar trends noticed for other male students of color. For more information, see NAEP executive summaries for achievement gaps between black-white students. G. Bohrnstedt, S. Kitmitto, B. Ogut, D. Sherman, and D. Chan. 2015. School Composition and the Black-White Achievement Gap (NCES 2015-018). U.S. Department of Education, Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved September 24, 2015 from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch.

TABLE 1 INDICATORS OF HIGHER EDUCATION ACCESS AND PERSISTENCE BY RACE AND GENDER

INDICATOR OF HIGHER EDUCATION	ALL STUDENTS		WHITE STUDENTS		AI/AN STUDENTS	
ACCESS AND PERSISTENCE	MALE	FEMALE	MALE	FEMALE	MALE	FEMALE
Took any May 2010 AP exam, with a score of 3 or greater	61%	54%	67%	60%	48%	41%
2004 high school seniors who applied to college by 2006	79%	87%	81%	88%	67%	84%
Took the 2011 ACT and met or exceeded college readiness scores in four subjects (English, Math, Reading, Science)	28%	22%	35%	28%	14%	10%
Started at a 4-year institution in 2004, completed a bachelor's degree within 6 years	56%	61%	59%	64%	37%	41%
Students who earned a STEM bachelor's degree in 2010	28%	22%	27%	23%	27%	21%

Notes: \*AI/AN = American Indian and Alaska Native. Data source: Ross, Kena, Rathbun, et al., 2012

When it comes to education, Indigenous peoples experience (a) heightened instances of discrimination and racism in school settings, (b) low college enrollment, and (c) suppressed graduation rates at the secondary and postsecondary level when compared to other racial/ethnic populations (Brayboy et al. 2012). When we begin to explore reasons impeding upon Native educational attainment levels, research has found heightened instances of discrimination and racism both in and out of school settings (Office of Civil Rights 2003; National Congress of American Indians 2016). Some of this is tied to structural issues of funding and lack thereof, but there appears to be some connections to historical trauma (e.g., Brave Heart 2004; Walters & Simoni 2002; Walters et al. 2002; Whitbeck et al. 2004).

Particularly among Native men and boys, feelings of isolation, confusion, and despair, connected to loss of cultural identity and the presence of historic trauma negatively influence their experiences (Hale Mua interview). Fortunately, Indigenous scholars, allies, and community leaders are actively working against negative and damaging institutional and structural attitudes and practices (Brayboy 2005; Brave Heart & DeBruyn1998; Walters & Simoni 2002). They seek to turn the tide by creating community and academic programs that are educationally and culturally responsive. Such programs and initiatives assert Native peoples by framing their practice using a strengths-based philosophy. That is, these programs seek to identify what is working well for Indigenous peoples as well as community members and elders who embody important cultural skills and knowledges for various life stages of Indigenous males: youth, warrior, man, father, grandfather, and elder (Hale Mua Interview).

Strengths-based initiatives are those that focus on the promises and possibilities of people, their communities, and their homelands. They seek to build on the (often) cultural strengths of peoples. These include the inclusion of cultural belief systems, ways of knowing, and routine practices in everyday life that guide how people engage the world. For example, the strengths of many Indigenous peoples is the collective and interdependent nature of engaging and being engaged by the world. A strengths-based approach would draw on the collective, with an eye toward creating a community of interdependent learners to address challenges. A strengths-based approach can also see the wisdom in intergenerational exchanges of knowledge that produce toward culturally and linguistically vibrant communities that are also growing and responsive to the needs and opportunities in the present. Further, strengths-based initiatives often focus on developing interventions that enhance and extend the capacity of communities to address persistent structural inequities, thus contributing to long-term sustainable solutions. For Indigenous peoples, this means that strengths-based approaches often contribute to enhancing tribal peoples' capacity to defend and grow self-determination and sovereignty so that their communities can thrive.

Understanding the current state of health and education in Indian country is necessary to address inequities and assess the viability of programs that seek to diminish these inequities. An abundance of the literature highlights a deficit-based model that focuses on disparities faced by Al/AN population. Our research uses these statistics to guide strengths-based frameworks that focus on continuing and improving the assets and knowledges of the Al/AN community. Understanding the issues facing the Al/AN community is fundamental to the alleviation of disparities that interventions actively aim to mitigate. Deficit models that exist in many of the literature are reflecting the reality of many Native communities in this nation—as such, it is vital to address them. However, understanding the implications of colonization and forced assimilation on Indian country is crucial to conceptualizing the disparities present within those communities and the ones surrounding them.

We conceptualize colonization as the systematic insertion of assimilative practices on Indigenous peoples. These practices aim to remove and erase the unique cultural aspects of Native cultures and practices that have guided Indigenous peoples for millennia. These practices include removing tribal peoples from the lands of their ancestors, the creation of boarding schools, the systematic silencing of tribal languages, and the breaking up of communal lands in favor of individual land ownership. Colonization was initially implemented through brute force, but it is most effective when tribal peoples participate in their own colonization by no longer speaking their language, engaging in cultural practices, or perpetuating particular belief systems rooted in deficiencies. Drawing on the work of Fanon (1952/2008)—with one important change—colonialism can be explained thusly: "The [Native] enslaved by his inferiority, the white R12 man enslaved by his superiority alike behave in accordance with a neurotic orientation" (60). Although Fanon was originally addressing the plight of what he called "the Negro," it is clear that his description of colonialism also addresses the plight of Indigenous peoples as well.

Colonialism's roots are in the ideology of imperialism. Of this, Fanon writes, "Imperialism leaves behind germs of rot which we must clinically detect and remove from our land but from our minds as well" (49). And herein lies the rub with imperialism: it is rooted in the taking of both lands and minds. Strengths-based approaches focus on the reclamation and engagement of both lands and minds. Colonialism is most powerful when Indigenous peoples engage in the process inerting "the rot" into our minds. We believe that effective programs will address this rot of the mind directly and from the perspective of the strengths of Native peoples. We believe, and our findings suggest, that effective intervention programs that are rooted in and draw upon community and cultural strengths within American Indian communities are a way to begin mitigating and redressing systemic disparities for Indigenous people.

Programs specific to the needs and experiences of Native boys and men recognize that education and school have figure prominently in the quality of life of Indigenous boys and men. These programs root their solutions to male student success in relation to their communities and culture and provide support for the proposition that disparate educational outcomes for American Indian males can be effectively countered by engaging students with their culture and helping to facilitate their relationships within community. Moreover, they recognize education goes beyond the formal and Westernized notion of schooling to also include learning within Indigenous communities. Such learning often is family, community, and environmentally based, connecting boys and men to their ancestral homelands and allowing for important ceremonies and sacred and spiritual practices to take place.

Communal methods of learning have increasingly been used to redress performance within the classroom—for example, programs have utilized monthly talking circles to engage truant students, provide a space to learn, and provide feedback for one another (First Nations Development Institute 2016). This approach to education specifically invites the presence of older men who serve as role models or elders that imbue important cultural teachings and knowledges. The inclusion of elder males helps to provide mentorship, establish and reinforce stronger ties to community, and teach how American Indian males see the role of one another in relation to themselves, family, and the community at large. These teachings determine how masculinities are defined, redefined, and decolonized as well as the processes that construct the role of men and boys within Indigenous nations, communities, and families. Focusing on the roles of men is crucial to reframing the conversation of bringing boys and men back to the table to reassert the importance of relationships between males and females, and the lands of peoples.

The purpose of this report is to highlight and emphasize community programs that promote the education and well-being of Native men and boys. The resulting findings and recommendations that we share capture the breadth and depth of educational experiences among Indigenous men and boys. It allows us to discern guiding principles that might not otherwise be included in archival data or as educational tactics such as cultural practices (i.e., spirituality) in intervention(s), personal and emotional influences, and other individualized details regarding educational access, persistence, and attainment.

#### OVERVIEW OF NATIVE PEOPLES

Any discussion on American Indians, Alaska Natives, and Native Hawaiians requires a general understanding of what makes this population unique. In the United States, there are over 567 federally recognized tribes and many more state-recognized tribes—each with their unique language, culture, and history. According to the 2010 US Census, 5.2 million people or 1.7 percent of the US population identified as American Indian/Alaskan Native alone or in combination with other races. If considered alone, the American Indian/Alaskan Natives population is over 2.9 million or 0.9 percent of the US population. Moreover, American Indians and Alaska Natives hold a distinction separate from other groups and possess what has been termed "liminal status." Liminal status refers to the fact that American Indians/Alaska Natives are considered both a racial group as well as a political group and can hold dual citizenship (considered a citizen of the United States as well as a citizen of their tribal nation).

Since 1997, federal guidance on maintaining, collecting, and reporting racial and ethnic data on American Indian and Alaska Native (AI/AN) populations allows individuals to self-select and self-report their ethnicity and race. This process also permitted the selection of more than one race or ethnicity. However, in order to hold citizenship as a tribal member, the process may be a bit more complex. American Indians and Alaska Natives who may wish to qualify for particular state and federal services cannot simply self-identify. They must be officially enrolled and recognized members of their tribe or communities.

Tribal nations are sovereign entities with the authorization to determine who is a member of their tribe. Official enrollment is important as it confers access to treaty-guaranteed education, health, and social services. One of the largest factors influencing financial and political resources available to Indigenous peoples is whether they belong to an officially recognized tribe. However, the process of tribal registration differs for each tribe. Some tribes may require different criteria to be considered a tribal member. Official tribal registration acts as a tribal census and provides the 567 tribes the right to oversee the blood quantum criteria. And these designations are fraught with colonialism and challenges.

Tribal recognition can range from the federal level to recognition at the state or local level, and it should be noted that being recognized by one entity does not guarantee recognition by another. In other words, belonging to a state-recognized tribe may not inherently grant recognition at the federal level and vice versa. "A federally recognized tribe is an American Indian or Alaska Native tribal entity that is recognized as having a government-to-government relationship with the United States, with the responsibilities, powers, limitations, and obligations attached to that designation, and is eligible for funding and services from the Bureau of Indian Affairs" (emphasis added, BIA) including services administered through the Office of Indian Education. State recognized tribes go through a formal process that is created by the state. However, state recognition does not confer access to federal benefits.

In some locations, the recognition process is not established, therefore, prospective tribal members cannot be recognized. The biggest difference between federal and state-recognized tribes is this: federally recognized tribes possess certain rights of self-government or tribal sovereignty. Each of the 567 tribes are entitled to certain federal benefits, services, and protections. On the other hand, tribes recognized only by the state do not receive nor are entitled to federal services or benefits.

#### A Note About Terms

The US Census has historically used the terms American Indian or Alaska Native to describe and identify Indigenous peoples of the United States. However, American Indian/Alaska Native are not the only terms used to refer to the Indigenous peoples of the United States. Native American is another term that both Native and non-Native people use in law and society. Depending on who you ask (e.g., government agency, tribal government, local community centers), you may also encounter the following terms: Indian (as outlined in the US Constitution), Indigenous, Native, and Aboriginal. There are also identifiers for the Indigenous people of the United States specific to a particular geographic region or tribe (e.g., Navajo, Hopi, Cherokee, Lumbee, Ojibwe, etc.).

For the purpose of this report, American Indian/Alaska Native and Indigenous will be used interchangeably but will be framed within the legal definition of Native American to better describe the unique working relationship Native Americans have to federal and state governments. Lastly, although not generally included under the term American Indian, the Indigenous peoples of Hawai'i, often referred to as Native Hawaiians (or Kanaka Maoli), do not hold federal recognition but are recognized as Indigenous by the state, and possess special state (and federally) recognized education benefits and rights. For the purpose of this report, we include Native Hawaiians under the term Indigenous.

### Methods

#### METHODOLOGY & RESEARCH DESIGN

This comprehensive review examined the current state of the literature on Indigenous boys and men in middle school through college, between ages 12 to 25, and programs specifically designed to promote their education and achievement. Utilizing an archival data research approach, we reviewed tribal newspapers, academic peer-reviewed literature, including empirical studies, unpublished evaluation reports, and other grey literature. For the purposes of this review, grey literature is defined as non-empirical, non-academic, non-peer-reviewed literature generally targeted to inform a lay audience about programs and initiatives to better the current state of affairs for Native men and boys. In this study, we included findings generated from a Google search, Facebook, and LinkedIn program announcements as well as interview findings with program directors under this category. Grey literature allowed us to bolster the field scan by employing semi-structured interviews with two promising programs that have demonstrated successful approaches to improving outcomes for Indigenous boys and men in Hawai'i and Arizona. We want to be clear that grey literature is valuable, and we reject any hierarchies of what kinds of data or knowledge count. Given the paucity of studies in peer-reviewed research, it is crucial to draw on other data sources. And we have been profoundly influenced by our findings in the grey literature.

This field scan includes materials for a 15-year period (2000–2015), while taking into account the broader historical context from which the data and literature emerge. This time frame was selected because: (1) Relevant research on current education intervention programs often reference past programs and initiatives in their research background and literature review sections; (2) Focusing the scope of research to the past 15 years allowed for a manageable amount of data to be analyzed within the time frame; and (3) Research from the past 15 years highlights recent shifts in national education policy and its resultant effects on American Indians. The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, for example, did not emphasize community- or asset-based solutions to disparate educational outcomes for Native children, and received widespread criticism from Indigenous scholars.

#### DATA COLLECTION

This study was guided by the following research questions:

- 1. What specific interventions for Native boys and men have been developed? In what places have these occurred?
- 2. What are the guiding principles and practices in these interventions that have led to increased personal and academic achievement?

Drawing on academic scholarship (e.g., journals, books, dissertation abstracts) we emphasized the inclusion of formal and informal educational efforts within Indigenous communities and institutions. Formal educational efforts include schools and institutions of learning, while informal educational efforts are those programs localized within Indigenous communities that may not be documented in Westernized scholarship outlets or use alternative methods of teaching and learning. Again, we want to be clear that while many researchers and policy makers appear to be interested in what happens in schools and in the schooling process, we find great value in what happens outside of these institutions. To further elaborate on this point, we want to draw on the incisive work of Inupiat scholar Leona Okakok (1989), who writes:

Educating a child means equipping him or her with the capability to succeed in the world he or she will live in. In our Inupiat communities, this means learning not only academics, but also to travel, camp, and harvest wildlife resources in the surrounding land and sea environments. Students must learn about responsibilities to the extended family and elders, as well as about our community and regional governments, institutions, and corporations, and significant issues in the economic and social system (274). Effective programs happen both inside and outside of schools, but one important characteristic is that they recognize the role of

relationships between people and place, and people and each other. To conclude this point, while we use formal and informal sites here to denote what happens in the schooling process and within other formal institutions, we reject any sense of one being more important than the other. Again, drawing on Okakok (1989), it is important to make this distinction. For Inupiat peoples (in the far north of the state of Alaska), understanding how "to succeed in the world in which he or she will live in" demonstrates the folly of saying that "formal" education is more important than "informal" education. Of this, she writes, "Though most of the education in our traditional society was not formal, it was serious business. For us, education meant equipping the child with the wherewithal to survive in our world" (256). We agree that the work of helping Indigenous boys and men learn their roles and having the wherewithal to survive in the world is not only serious business, but the heart of the matter as well.

#### Database search procedure.

We searched ProQuest for identifying data across scholarly and newspaper archives because ProQuest provides depth of subject matter and breadth of access in a consistent search format. ProQuest also includes the Ethnic Newswatch database, which allows us to include academic articles, dissertations, and periodicals in our search. Table 2 shows the search terms used for the database search. In order to identify as much information as possible on our target population, we listed multiple ways Indigenous populations are identified in research under our target heading. Next, we added terms used to identify subtopics relevant to research involving Indigenous populations such as place-based education, which highlights the importance of land, space, and sacred spaces to many Indigenous peoples. We also included specific types of initiatives we know are increasingly promoted among Indigenous communities, including heritage language initiatives and programs focused on fatherhood. Lastly, we included gender pronouns to help highlight studies focused solely on men and boys.

#### TABLE 2 SEARCH TERMS

TARGET: American Indian, Indigenous, Alaska Native, Native American, Native Hawaiian

**AND:** education, instructional strategies, culturally relevant teaching/pedagogy/education, place-based education, culturally congruent teaching/pedagogy/education, culturally responsive teaching/pedagogy/education, curricul\* framework, place-based learning, culturally appropriate, culturally respectful, extracurricular, cultural\* sustaining education, cultural\* revitalizing education, support programs, camp

AND: community education, heritage language education, masculinity, father,\* fatherhood

AND: men, boys, male

In addition to using search terms, our team was tasked with ensuring that certain conditions were met in order to ensure studies were timely and relevant. Table 3 demonstrates the screening criteria used. Anything that did not meet all the criteria in this table was deemed irrelevant and excluded from the study.

#### TABLE 3 SCREENING CRITERIA

TIME FRAME	2000–2015		
TARGET POPULATION	Race: Al/AN and Native Hawaiian men and boys Grade level: 7–12 and postsecondary Age: 12–25		
LANGUAGE / LOCATION	UAGE / LOCATION Articles must be published in the English language and focused on education in the United States		

#### Gray Literature: Social Media and Google Searches

For programs that may be too new to have detailed academic reports or are not partnered with academic institutions, we utilized Google and social media (Facebook and LinkedIn) to identify anything that did not show up in the database search. We followed a similar approach, including the same search terms, and then altered the criteria to better utilize the enhanced search functions available through these platforms. We used search phrases that included "Native American boys program"; "Native American fathers and support programs"; "Family program and American Indian fathers"; "American Indian male program"; 'Education programs for American Indian men"; "Programs for Native boys ages 12 to 25"; and "Camp for Native boys." This last search term was used to identify special summer programming that may not have been identified under other search combinations.

#### Interviews

The Google and social media searches also helped us identify potential programs to interview. The purpose of the interviews was to delineate specific practices and initiatives that lead to enhanced academic persistence, graduation, and personal success of program participants. We identified two programs—one in the Southwest and one in the Pacific—that demonstrated successful approaches for improving outcomes for Indigenous boys and men. These programs were selected because they are currently in operation and because they reflect program diversity (one was community-based and explored fatherhood and utilized culturally relevant approaches to explore the roles of men in their Indigenous community; the other was specifically an academic program intended to enhance education enrollment and achievement at the postsecondary level). Furthermore, of the programs approached for an interview, these programs were the two who responded to our request and agreed to be interviewed. Interviews were conducted telephonically (with Hawai'i) and in-person (in Arizona). Prior to conducting the interviews, we received approval from ASU's Institutional Review Board (IRB) in order to ensure we were following all protocols outlined for ethical research with human subjects (this is an institutional requirement of ASU for all research studies involving human participants).

Interview questions were organized into two categories: (1) background questions to identify how and why programs were created and (2) questions designed to identify promising principles and practices (see appendix A for question set).

#### Coding Strategy and Analysis

After finalizing our search terms, we created a database with 609 potentially relevant sources. Data included a mix of academic articles, book chapters, dissertations, and newspapers. In order to standardize note taking among the research team, we created a coding sheet (appendices B and C). We selected five data sources, at random, to serve as a baseline for calibrating intercoder reliability and hone our article coding sheet. From there, all 609 articles were coded based on the article's publication information. Additionally, coding sheets were saved as form-filled PDF files to facilitate analysis and storage. Coding sheets and all research data were saved in a Google Drive folder accessible only to members of our research team.

Each reviewer determined and justified why the article was or was not relevant to our analysis. Relevant articles were further coded based on the primary RISE focus area, secondary RISE focus area, sample size, data set, and methodology, age of participants, how the research uses race/ethnicity/culture and gender as variables, Intervention/program type, limitations, recommendations, policies and principles, and finally a Likert scale rating the reading's accessibility and importance. We conceptualized accessibility as 5 meaning a high school student could read and fully understand the article and 1 representing a need for specialized knowledge to understand basic points. Importance was conceptualized as it pertained to the field, with 5 representing unique or groundbreaking research and 1 representing a simple repetition of an established study.

Our coding sheet and our research strategy closely examined age ranges to potentially disaggregate data based on these transition points: from elementary to middle school, from middle school to high school, from high school to the workplace and/or college, transition to fatherhood. We wanted to harness information on these transitional times in the lives of Indigenous men and boys to look for key interventions as Indigenous men and boys were acclimating to some new facet of their experiences. Furthermore, we wanted to emphasize how masculinities are conceptualized in this research, emphasizing the use of gender as a variable in academic research to see how Indigenous masculinities are being framed and how Indigenous men frame their own masculinities.

First, all articles and book chapters were ordered alphabetically and divided between six researchers in rotating bundles of 10 to 15. Once these were complete, all dissertations were divided in the same way, but clustered by approximately 600-page increments to better distribute the load between the members of the research team. After all 609 items in our database were coded with the coding sheets, the sheets were compiled into a spreadsheet, and then exported into a word document and printed as a book. Each sheet that was marked as relevant was then recoded and compiled based on emergent themes from the literature. Because the number of relevant studies was less than expected, each researcher also recoded borderline articles, ones that could arguably have been included, but for a flaw or feature like failing to disaggregate data based on gender, or focusing on an intervention that was within the larger scheme of RISE, although less related to education. The final layer of analysis translated this into a narrative description of what themes emerged from reading the research, what strategies were effective, and finally, a list of suggested recommendations based on research.

Interviews were coded using the same conceptual terms, without a coding sheet, but focusing instead on emergent themes, recommendations, and program details.

#### SEARCH RESULTS

TABLE 4 BASIC SEARCH RESULTS FOR ARTICLES BETWEEN 2005 AND 2015, BY SEARCH TERMS\*

SEARCH TERMS	PROQUEST		GOOGLE SCHOLAR	JSTOR	
	ERIC	ETHNIC NEWS WATCH			
(education) AND (("Native American") OR ("American Indian")) AND (males)	223	5,101	17,600	1,447	
(education) AND (("Native American") OR ("American Indian")) AND (men)	115	15,347	964,000	4,694	
(education) AND (("Native American") OR ("American Indian")) AND (boys)	85	5,101	110,000	1,509	
MEAN SEARCH RESULTS	141	8883	363,867	8787	

Notes: \*Searches conducted on April 13, 2016

TABLE 5 ADVANCED SEARCH RESULTS FOR ARTICLES BETWEEN 2005 AND 2015, BY SEARCH TERMS\*

SEARCH TERMS	PROQUEST		GOOGLE SCHOLAR	JSTOR
	ERIC	ETHNIC NEWS WATCH		
(education* NEAR program*) AND (("Native American") OR ("American Indian")) AND ((male*) OR (man*) OR (boy*))	66	1,437	18,600	518

Notes: \*Searches conducted on April 13, 2016

#### GOOGLE AND SOCIAL MEDIA DATA COLLECTED

Most programs for Native boys and men did not differentiate between genders. However, we found nine programs that served only Native American boys and men. The titles and location of these programs are:

- The Fatherhood is Sacred Program (Arizona)
- Good Road of Life Fatherhood Program (New Mexico)
- American Indian Summer Bridge Program (Arizona)
- Pueblo Pathways Project (New Mexico)
- Ysleta del Sur Project (New Mexico)
- STAR School (Arizona)
- Hale Mua Initiative (Hawai'i)
- Navajo Twin Heroes Conference (Location varies, New Mexico, Arizona, Utah)
- Hiyupo Boys Group (New Mexico)

Six of the nine programs were for youth ranging from 8 to 17 years old. Each program had an emphasis on general Native American culture, both in values and in practices. Three of the nine programs were related to education by focusing on postsecondary readiness or increasing rates of high school completion (American Indian Summer Bridge Program, Ysleta del Sur, and STAR). Developing relationships and identity was another common theme. Eight out of the nine programs focused on the individual's place and responsibilities in the home, tribal community, or greater society (all programs except American Indian Summer Bridge Program). The hosting organizations were often extensions of, or highly incorporated, the local tribal community. Lastly, four of the nine programs emphasized or highlighted the role of community mentors or role models as an aspect of the program (Hale Mua, Ysleta del Sur, Pueblo Pathways, and Hiyupo). The nine programs were contacted to request interviews and/or more information, however, due to a limited time frame, only the 'Aha K ne Foundation (Hale Mua) and Maricopa Community Colleges (American Indian Summer Bridge Program) were interviewed.

# Findings

In this section, we report results in three areas. First, we discuss our reasons for why a majority of data collected were considered non-RISE relevant as that sheds light to the marginalization—and invisibility—of Indigenous men and boys in scholarly literature. Second, out of 609 sources, 48 were identified as RISE relevant, which means these sources centered specifically on program initiatives for Indigenous men and boys. Therefore, we discuss promising principles that highlight the power of community-based, asset-oriented strategies for Indigenous boys and men. Lastly, we highlight promising principles that were delineated from our scan but were not directly specific to RISE per se. These studies are important because they address principles that we consider closely connected to understanding the experiences of Indigenous men and boys in higher education.

#### NON-RISE RELEVANT

The majority of the dataset was deemed "non-RISE relevant" because it fell under one of the following categories: (1) the study had low sample size; (2) the study did not disaggregate findings by ethnicity or gender; (3) Native boys and men were not the focus of the study; (4) the study focused on curriculum-based learning and pedagogy with Native and non-Native participants (i.e., study was neither gender specific nor intervention specific); (5) study was focused on health (but not health education); (6) wrong age group; (7) the study did not focus on education; and (8) the study focused on education but was not program or initiative specific. Some articles fell under more than one of the categories, such as the case with category 4. In other cases, the studies crossed subcategories and could fit under more than one option. For example, one study met the criteria for category 2 and category 8 simultaneously. In this case, we placed the study under the primary or principal category where it fit best with the remaining literature in the subcategory.

We also acknowledged an apparent similarity between category 5 and category 8, however, due to the abundance of scholarship in the health area (a large portion of our findings fell under this subcategory), we decided to list these categories separately. Category 5 includes discussions on health, including studies on health status, health behaviors, and mental well-being, while category 8 includes discussions of studies in all other fields including history, anthropology, sociology, policy studies, social psychology, and health and communication. Although we found these research studies to be irrelevant for the purposes of this project, we are not suggesting that the research and their concomitant findings are unimportant. Some are. Our point here is that they were not relevant within the parameters we established for this report.

Within the first category were studies that included a low sample size. This made it difficult to generalize findings or draw any conclusive remarks. For example, one study focused on underrepresented doctoral students, but only included one Native American in a study of fifteen participants (Greer-Williams 2004). Moreover, it was unknown whether that Native American participant was male or female, as the researcher protected the anonymity of that individual. Additional research that did not provide findings based on gender include Broker's (2010) dissertation on how the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 influenced culturally based education at one Bureau of Indian Education school in Minnesota serving Ojbwe students, and Brayboy-Locklear's (2003) dissertation that explored Native American high school student resiliency and motivational factors at selected North Carolina school.

A second reason for exclusion was lack of disaggregation by race and ethnicity of data and analysis. Lack of disaggregation made it difficult to discern whose perspectives were presented. Studies in this category focused on the importance of culturally relevant curriculum, pedagogy, heritage language, and cultural stories in education (Barnard 2004; Bock 2006; de la Rosa 2005; Jen 2015; Peacock 2002; Peralez 2014; Secatero 2009; White 2001). However, although some of these studies did offer recommendations for future programs, it is important to note American Indian perspectives were largely marginalized in those studies. Only two studies within this subcategory focused on American Indian experiences specifically, for example, Bircher (2004) examined the cultural influences of American Indian enrollment in community college, and Blair (2015) examined the role of American Indian Studies programs in promoting Native graduation, but since findings were not disaggregated by gender, this made it difficult to glean specific recommendations for boys.

Third included research wherein Native boys and men were either not included or not the focus. Some studies used males as a comparison group in their justification for programs serving girls and women (Angel 2006; Berry 2008 Dixon 2002) and were likely included in the dataset because our ProQuest search included full texts and abstracts, so the mention of boys, men, or males in articles discussing issues for American Indians, Alaska Natives, and Native Hawaiians would be included, even if the article is not relevant. Despite this, some of the research focused primarily on female youth provided useful insights and implications for male youth education as facilitated through culturally relevant intervention education programs. An example of this is a curriculum's use of salmon cycles for American Indian youth interested in STEM fields. This dissertation focuses on the experiences of American Indian women in STEM education and provides insight on how to incorporate curriculum that could be benefit the retention and inclusion of male students (Ault 2008).

Among this category also was research that did not include either Native girls or boys. These studies typically focused on non-Native people who interface with Native peoples. For example, studies explored perceptions of non-American Indian/Alaska Native/Native Hawaiian teachers on teaching Native students and profiles of non-Native artists and book authors whose work was inspired by Native peoples and history (Ball 2011; Chin 2010; Thigpen 2011; Korpi 2015; Roberts 2015), experiences of non-English speakers contrasted with "native" English speakers (Im 2007; Ngoc 2014), experiences of Hmong high school students (Thao 2009), the use of graphing calculators in algebra courses (Thomas 2001), and a non-Native teaching a Native studies course to non-Native students (Brantmeier 2012). Moreover, references to American Indian data did not include meaningful analysis of the population cited (Mason 2001). For example, a deeper and meaningful analysis could have included data disaggregated by gender, age, rural/ urban environments, and tribal citizenship.

Fourth were studies focused on curriculum-based learning and pedagogy with Native and non-Native participants. An example of a study included Native American storytelling applying culturally responsive teaching curriculum in a high school classroom for college preparedness (Bowman 2015). Another example involved a case study about a tribally controlled college and use of tribally centered curriculum in a Native studies course to Native women that did not result in strengthened identities (Hogan 2002).

The fifth category of exclusion was one of the most dense areas of the dataset. This subset contained a heavy focus on health-related studies, which were largely deficit oriented, with a few that focused on sexuality among Native gay men. Studies ranged in topics from pregnancy prevention, binge drinking and alcohol usage, HIV/AIDS, cardiovascular risk factors, cancer, marijuana usage, mental health, hearing loss, and suicide. One focused exclusively on alcohol abuse among American Indians (Cometsevah 2013) without any substantive focus on encouraging success for Indigenous students generally, let alone men and boys. Although much of this literature was important to contextualize the general health state of Native Americans, these studies were negatively focused, depressing, and lacked programmatic recommendations. The disproportional focus of articles of this nature in literature suggests Indigenous peoples have more problems with obesity, diabetes, and drug and alcohol abuse than their non-Native counterparts, which is not true. Moreover, although negative health outcomes have been identified, the causes of the outcomes that examine the role of colonialism and historic racial disparities in healthcare are rarely examined; and rarely are beneficial, culturally rooted approaches to health, including a focus on spiritual practices, reported or connected to discussions of healing and improved well-being.

Of the articles that fell within the health subcategory, two articles focused on the prevalence of cardiovascular disease among American Indians and Alaska Natives (Jernigan et al. 2010; Nelson-Majewski 2015), one focused on HIV/AIDS (Vernon & Jumper-Thurman 2002); one focused on chronic disease factors among American Indian elders (Denny et al. 2005; McFall, Solomon, & Smith 2000); six focused on the heightened rate of diabetes within Indigenous communities (Bell et al. 2007; Bell et al. 2005; Best et al. 2015; Brewer-Lowry et al. 2010; Costa 2011; Streetman 2011); twelve examined substance use (Ehlers et al. 2009; Ehlers et al. 2007; Esqueda, Hack, & Tehee 2010; Dickerson et al. 2009; Dickerson & Johnson 2012; Swaim, Stanley, & Beauvais 2013; Tann et al. 2007; Taylor 2000; Tragesser et al. 2010; Weaver 2001; Westermeyer et al. 2009); one focused on cervical cancer among American Indian women (Peltier 2015); eleven examined dietary practices, overweight, obesity, and physical activity (Fila & Smith 2006; Gadhoke 2012; Howarth et al. 2006; Lee 2011; Omahen 2014; Ricci et al.2012; Sabin et al. 2015; Dennison et al. 2015; Sinley 2015; Thompson et al. 2001; Wilkie 2003); another study examined domestic abuse and health of lesbian and bisexual Native American women (Lehavot, Walters & Simoni, 2010); another examined alcohol use among youth and adults (Jones-Webb et al. 2004); three examined family and domestic violence prevalence among American Indians (Jones 2008; Linton 2015; Matamonasa-Bennett 2013,

2015); one examined condom use among American Indian men (Rink, Anastario & FourStar 2015) one examined self-identification as American Indian and mental health services (Hack et. al. 2014), ten examined mental health, trauma, and resilience more generally (Balsam et al. 2004; Beals et al. 2005; Brinker et al. 2007; Brooks et al. 2012; Cutler 2006; Deters 2006; Earle, Bradigan, & Morgenbesser 2001; Robin et al. 2003; Hockenberry 2011; Jervis 2009; Robbins, Robbins, & Stennerson 2013; Robin et al. 2007; Theis 2014); one study about ADHD in American Indian and Alaska Native boys and girls (Lefler et al. 2015); one examined nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) of Native adolescents (Cwik et al. 2011); three examined suicide risk factors (Dorgan 2010; Manzo et al. 2015; Walls, Chapple, & Johnson 2007); one examined men's prostate in relation to their body mass index (Muus et al. 2009) and posttraumatic stress disorder (Dillard et al. 2007); and three examined the general health status of American Indian and Alaska Native males (Rhoades 2003; Barney 2004; Joe 2001); and two examined non-Native and Native mental health professionals mental health treatment strategies for American Indians (Harper 2013 Ka'ahanui 2003). With the exception of Rhoades (2003), Barney (2004), and Joe (2001), the majority of articles under this subcategory did not focus on education nor disaggregate data (by gender and/or race).

Some studies focused exclusively on health issues, with some education recommendation, but no program or intervention was structured around education for Indigenous men and boys (Anastario, FourStar, & Rink 2013; Eshkibok 2014). However, of the total articles that fell under this subcategory, three (Robin et al. 2003; Robbins, Robbins & Stennerson 2013; Rhoades 2003) presented information on factors or areas of focus that can inform successful asset-oriented programs, initiatives, or policies and improve health outcomes. Robbins, Robbins, and Stennerson (2013) caution, "before discussing some of the difficulties that many Native American families are currently facing, it is important to consider that these issues are not to be viewed as failures of Native Americans, but rather as the results of colonialization and the lack of tribal self-determination" (201). These studies highlight boarding schools, the process of removal and relocation, and the practice of cross-cultural adoption as particular governmental strategies that contribute(d) to devastation and poor outcomes for Native peoples. Similarly, Rhoades (2003) argues, "among the explanations for increased risk-taking behavior, especially among younger Al/AN males, are loss of cultural identity, loss of traditional roles for males, failure of primary socialization, and unresolved grief from historical trauma" (777). Fortunately, Rhoades (2003) offers recommendations as "programs designed to deal with ways to ameliorate risk-taking behaviors among Al/AN males are urgently needed" (777). He suggests interventions be designed with attention to social and cultural attributes and offers the example of another study wherein

Smith and Robertson reported a successful intervention that specifically targeted and took into account male reluctance to wear life preservers while boating and fishing. At the time the intervention was undertaken, drowning was the leading cause of injury deaths in Alaska, and life jackets were seldom used, so the Injury Prevention Program of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation initiated a 'float coat' program. These coats not only provide warmth but also have built-in buoyancy, although they are unremarkable in appearance. It was reasoned that such coats would be acceptable in situations when the usual life preservers were not and would be worn in the course of work anyway. To promote the use of the float coats, a coalition of local leaders, health professionals, and merchants offered and promoted the coats at discounted prices in various sizes, colors, and styles. Local media cooperated with promotions. Following institution of the program, the number of deaths by drowning decreased by approximately 30 percent. (777).

According to Rhoades (2003), restoring the roles traditionally held by AI/AN males is a key strategy that will help address the negative outcomes associated with cultural and personal devastation caused by colonial acts of cultural violence and genocide. Indeed, in one of our interviews with the staff from the Hale Mua program, it became evident that (re)connecting men to discussions of traditional, cultural roles can help heal the negative effects of historic trauma and colonization (Hale Mua Interview). In fact, Robbins, Robbins, & Stennerson (2013) believe "traditional values and learning may offer buffers to domestic violence and lead to stronger marriages for Native American people. These include the importance of spirituality, receiving advice and counsel from family members, including the sharing of traditional stories (which taught values and provided guidance), having family members teach traditional roles and responsibilities within marriage, observing other couples (learning what problems to avoid and successes to follow), trying to be good examples for their own children, learning from spiritual leaders and counselors, and learning from each other" (205).

The work of Greene et al. (2003) suggests addressing the outcomes of historic trauma is important because Native men are less likely to describe their distress in terms of being pessimistic or needing assurance. Instead they may experience changes in appetite, sleep difficulties, loss of interest in things, and lack of energy associated with depression. Similar to Rhoades (2003) and Stennerson et al. (2013), Theis (2014) believes traditional beliefs and practices promote a more rapid recovery from trauma, which can promote positive outcomes by preventing disorders. According to Theis (2014), statistically significant correlations exist between level of enculturation and posttraumatic growth (PTG). Traditional values and practices were found to promote higher PTG, resilience, and life satisfaction.

According to this research, cultural wisdom in addressing well-being is key to healing. However, in order to support social change, programs and initiatives should encourage researchers, clinicians, and policy-makers to explore Indigenous values and ways as mechanisms in cultural and personal growth and resilience.

The sixth category included a few studies focused on the validity of quantitative instrument testing among Native participants.

The seventh category was research focused on the wrong age group. Because this study focused on Native men and boys ages 12 to 25, any study or program targeted to youth below the age of 12 was not included. Three studies (Hixon 2002; Vande Sande 2001; Yaocihuatzin 2011) fell under this category. The purpose of Hixon's (2002) study was to utilize a measure to study the locomotor and object control of four-year-old participants on the Cherokee nation; this study neither focused on the range of our targeted age group nor presented data that could inform an education initiative, program, or intervention for Native youth. Vande Sande (2001) examined transitions of American Indian students to an elementary school environment, while Yaocihuatzin (2011) analyzed depictions of Indigenous peoples in children's books.

Eighth was research that did not focus on education. This included studies that examined race and racism, colonialism and the rise of "problem" behaviors, identity and culture, or "other." Generally, studies that fell into this category were deficit oriented—especially those that addressed "problem" behaviors as noted below. Two articles (Huyser, Sakamoto, & Takei 2010; Jones & Galliher 2015) examined the degree to which race correlates with schooling and socioeconomic attainment. These studies examined how youth experience racial micro- and macro-aggressions though data was not disaggregated nor was racism examined in any particular context (education or otherwise). A third study examined the impact of staff's own biases and racism in offering services for a Hawaiian Native adolescent treatment program (Duke 2003).

Another subset of research within this category examined risky behaviors among American Indian youth. Barrera et al. (2001), Lester (2002), and Cain (2007) examined "problem" behavior, which was associated with drug and alcohol use. Barrera focused on behaviors of adolescent American Indian, Hispanic, and Caucasian youth. In the results and discussion sections, the authors described significant subgroup differences in structural paths for the link between inadequate parental involvement with deviant peers. For the paths related to American Indian boys and girls, the differences were "quite strong" (149). Lester's (2002) study used a National School-Based Youth Risk Survey that included 191 public, private, and Catholic schools and had 10,251 student submissions to explore risky behaviors of "gambling, excessive drinking, poor health care, and thrill-seeking" (24). The survey results "indicated that American Indian and Alaska Native youths engaged more often in risky behaviors than white or black youth" (Lester 2002, 24). Specific examples of risky behaviors were "carrying weapons, attempted suicide, marihuana use, and cocaine use" (28). However, the article did not provide the students' background information of their community environment or whether or not they were living within an Indigenous communities; nor did it offer asset-based recommendations for improving outcomes (Lester 2002). In many instances, articles assessing risk factors did not detail or provide solutions or ways to engage the risk factors associated with American Indian youth.

Similarly, Cain (2007) examined psychological and cultural factors related to alcohol use, while Jervis et al. (2003) examined the manifestation of boredom as a result of postcolonial reservation life and how it can lead to "trouble" for Native peoples, trouble being associated with drug abuse, violence, and illegal activities. Further articles analyzing risk factors of American Indian youth were also marked as irrelevant because no intervention program specifically tailored to prevent the risks detailed were analyzed. For example, in the article, "Social Contexts of Drug Offers Among American Indian Youth and Their Relationship to Substance Use," the analysis focused on the personal choices of American Indian youth an examined the manners through which American

Indians rejected drug or substance use was researched. The article did not detail any specific program developed to deter or rehabilitate substance abuse among American Indian youth. It only focused on the ways in which individuals avoided substance use (Kulis et al. 2006). Lastly, Ficek (2005) examined intimate partner violence among New Mexican women.

Of the research in this category, Goette (2009), Lucero (2009), Robbins and Hong (2013), and Chee (2002) examined the role of cultural identity and cultural connectedness, however, these studies did not provide implications for education or for asset-based programs or initiatives. For example, Goette (2009) offered recommendations for museums "as historically situated institutions" that possess the cultural authority to reproduce and interpret stories of diverse peoples, and Lucero (2009) examined whether and how cultural identity is transferred among multiple generations in urban settings. Lucero's recommendations for education, however, focused solely on developing awareness among non-Indigenous social work providers about the cultural experiences of urban American Indians, similar to cultural awareness training, and presented no direct applicable suggestions for improving outcomes for American Indian men or boys. Hostetler's (2000) dissertation focused on a literary analysis of American Indian—authored texts on the subject of American Indian identity and renaissance. While Robbins and Hong (2013) examined spirituality and connectedness to the self from an Eastern and Western perspective, they did not present implications for Native men or boys. Finally, Chee (2002) used measurement scales in a study to show the relationship between identity and self-esteem of Native college students offered no specific design suggestions for program interventions.

Three articles fell under the "other" subcategory. Guilmarten (2002) examined historic fashion among the Montana frontier, Rombough and Keithly (2005) examined how the feudal system and Protestant work ethic influenced reservation life, and Riggs (2008) examined a religious placement program that removed Native children from their homes and placed them in non-Native homes in an attempt to assimilate them.

Ninth, and last, was research that was education focused but not program specific. For example, some focused on theoretical possibilities—reassessing educational pedagogy through Alaska Native knowledges (Amarok 2014), code-switching in professional and educational settings (Fairbanks 2005), envisioning boarding school letters as captivity narratives (Gregor 2010), or notions of objectivity in science in relationship to Indigenous spirituality and land (Geffen 2005), experiences of Native women faculty in higher education (Fox 2003; Holiday 2006; Ka'opua 2013); and school superintendents attitudes and strategies to address achievement gaps amongst minority students (Hammond 2003). Some studies addressed challenges and barriers to the success of Native students on college campuses, but failed to substantively address issues or interventions unique to boys and men—failing to disaggregate data by race and/or gender even when Indigenous male participants are in the study (Azure 2004; Berrington 2003; Bueno Watts 2011; Bundy 2006; Gordon 2003; Gurley et. al. 2001; Mendez, Mendoza, & Malcolm 2011), lacking description or recommendations for programs or interventions (Azure 2013; Bill 2012; ), highlighting experiential learning design of a Native youth activities sports program (Martin, 2015), or quantifying issues like student engagement or culture without adequately conceptualizing or operationalizing Indigenous education in a way that is relevant to this study (Ahmed 2014; Bryan 2003; Hellerstedt et. al. 2006). A study that addressed distance learning with a comparison of Native and non-Native college students in a science course but lacked depth about online teaching pedagogy and student learning was important, but did not correspond with the purposes of our study (Foster 2012).

Among this category were also general reports on current education attainment for Native students (Maynor 2011; Wu 2015), explorations on the "achievement gap" (Collins 2012), and dropout (including factors that influence dropout but no preventative measures or programs). Similar to health researchers, Conley (2008) found adult Native students face a series of barriers to education including, "the impact of identity crisis and identity diffusion; lack of involvement in cultural activities; racism; lack of funds; and language...[however] differences did exist between the sexes regarding the educational barriers. No participant reported that belonging to a specific Native American Indian Nation was an educational barrier" (48). Cultural discongruity appeared to be a challenge as participants reported being forced to learn a Eurowestern language, and not being able to participate in Native American cultural activities was reported as a major educational barrier. On the other hand, deficit-oriented research focused on the impact of biculturalism on learned helplessness among Native Americans (Storey 2007) as well as examining the relationship of educational level, reservation status, and blood quantum with anger and post-colonial stress.

Research on dropout focused on identifying "at-risk" students (Cornell 2002) as well as the relationship between school disciplinary action and dropout (Guardino 2013; Stokes 2011). These studies generally focused on the reasons for dropout and did not propose or explore achievement strategies, initiatives, or support mechanisms (i.e., education interventions), nor did they present an exhaustive focus on gender differences in dropout (Galindo 2003). Although (Guardino 2013) did disaggregate findings by gender, examining expulsion rates for junior high students, with rates being elevated for Native boys, no intervention or further education discussions were presented specific to Native boys.

Research focused specifically on high school–aged students' examined perceptions of high school graduation, college enrollment, and relevant areas for postsecondary degree study (Krogman 2013; Downs 2006; Lesky 2008; Starks 2010; Baker 2003, respectively). Some studies include mention of peer associations like fraternities (Collins 2015), however, these are only mentioned by students in passing, without larger substantive interrogation on how they function as interventions or programs. Creative student programs exist, like a study of youth media organizations and the stories that students tell, but even this lacks a description of the experiences of the Indigenous students in the study, focusing instead on broader notions of youth culture rather than identifying the intersections and unique experiences created by race and gender (Gibbons 2011).

Only one study focused on the experiences of students with learning disabilities, specifically in terms of how they influence post-secondary decision-making practices (Yamamoto 2010). Two studies (Farris 2013; Gillis 2001) examined high school graduation experiences for Native American boys, and while Farris (2013) and Cumbow (2014) specifically did not disaggregate recommendations by gender, their research suggests success for Native students is due to supportive and positive family influences; schools and educators who provided support that aided and encouraged students; specific instructional strategies used by schools and educators, which were beneficial for the students (though these were not elaborated upon); and intrinsic and extrinsic motivators that improved the student's ability to persist in high school.

Research on postsecondary education success was not often targeted specifically toward Native males. Only one study focused specifically on Native men at Harvard and another examined teaching strategies of music educators and disaggregated findings by gender (Bitsoi 2007; Young 2006). Four studies (Korkow 2008; McCaffery 2012; Springer 2015; Young 2006) identified positive influences of academic success. McCaffery (2012) and Young (2006) found faculty mentorship, strong cultural identity, desire to "give back" to Native peoples, and, for students with tribally based research, relationships with elders as sources of knowledge rather than solely academia as sources of strength was important for success. Additionally, Springer (2015) noted the positive relationship between persistence and cultural student organizations (citing the work of Gloria & Kurpius 1996; Kuh & Love 2000; Guiffrida 2003; Meseus 2008). Korkow (2008) and Young (2006) added support systems built of family, friends, peers, and mentors, and faculty members who provided support during moments of adversity. Faculty were identified as key to socialization, culture, and spirituality, and intrinsic factors such as the desire to overcome barriers were also noted as important to success. Within this subcategory, only two studies (Francis 2005; Gonzales 2007) did not focus on strategies for success, but rather on the role of remedial education and perspectives of Native students at a community college and how that defines their sense of "Indianness." Although Gonzales (2007) sought to explore remedial education as a tool for retention, it was found that despite Native men enrolling in remedial education at higher rates than Native women, remedial education is not a strong predictor for academic success or continued persistence.

Next, research focused on course delivery resources. For example, Caldwell (2015) examined the role of interactive videoconferencing course delivery for Navajo students in rural communities. Although the author evaluated course delivery satisfaction by disaggregating results, no significant differences were found by gender. Shadowwalker (2012) examined depictions of American Indians in secondary history textbooks but did not focus on education experiences of Native boys or men. Lastly, Van Gelder (2002) examined the importance of place in Road Scholars education programs but did not examine the experiences of Native peoples.

Although they failed to address the substantive issues of RISE head-on, they offered important considerations regarding Indigenous fatherhood (Upham 2010), access to healthcare (Winters et al. 2004); participation in sports (Ali-Christie 2013); histories of Native schooling and institutions (Anderson 2009; Askins 2009; Grey 2014; ); teacher training (Bussinger-Stone 2009; De La Mare 2010; Exton 2008; Hechenberger 2009); and general student experiences at predominantly white schools and universities (Collins 2015). Still other articles had little bearing on RISE-related issues, or focused on geographies well beyond the United States (Asunce, González-Oliver, & Mulligan 2008).

#### SECOND SECTION: RISE RELEVANT LITERATURE

Academic literature on programs and interventions specifically serving American Indian, Alaska Native, and Native Hawaiian boys and men emphasize the importance of cultural knowledges and how Indigenous peoples strategically apply those knowledges for survival and success. Even though some programs are not designed with the approach of strengthening Indigenous knowledges and communities, Indigenous boys and men have found ways of incorporating different cultural traditions. Ronald L. Pitcock's (2000) historical analysis of the Choctaw Academy describes the school's roots in treaty promises to the Choctaw Nation to educate "eighteen or twenty boys of the best promise," to enhance English language literacy among Choctaw boys (391). The academy was founded in 1843 with the intent to assimilate students into white polity, furthering the goals of removal that drove the Treaty of Dancing Rabbit Creek and the removal of the Choctaw nation from Mississippi to Oklahoma. However, the students did not assimilate through literacy, and instead kept Choctaw world views, using their English literacy to critique, subtly or overtly, the school system, and federal Indian policy—which in turn caused the school to be closed after only five years (Pitcock 2000, 419). This program succeeded in its nominal goal of literacy, but the importance is in how the students used the formal, Anglo knowledge provided by the program in ways that were particular to their own cultural norms and experiences.

Compare this study with Mary Callis Ash's (2015) modern dissertation study of Lumbee youth at a week-long summer camp for herpetology (the study of reptiles and lizards). Located in the North Carolina Sandhills at the intersection of Robeson, Hoke, and Cumberland Counties, this camp is within the homelands of the Lumbee Tribe of North Carolina, a state-recognized tribe with deep ties to the lands, rivers, and even reptiles of North Carolina. Through observation and interviews with Lumbee youth, and six boys in particular, Ash found that the youth's engagement with herpetology was predicated by informal science education that develops in Lumbee ways of knowing, and place-based knowledges from living in rural homelands (2015, 290–91). Participants in the camp supplemented their own place-based and Indigenous knowledges with technical knowledges from herpetology, providing Lumbee youth with additional experiences and knowledges that would enhance science education (Ash, 2015, 293). However, Indigenous and community knowledges are not only important as a supplement to formal education practices, but also as a way of connecting and sustaining community among Indigenous men. Pember describes how tribal colleges like Lac Court Oreilles Ojibwe Community College have implemented a Men's Talking Circle to recruit and retain Native men (2011). The Talking Circle program provides a space for American Indian men to create a support network where men can express emotion freely among peers, again building upon Indigenous knowledges since "intimacy and vulnerability do not conflict with traditional roles for American Indian Men," particularly for Dakota men (2011). Pember's description of the talking circle notes that persistence is not only about peer support, but also boils down to the lunches, served during the talking circle, that sustain students facing financial challenges.

Moreover, emphasis on peer support within community and family was a particularly dominant theme in relevant programs seeking to redress challenges and inequitable education outcomes for American Indian boys. Funded by the First Nations Development Institute, the Career Exploration Program "CRACE" of Cocopah Nation utilized monthly talking circles for truant students. The space provided students with an opportunity to talk with one another and learn about career opportunities available to them beyond high school graduation. The program successfully reduced adolescent truancy by 25 percent in the academic year of 2014–2015 (First Nations Development Institute 2016, 5). Furthermore, Cocopah Nation, in an effort to shift punitive-oriented approaches and criminal outcomes for youth truants, promoted adult role models to their students. The relationship between youth and mentor was oriented toward enhancing life skills by promoting male youth empowerment. The Cocopah Tribal Truancy Prevention Program has been successful in finding alternatives to punitive approaches to student behavior and has instead shifted their focus to youth empowerment, and facilitated relationships between youth, elders, and community.

The use of role models and talking circles provide culturally effective spaces and reflective relationships to acknowledge and discuss critical issues of importance to American Indian boys and men. In addition to talking circles, Garcia's (2002) dissertation research acknowledges the socioeconomic challenges American Indian boys face within their Indigenous community, while focusing on how education provides an opportunity for American Indian boys to overcome difficult situations and provide a brighter outlook on their career. The study uses a values-based career intervention program "in order to reinforce staying in school and enhance their career behaviors" (19). Furthermore, the intervention program found that "[t]he boys' preference for their native language was related to more positive self esteem and grade self-efficacy. The boys' preference for their own culture was correlated with

lower suicidality." Garcia (2002) recommends that "for future research emphasize the need for counselors to take into consideration biculturalism, enculturation, and resiliency factors when working with Native American youth" (iv). An additional recommendation for further research can explore areas of how the use of culturally relevant curriculum and indigenous knowledge used in secondary education can help change the classification of "at risk" into a "college going" population.

Finally, Brave Heart et al. (2012) describe alternative ways of thinking about interventions for American Indian men by focusing on the impacts of historical trauma, on Native men and boys generally, that have resulted in "male separation from the traditional self, internalization of oppression, and identification with the aggressor—an intrinsically devalued true self" (2012, s179). Programs like RezRIDERS, a "multilevel extreme-sport experiential education intervention" encourages community among American Indian youth by addressing historical trauma and cultural protective factors through extreme sports by "shifting high-risk behaviors to a controlled program setting" (2012, S180). Thematically, each of these intervention programs shift deficit and punitive approaches to engaging American Indian men to culturally relevant and relational-oriented approaches that each emphasize relationships to family, community, identity, and culture.

# GREY LITERATURE AND EMERGENT THEMES: PROMISING PRINCIPLES FOR INDIGENOUS EDUCATION

While we reviewed the literature on programmatic initiatives for Indigenous men/boys (RISE relevant), we learned that much of the scholarship on this particular topic and population was scarce. However, there was a body of literature identified as critically important to understanding Indigenous men/boys in higher education. All these studies included Indigenous participants in their data collection; many were not specifically centered on men/boys but inclusive of them. Some of these studies did not come from the educational discourse, but included other fields such as, but not limited to, health, history, psychology, and sociology. And many of these studies did not focus on programmatic practices, but still provided insights to promising principles. Therefore, we elaborate on these six (6) promising principles of empower, enact, engage, enlighten, envision, and enhance that were gleaned from this set of literature.

#### Empower: Nurturing and Strengthening Identity Development

Much of the literature discusses ways identity development is nurtured and strengthened. Effective interventions and programs serving American Indian boys and men harnessed and accentuated Indigenous knowledges, created space for peer networks and sharing, and most importantly, acknowledged traumas specific to American Indian boys and men in order to provide a space for healing. Returning to tribal values and developing cultural and bicultural competence framed as "new warriors" were keys to solving domestic violence and other social challenges including those occurring at school settings (Matamonasa-Bennett 2005). This literature argued the empowerment of Native youth is done through fostering identity development in meaningful ways through Native languages and cultural traditions that reflect Native epistemologies, allowing students to negotiate through, "the place between," which is the process of gaining the skills to self-determine (Elliott 2010, 181). Promoting youth empowerment through the facilitation of cultural knowledges and emphasizing relationships to tribal communities are meaningful ways of redressing historic and present-day institutionalized oppression. We want to add here that there are polycultural aspects to many Indigenous peoples' lives that are not often captured in the literature. These polycultural aspects show up with mixed race or mixed national peoples, two-spirit and/or transgendered peoples, and those tied to urban, rural, suburban geographies. There are, of course, the usual complexities associated with the lives of Indigenous peoples. Our point here is to suggest that we recommend moving to polycultural analyses and competencies in the future.

This type of work also underscores the importance in recognizing the internalized oppression and historical trauma through a counter narrative approach that promotes the strengths and positive qualities of American Indian peoples (Grayshield et al. 2015). Examples of this include strengthening identity development through identifying personal strengths within themselves and others (Elliott 2010; Grayshield et al. 2015; First Nations Institute 2016). By instilling a greater sense of self-confidence, American Indian students are more equipped to survive and thrive at school settings including college campuses (Davis 2004; Guilmino 2006; Louderback 2008). According to this research, it is important for educators to understand educational enhancers for Native students include being able to participate in cultural activities and having a strong personal and cultural identity and language (Bock 2006; Conley 2008; McCaffery 2012; White 2001; Young 2006). The promotion of cultural knowledges and ways of being serve as sources of strength and motivation for Indigenous peoples in spaces where they are traditionally underrepresented and underserved. And, we cannot overemphasize the importance of approaching challenges through a strengths-based approach, but rather deficit-oriented ones. To be clear, there are significant challenges that Indigenous peoples face; there are also significant strengths through which to address them.

Further, Young (2006) suggests the reason why Native Hawaiians are able to "play the game" and navigate institutions of education successfully is because they have a special strength to adapt to potentially challenging situations and take away value from any experience. Thus it is important to recognize the resilience of Native students as well as the specific strengths they draw from their cultural backgrounds and communities to persist. One participant explained it as such:

I think being Hawaiian helped me here. Hawaiians, I think it is a part of our strengths. Some people see it as a weakness but I see it as part of our strengths. I think that we're able to see the good in other people. We are able to appreciate another person's perspective or point of view. I took of what I knew of being a Hawaiian in my family and my own personal identity, I took that into my studies and realized though that there were forces forcing me to conform, I was able to appreciate, I think because I'm Hawaiian, that this was an interesting perspective and that maybe there was some value that I can take and incorporate into my own life as it is appropriate for me. (Young 2006, 93)

An additional form of an educational enhancer incorporates cultural environments with motivation. Specifically, Lino's (2010) Native Hawaiian study explores "[t]he relationship of a culturally relevant and responsive learning environment to achievement motivation for Native Hawaiian secondary students" (vii). The Nä 'Öpio: Youth Development and Assets Survey was completed by 3,100 Native Hawaiian students in grades 6 through 12 at seven Native Hawaiian language immersion schools. The survey findings revealed "the four strongest correlations with achievement motivation were Cultural Attachment, Connection to 'Ohana (Family), Connection to 'Aina (Land), and Connection to Cultural Practices" (Lino 2010, 112). A second survey findings indicated, "[w]ith respect to gender, in all seven outcomes, including achievement motivation and the six elements of cultural connectedness, female students scored higher than their male counterparts" (112). These findings further support the proposition that Indigenous students are better served and better achieve in education settings when culture—viewed as a resource—is a component of instruction and fundamental to interventions.

#### **Enact: Spiritual Practices and Sharing Stories**

Specific ways to empower identity development opens the door to our second important principle, which is enact. Enact is the ability to practice particular teachings that engage and implement identity development. Tradition-based spiritual practices, which are those teachings rooted in Indigenous epistemologies and ontologies were found to be an integral source for

R35 American Indians (Elliott 2010; Grayshield et al. 2015; Matamonasa-Bennett 2005). Native men who experienced domestic violence underscored how participating in sweat lodges provided a space for them to speak freely and feel safe and vulnerable to cry because there was a sense of no judgment from those participating (Matamonasa-Bennett 2005). Other spiritual traditions and cultural practices included participating in seasonal ceremonies, prayer, and smudging. An important aspect of the enact principle is to be open to dialoguing about spirituality (Grayshield et al. 2015).

According to Jones, Castellanos, and Cole (2002), recommendations for successful retention of Native Americans include a sweathouse for Native Americans, and more money for powwows. Although her research did not focus exclusively on the experiences of Native men and boys, rather, it examined the experiences of American Indians more generally, Jervis (2009) found that among 44 Northern Plains American Indians, cultural trauma was expressed in disillusionment with community leaders and grief about perceived culture loss as well as the complex connections between traumatization at the level of the individual and the community. Spirituality and religion served as a primary means for reconnecting with traditional culture, which proved crucial in people's attempts to cope with community traumatization (Guilmino 2006; Jervis 2009; Korkow 2008). Conley (2008) also found participating in cultural activities, having a strong personal and cultural identity, and practicing spirituality enhanced education success. According to Peralez (2014), Native American culture is a contributing factor for academic resiliency. Tribal identity is important as is identity as a person, blood memory/blood quantum, prayers, stories told by grandfathers, and Native value systems.

Another important positioning of enacting is through sharing stories with other Natives. In one study, sharing stories of violence with other Native men was helpful for their own healing, but also provided a space where other Native men could connect and relate with those who may encounter similar experiences (Matamonasa-Bennett 2005). Stories offer a place to "speak from the heart" (Matamonasa-Bennett 2005). In another study, fatherhood roles were examined when substance abuse patterns intersected with fatherhood (Neault et al. 2012). In that study, they assert that programs should provide an openness to discuss the impact of substance use on their families. Creating the spaces for Native boys and men to tell their stories to each other is a form of reeducation and allows them to reconnect to a collective experience, itself a form of re-educating. Often, this can release feelings of individualized shame because many programs are not constructed to help people see their experiences as part of collectives. Indeed, individual achievement and individual mental health models are pervasive.

#### Engage: Relationships with People and Place Matter

Engaging in relationships with people (institutional staff, advisors, faculty, peers, and family) and place (home and homelands) were critically important for American Indian success underscoring that relationships matter (Davis 2004; Elliott 2010; Matsumoto 2010; Kealoha 2012). One historical study examined the development of "survival schools" during the 1970s, a time of increasing societal activism such as the American Indian Movement (AIM). These survival schools were two schools in Minneapolis and St. Paul that were created by AIM

R36 members. Davis (2004) found that a successful component of these survival schools were that they cultivated close bonds among their students such that students were expected to care for and watch after their class peers like brothers and sisters. In addition, these schools fostered cooperative relationships between staff members and students' parents and extended families. In another study among Native Hawaiian undergraduate students, relationships with advisors, faculty, and peers provided an accountability process for Native students' successful progression in their academics (Kealoha 2012). This study asserted that family involvement in the accountability process should also be developed (Kealoha 2012). This literature fruitfully and effectively speaks to the engagement of building extended family at college settings.

We understand the powerful role of family and will expand on familial relationships in the next principle. According to Conley (2008), Farris (2013), Guilmino (2006), Peralez (2014), and Young (2006) Native students pursuing higher education report the impact of supportive, involved family and friends as positive influencers. Young (2006) notes, in conjunction with building relationships, Native Hawaiian men emphasize the *kuleana* (which effectively translates to "responsibility") that Native Hawaiian doctoral students have to their community—and, by extension, the lands and people therein. Further, Guilmino (2006) identified family of origin push for education, community influences, support from acquired family (e.g., spouse), as well as parental modeling of work ethic as asset-based aspects that positively influence career success for Native males. Further, when it comes to making important education and life decisions, Guilmino (2006) adds it is important to keep in mind, when Native peoples are asked to consider a course of action, they may be hesitant to make an immediate decision as cultural protocol may necessitate discussion with the family prior to committing to something that could impact the family or larger society. The insistence on protocol highlights the importance

and power of relationships between people and each other, people and place, and individuals and the collective. The collective survives when cultural norms are observed and used to guide decision-making processes.

Having a connection to home (place) and returning home was crucial for American Indian/Alaskan Native doctoral students' persistence and degree attainment in a psychology program (Elliott 2010). Policies and practice within education that promulgate the relationality between American Indian students and tribal communities is crucial to the future success and capacity of American Indian communities.

#### Enlighten: Reciprocal Learning from Engaging with Family, Elders, and Mentors

Closely linked with the engage principle is the enlighten principle, which we refer to as the reciprocal learning (enlightenment) that ensues when engaging with others. We found that scholarship supports the powerful learning exchanged when Native students connect with family (Davis 2004; Elliott 2010; Hudson 2014; Kealoha 2012). Among Native college students attending a non-Native college and university, one study found that students preferred seeking assistance from family members when encountering psychological or mental health concerns (Hudson 2014). Furthermore, Native parents transmitted messages that instilled cultural pride and effective coping strategies when Native students encountered discrimination (Yasui et al. 2015). Students benefit from family support. When Native parental control became a feature of institutional governance for survival skills, the entire school also R37 benefitted from parental expertise (Davis 2004). Moreover, actively seeking relationships with elders in the community was an important enlighten principle for achieving sobriety and creating relationships with supportive partners among Native men who experienced domestic violence (Matamonasa-Bennett 2005).

When continuing our enlighten principle, we found evidence that asserted the influential role of *mentorship*. Social support from faculty/staff mentors were the most powerful non-cognitive factor among undergraduate Native students (Gloria & Robinson-Kurpius 2001). Mentors, both from an educational and cultural context, were key to aspiring Native psychologists in "getting through" their doctoral education (Elliott 2010). Peer mentoring programs helped in the adjustments/demands of college life among Native Hawaiian students (Kealoha 2012). In another study among Native men who have experienced domestic violence assert that having positive, non-violent mentors were important to their healing (Matamonasa-Bennett 2005).

According to Conley (2008), the impact of women mentors is important, as noted by both sexes as an educational enhancer for Native students who wish to pursue higher education as well as having supportive involved teachers, professors, or instructors (Conley 2008; Farris 2013; Guilmino 2006; Korkow 2008; McCaffery 2012; Neuerburg 2000; Peralez 2014; Young 2006). McCaffery (2012) specifically suggests elders play an important role in persistence and success, teaching others, and learning from elders. For Guilmino (2006), the importance of role models, successful leaders, and elders was evident and important.

#### **Envision: Purpose-Driven Framework**

Several studies illuminate an envision principle, which we refer to as a purpose-driven framework, strengthens students' motivation to persist in college. A desire to help community was a guiding force for Native doctoral students as it illustrated a "full circle of purpose" (Elliott 2010, 177). Young (2006) further suggests that academic cohort experiences are important for Native Hawaiian male student success. According to participants in Young's (2006) study:

• Most of the men had very little to say about the experience of being a male doctoral student. This issue pertained more to ethnicity than gender. However, one participant suggested that there are fewer Native Hawaiian males with PhDs in comparison to females. He offered an explanation. "We need a lot more because there are very few. The most recent graduates have been predominantly female. Without sounding sexist, I think it's harder for Native Hawaiian males to go through this because they are expected in the culture to be the breadwinners. I think it's harder" (92).

- The participant suggested that the task of completing a dissertation was very western because it required the student to work alone. He elaborated, "So relationships were very important and that's Hawaiian. You don't do it by yourself. You have to do it with others. The more hands, the better. I also think that part of the socialization process for higher ed. and also for doing the dissertation is very western. You know, you just be by yourself, all alone. I think that without my sense of not just relationships, but connection, with this greater world being sort of a spirituality kind of thing [I would not have succeeded]".
- Participants suggested that Native Hawaiians need to view their doctoral work as something to help the Native Hawaiian community. A participant clarified, "That's why you sit at almost dichotomous ends because the dissertation and getting the degree is R38 yours, but if the dissertation is about your Hawaiian communities, ah, that dissertation is not yours alone. You are speaking with their words so you have to honor their voice, their history, their experiences" (94)

In many ways, the notion of envisioning is directly tied to larger conversations around the importance of tribal nation building (Brayboy et al. 2012; Brayboy, Castagno, & Solyom 2015). The nature of being driven by collective purpose is crucial to the success of all Native students and peoples; it is especially true for Indigenous men and boys.

#### **Enhance: Institutional and Tribal Support**

Enhancing is the way in which institutions and tribes provide support to Native students. Within institutions, according to Barnard (2004), Blackwell (2001), Bock (2006), de la Rosa (2005),

Guilmino (2006), Jamerson (2013), Jen (2015), and Peralez (2014), having Native instructors, access to classes on Native topics, curriculum centered on Indigenous roots, and applying learned skills in life contribute positively to Native student persistence and success (56–61). Bock (2006) explicitly states educators should not assume that all students understand European-based stories and their themes—a disconnect between culturally relevant curriculum can influence student reading comprehension. Tribally specific support was another principle that enhanced the students and institutions. Tribal-specific associations with cultural identity and traditional ways of parenting revealed protective forces in shaping American Indian fatherhood roles (Neult et al. 2012). According to Jones, Castellanos, and Cole (2002), recommendations for successful retention of Native Americans include creating an opportunity for the Native American tribe leaders to talk to the university president and setting goals for Native American students' retention. Moreover, institutions and tribal nations that provided financial resources to Native students was a necessary resource (Bitsoi 2007; Guilmino 2006)

### Discussion

The principles noted above offer patterns across the studies that were relevant for our work. Rather than engage in perpetuating deficit-oriented views of what is happening with and among Indigenous boys and men, we believe that a strengths-based approach is necessary and important. Because education, schooling, and practices happen in place, and because we do not have large-scale data, we are hesitant to draw broad conclusions about specific responses to the literature. We are, however, inclined to suggest that there are some themes or principles that may travel across contexts and moments. We have outlined these principles in the previous pages, including: *empower*, *enact*, *engage*, *enlighten*, *envision*, *and enhance*. We return to them here.

The notion of empowerment is not an easy one for us. Following Deloria (1973/2003), we believe that power can neither be given nor received. Power is, we believe, embedded in us all. The work is to assist young people in finding ways to access the power they have and then deploy it in ways that allow them to be strong, self-sufficient, proud, and giving. Programs that are guided by the notion that they can assist young people in unlocking their inherent strengths will successfully address many of the challenges that Indigenous boys and men encounter.

While we are engaged in this project in a two-dimensional process (reading and writing, and placing knowledge on paper) and in a noun-based way (knowledge takes the form of a R39 report), we believe that programs must take on four-dimensional, verb-based responses to the challenges in front of, and resources embedded in, Indigenous boys and men. The idea that programs should enact is crucial, and it draws on both embodying and enacting knowledge, but also embedding conceptions of spirituality. By this, we are not calling for religion; instead, we believe that successful programs will successfully connect to particular moral and ethical framings guided by connection to place and belief systems that are congruent with groups. Embodied knowledge that contains ties to spirituality is a four-dimensional framework. Programs rooted in *doing* and *enacting* solutions carry the possibilities of success. We do reform, we enact it, and we embody it.

Directly tied to enactment is the concept of engagement. We engage place, people, ideas, and ethical concerns. In our interview with Keola Chan, of the Hale Mua, he noted that their successful program emerged from concerns that Kanaka Maoli women's and children's needs were being addressed through programming, but men were struggling with domestic violence, substance and alcohol abuse, and suicides. Rather than accept or turn away from the challenge, they decided to engage them. In short, it is incumbent upon researchers and program builders to become what Lumbee legal scholar Robert A. Williams (1997) calls "story hearing fools." In this case, programs that work often emerge from challenges that the community has already identified. The community too, has a series of responses to the challenges. In our conversations, Mr. Chan told us, "We need to have more of these conversations...[there] should not be separate academic and community facets." Crucial in this powerful observation is that academics must listen, and we must find ways to partner with communities. But, it is communities that drive the conversation.

These conversations between communities and researchers serve to enlighten our understanding of the challenges. But they also illuminate the role of reciprocal relationships between elders, community members, and children. The intergenerational transfer of knowledge is clearly one direction highlighting a pathway to success. Recently, we heard about a successful young woman named Danielle Ta'Sheena Finn, the current Miss Indian World, who earned her Juris Doctorate at Arizona State University, who said about her work as a leader and activist, "Oyáte kin nípi kta cha léchamun. I do it so my people live." We find this notion of "I do it so my people live" a perfect way to engage and talk about larger conceptions of reciprocity. We have written about the notion of reciprocity as, "I take so that I can give to others" (Brayboy et al. 2012). The larger point here is that enlightenment is not about telling others how to see; it is the idea that we see through the work and example of others. Programs that are guided by intergenerational exchanges of ideas will be successful.

 $<sup>^{5}\</sup> Available\ at\ http://www.azcentral.com/story/news/local/arizona/2016/12/12/asu-miss-indian-world-danielle-\ finn-standing-rock/94676694/2016/12/12/2016/12/201$ 

Ms. Finn envisions a future for her community and others that is rooted in futures of their own making. Programs that envision bright-lined futures for children are crucial to addressing the challenges in front of Indigenous peoples, boys, and men. It is important that programs addressing the needs and futures of Indigenous boys and men are intentional and deliberate. Here, by deliberate we do not mean slow and plodding; rather, we want to suggest that programs with vision (those that are envisioning) are thoughtful about creating pathways for participants to create, nurture, and enact futures of their own making. We envision so that we can do; programs envision toward the end of enacting and enhancing the lives of people.

We close this section with an emphasis on engaging in an enhancement of ideas, lives, and futures. This work must be forward-and future-focused. Great programs will consider how they can illuminate possibilities. Work with Indigenous peoples can often become mired in the past. The challenges in front of our communities are not new, but centuries old, and historical trauma is real. While we understand these, we want to encourage researchers and funders to honor the past, while pressing to create and enact—to enhance—new futures and possibilities for Indigenous peoples.

# Recommendations

Any set of recommendations for thinking about how to address the needs of Indigenous boys and men must lead with the very premise that there must be a structural change in the narrative about the Indigenous boys and men. As we walk around our college campus, look at our own family members (on a daily basis), and travel into Native communities, we see hope, promise, strength, and action in which Indigenous men are engaged in important work. The "dysfunctional" Indigenous man is a creation of a system that rests on the shoulders of colonization. We propose that programs be built on the strengths of language and culture, rooted in place, to assist tribal peoples in creating futures of their own making. Throughout this document, we have attempted to point to the promise of language and culture. The Hale Mua Program, for example, is an example of the promise of listening to communities, returning to traditional teachings and roles, and engaging in the promise of the future. We strongly urge private foundations, philanthropies, and governmental entities in finding ways to partner with organizations and leaders who understand who they are, culturally and linguistically, as well as leaders who love their communities and its members.

It is also important that researchers also understand and engage language and culture into their work. According to Guilmino (2007), when possible, it is important to incorporate Native language into research and interaction/education.

Cultural customs that are traditionally taboo in one culture may be ordinarily displayed in another. For example, in social interactions, Native Americans tend to have a reserved, cautious manner, feel little need to explain things verbally, and maintain less eye contact in conversation. In addition, they often use another person to help them communicate (Edwards & Edwards 1980). Wing, Crow, and Thompson (1995) stated that Muscogee (Creek) Indians, especially those traditional members of ceremonial grounds, typically looked down while speaking to elders or guests and allow them to speak first. In their recent experience with ethnographic interviewing of Native Americans, Kawulich and Curlette (1998) observed that asking or rephrasing a question either may result in an appropriate response or may be met with skepticism and silence, depending on the subject. Asking too many in-depth questions about certain subjects may be considered rude. It may be helpful to note that many Native Americans are reticent about sharing their thoughts and feelings until appropriate relationships and contexts have been established. Stone and Njumbwa (1994) conclude that this hesitation necessitates sensitivity and empathy on the part of a counselor to ensure correct understanding of the problem.

The researchers mentioned above all conducted studies involving primarily Native American participants with no comparative norm group. It is with this type of research methodology that the advancement of multicultural sensitivity takes place. Yet, it is still discouraging to see these authors use their data which was acquired from specific tribal communities and generalize to other Native American communities. Wing et. al. (1995) systematically made references to the specific population under investigation, and did not sway to make grand generalizations about their findings to other Native American groups. This form of research is hoped to be obtained from this study (14).

Research needs to examine nontraditional forms of education as strengths-based forms of instruction "The teachings of traditional customs and values should not be dismissed because learning does not take place in a classroom. It seems all too often that researchers are proponents of "fitting" Native Americans into traditional education systems, when it seems the focus should be on the preservation of Native American traditions and how those traditions can be passed down to younger generations" (Guilmino 2007, 27).

Rink, Anastario, & FourStar (2012) add research that works beneficially with and for Native communities, includes tribal council members, and makes recommendations for how to disseminate the study results on the reservation. It also updates tribal councils regularly in order to receive input and guidance during the various phases of the research process, including study design, review of data results, data dissemination, and manuscript review and approval.

Furthermore, given the sensitive nature of some research topics, it may be necessary to involve Native male researchers, who may be enrolled members of the tribe, to conduct in-depth interviews with the target population.

Pairing programs like those mentioned above with researchers and academic institutions would also allow a systematic collection of data to occur so that the principles outlined in this report can be enhanced with data. These data can be used in both formative and summative evaluations, and to assist funders in highlighting important aspects of the work that are transferrable. Fundamentally, understanding how things work relies on data, its collection, and analyses.

There is clearly not enough data to engage the work as robustly as necessary. The purpose of the final analysis was to focus on identifying key strategies that contribute to reducing disparities for Indigenous boys and men. One concern, for us, in raising this issue is that funders and scholars will read our scan as a suggestion that because there isn't much out there, researchers should not be concerned. We want to argue quite the opposite. We encourage—in the strongest possible terms—a more focused approach on highlighting work being done, and on creating new initiatives that will allow others to follow. This is not only important; it is necessary and crucial to the future of Indigenous peoples. Our first set of recommendations, then, is that there must be a more systemic, systematic, and intentional effort to collect data, including by oversampling for American Indian, Alaska Native, and Native Hawaiian peoples.

The use of the asterisk to address any population being "statistically insignificant" should be rendered an artifact of the past. We understand that this will require additional funding from local, state, and federal agencies. We believe that the data collection—and their concomitant analyses—will pay itself back through healthier, more productive peoples. And, while we understand the importance of an economic argument for engaging in the work, we want to reiterate the moral and ethical reasons for this recommendation. Given the trust relationship and responsibility between tribal nations and the US government, the collection of data is necessary.

Enhancing the data is also important. To this end, we recommend that agencies find ways to be able to link data sets and resources. Life is not simply about what happens in school or an individual's (or group's) engagement with the justice system alone. It is complex, nuanced, and intersectional. So too should our data be intersectional to help us understand how different factors influence the lives of Indigenous peoples, men, and boys. A coordinated effort will also allow researchers and scholars, working closely with tribal communities, to establish more nuanced, textured programs to meet the complex needs of Indigenous boys and men.

On a higher education level, we believe that there are ways to assist Indigenous boys and men in both completing their degrees and in better understanding possible futures. Creating Native cultural centers on college campuses will allow young men there to both have a refuge from the daily stressors of being on campuses that are often hostile to them, and to engage in community building. These centers are a crucial part of assisting the young men in feeling like they belong to the institution and it belongs to them. Coordinating with the physical space to provide emotional and psychological support is also crucial. We recommend that institutions implement student support groups and encouraging culture-specific student groups. Combining the physical with the psychosocial elements are crucial in assisting Indigenous men in making the transition into higher education. Additionally, we believe that institutions can:

- Provide freshman seminars that use college transition approaches, develop mentor programs and create liaisons for Native students in key university offices.
- Create orientation programs and first year academic learning communities that focus on Indigenous traditions, heritage, culture, and "ways of knowing" to foster student success.
- Develop summer bridge programs with curriculum that includes study skills, time management, financial resources, faculty expectations, and student support services.
- Institutions must continue to support student organization and groups that are Indigenous focused.
- Create liaisons for Indigenous students in key university offices (financial aid, business affairs, and admissions) where staff is trained in understanding and being sensitive to cultural norms.
- Provide pre- and in-service training for all staff on developing, implementing, and maintaining in-class curricular by using culturally conscious ways of instructional design such as the cultural tool of a talking circle.

We would be remiss if we did not encourage funders to take seriously the invisibility and erasure of Native peoples more generally and Native boys and men more explicitly. There is a clear need for funders to take the issue of the current state of Indigenous boys and men—and their communities—seriously. To this end, we recommend that new funding streams be opened that will allow researchers opportunities to explore the current state of education, health (both mental and physical), culture and linguistic, justice-related, suicidality, labor, nutrition, and housing for Indigenous peoples more generally and Indigenous boys and men more specifically. These opportunities should take both topic-specific and intersectional analyses. It is difficult to fully address the nature of the challenges in front of us without fully understanding what the challenges—and resources to respond—truly are.

We are also calling on academic institutions and researchers across racialized groups to do a number of things. First, institutions and researchers must be deliberate and intentional in examining and exploring the current state of Indigenous boys and men. There is significant work already addressing black boys and men and Latino boys and men; although we recognize that there needs to be more work on all racialized boys and men. Institutions need to be conscious of closing the gap in what we know about Indigenous boys and men. We understand that some non-Native scholars of color have been hesitant to join in this work. While we understand this, and we believe that Native scholars should lead the way, there is a need for coalitions to engage this work. Second, and relatedly, we call on these individuals and institutions to prepare future Indigenous scholars to be able to engage in producing research and creating policy. There are numerous scholars of color and allies who have the capacity to do this; we urge them, in the strongest possible terms, to engage in this important capacity-building work. Third, there must be a more focused effort on building coalitions across racialized groups. This will generate interesting and productive scholarship, create support systems for scholars and communities, and amplify everyone's voices. Finally, we call on institutions and scholars to be mindful of making important connections between Indigenous boys and men, and women and girls. It is vitally important that we do not unintentionally create tensions through gendered work; instead, we believe there are some useful connections that will benefit everyone. The Hale Mua program is indicative of ways to frame these conversations. It was a group of women who called on men to engage in the important work of healing; that call was done within the context of understanding the importance of gender roles in Indigenous communities.

Finally, we call on authors, journal editors, conference reviewers, and presses to seriously engage in the pursuit of scholarship that addresses Indigenous boys and men. In our call to change the narrative, one place to begin is in the published articles. We found few pieces in our extensive review that focused specifically on Indigenous boys and men in peer-reviewed scholarship. While we are not "blaming'" editors, we are making a call for editors and others who are in the role of acquisitions to be mindful and intentional in seeking, cultivating, and encouraging submissions on this topic. Working closely with scholars already embedded in the boys and men scholarship, a database of potential authors and contributors can be developed and cultivated.

We end by recognizing that the challenges encountered by Indigenous boys and men are not new; they are centuries old. Over 100 years ago, Arthur C. Parker (1916) addressed what he called the "seven stolen rights" (254). American Indians have been:

(1) robbed of freedom of action; (2) robbed of economic independence; (3) robbed of social organization; (4) robbed of intellectual life; (5) robbed of moral standards and racial ideals; (6) robbed of a good name among the peoples of the earth; and (7) robbed of a definite civic status (254–55). While we might take issue with how some of these sentiments are expressed, we think that the essence of the concerns are as viable in June 2017 as they were in September 1916. Parker was not done, however. He went on to write:

Whether he can express his thoughts in words or not, whether the turmoil in his heart finds voice or not, the American Indian who has suffered the oppression that is worse than death feels that civilization has (1) made him a man without a country; (2) usurped his responsibility; (3) demeaned his manhood; (4) destroyed his ideals; (5) broken faith with him; (6) humiliated his spirit; and, (7) refused to listen to his petitions (256).

Again, this list could have been used to outline this report, our findings, and our response therein. Our hope is that in 10 years, we can have some assurances that we are on a pathway toward creating meaningful, proactive responses to the challenges facing tribal communities and our boys and men. After centuries of neglect, we choose to move toward visions of hope, promise, and possibilities. As parents, partners, friends, and children of Native boys and men, they (and our ancestors) deserve our very best efforts. Those efforts lie ahead; let us get to work.

#### ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Our research team is a multiracial one. We are Indigenous peoples, representing citizens of the Navajo Nation, Hopi Tribe, Mohegan Tribe, Lumbee Tribe, and Ojibwe tribe. We also have members of our team who are Puerto Rican, Mexican, black, and Middle Eastern. What unites the team, comprised of individuals from both Arizona State University and the University of Washington is that we are scholars focused on the work of justice and are committed to disrupting the rendering of Native boys and men as invisible and insignificant. Our team is comprised of Indigenous faculty members, postdoctoral fellows, doctoral students, and undergraduate students. We are parents to Indigenous children (including Indigenous boys), understand both urban and rural Indigenous communities, having deep roots in these places, and are committed to the larger questions of equity and justice, which guide our work. We are both men and women. Our structure is rooted in long-term relationships with, for, and among Native communities, and we are part of the Center for Indian Education.



### References

ABA names recipients of legal opportunity scholarships. (2004, Aug 21, 2004). *Atlanta Inquirer*, pp. 7.

Aguilera, D. E. (2003). Who defines success: An analysis of competing models of education for american indian and alaskan native students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305335027).

Al-Asfour, A. (2014). Faculty professional development needs & career advancement at tribal colleges and universities (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1615382042).

Alfred, T. (2001). Deconstructing the British Columbia treaty process [Paper in: Indigenous Peoples in the International Sphere.]. Balayi: Culture, Law and Colonialism, 3(2001), 37.

 $\label{lem:alichard} Ali-Christie, A. (2013). American indian collegiate athletes: Accessing education through sport (Ph.D.).$ 

Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1355720906).

Alves, J. O. (2005). Miss schooled: American fictions of female education in the nineteenth century (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304995766).

Amarok, B. Q. (2014). An indigenous vision of 21st century education in the bering strait region (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1656169557).

Ambler, M. (2003). INDIGENIZING OUR FUTURE; listening to indian voices will help us face the challenges ahead. Tribal College, 15(1), 8.

Anastario, M. P., FourStar, K., & Rink, E. (2013). Sexual risk behavior and symptoms of historical loss in american indian men. *Journal of Community Health: The Publication for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention*, 38(5), 894-899.

 $\ doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10900-013-9695-8$ 

Anderson, E. P. (2009). Reformers revealed: American indian progressives at haskell institute, lawrence, kansas, 1884-1909 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304905951).

Anderson, S. A. (2001). Resiliency factors in the native american population: An interview study (Ph.D.).

Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (250940071). Angel, M. A. (2006). *Making woman-meaning: The story of us* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304951034).

Angspatt, J. D. (2001). Barriers and contributions to american indian academic success at the university of montana: A qualitative study (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (252177386)

Arcury, T. A., Quandt, S. A., McDonald, J., & Bell, R. A. (2000). Faith and health self-management of rural older adults. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 15(1), 55-74.

Armstrong, L. E. (2011). Career pathways of athletic directors: Consideration of the impact of diversity (Ed.D.). Available from ABI/INFORM Complete, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (893094716).

Ascunce, M. S., Gonzalez-Oliver, A., & Mulligan, C. J. (2008). Y-chromosome variability in four native american populations from panama. *Human Biology.*, 80(3), 287-302.

 $Ash, M. C. (2015). \ Contributions to a herpetological community of practice: Funds of knowledge of lumbee youth (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations \& Theses Global. (1753920723).$ 

Ask randy: Q & A's of a modern day healer. (2004, Oct 27, 2004). *Native American Times*, pp. 15.

Askins, K. A.Bridging cultures: American indian students at the north-field mount hermon school. Available from Sociological Abstracts. (1018357245; 201215341).

Aubuchon-Endsley, N. L., Callahan, J. L., & Scott, S. (2014). Role expectancies, race, and treatment outcome in rural mental health. American *Journal of Psychotherapy*, 68(3), 339-354.

Ault, P. C. (2008). Salmon cycles: Influences of a science field study immersion experience with native american young women (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304388271).

Azure, L. A. (2013). Counting coup with western education in a post-assimilated paradigm: A qualitative research study on american indian success (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1346182113).

Azure, L. J. B. (2014). Actualizing the seventh generation prophecy in teacher education: A case study of preparing teachers at a tribal college (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1627190294). Baker, D. M. A. (2003). Occupational choice: Adolescents' interests and perceptions of tourism and hospitality careers (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305293688).

Ball, H. L. (2011). Caucasian teachers of native american students: The interplay of ideology and practice (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (884231576).

Balsam, K. F., Huang, B., Fieland, K. C., Simoni, J. M., & Walters, K. L. (2004). Culture, trauma, and wellness: A comparison of heterosexual and lesbian, gay, bisexual, and two-spirit native americans. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 10(3), 287-301. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.10.3.287

Bang, M., Medin, D., & Atran, S. (2007). Cultural mosaics and mental models of nature. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104,13868-13874.

Barker, J. (Ed.). (2005). Sovereignty matters: Locations of contestation and possibility in indigenous struggles for self-determination. U of Nebraska Press.

Barnard, B. J. (2004). The effects of a culturally sensitive high school intervention program for native hawaiians on student alienation, academic achievement, and dropping out (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305194167).

Barney, D. D. (2003). Health risk-factors for gay american indian and a laska native adolescent males.

Journal of Homosexuality, 46(1-2), 137-157. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ez-proxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1300/J082v46n01\_04

Barrera, M., Jr., Biglan, A., Ary, D., & Li, F. (2001). Replication of a problem behavior model with american indian, hispanic, and caucasian youth. *The Journal of Early Adolescence, 21*(2), 133-157. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/0272431601021002001

Bassett, J. (2011). Restricted citizenship the struggle for native american voting rights in arizona (M.A.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (912175353)

Bauer-Sanders, K. (2003). Students' perceptions of bullying phenomenon in a native american elementary school (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305307131).

Baxter, P. J. (2009). Identifying strategies for native american student success in community colleges: A qualitative study (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304950273). Beals, J., Novins, D. K., Whitesell, N. R., Spicer, P., Mitchell, C. M., & Manson, S. M. (2005).

Prevalence of mental disorders and utilization of mental health services in two american indian reservation populations: Mental health disparities in a national context. *The American Journal of Psychiatry, 162*(9), 1723-1732. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.9.1723

Beckham, J. K. (2006). Academic dreamers to leaders: The emergence of the mathematics and science for minority students ((MS)(2)) program at philips academy andover (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305309056).

Bell, R. A., Arcury, T. A., Stafford, J. M., Golden, S. L., Snively, B. M., & Quandt, S. A. (2007). Ethnic and sex differences in ownership of preventive health equipment among rural older adults with diabetes. Journal of Rural Health Official Journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association., 23(4), 332-338.

Bell, R. A., Smith, S. L., Arcury, T. A., Snively, B. M., Stafford, J. M., & Quandt, S. A. (2005).

Prevalence and correlates of depressive symptoms among rural older african americans, native americans, and whites with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 28(4), 823-829.

Benally, C. (2014). Native american history instruction in an urban context: An exploration of policy, practice, and native american experience (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1535769904).

Benally, D. H. (2013). Identifying educational motivation factors and barriers for native american males making the secondary to postsecondary transition (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1449802071).

Bennett-Smith, K. K. (2011). Factors that influence career choice among native american and african american high school students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (852662261).

Benson, J. (2012). Student science achievement and the integration of indigenous knowledge in the classroom and on standardized tests (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1323973163).

Bequette, J. W. (2006). Inviting american indian arts curriculum into a school: The short life and long term effects of an arts program (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304974828). Bergman, D. A. (2007). A phenomenological case study of tohono O'odham women's perceptions of leadership (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304894877).

Bergstrom, T. L. (2012). Perceived factors influencing the retention rate of native american college students: A case study (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1009735783).

Bermudez, Y. M. (2005). Perceptions of justice: Undergraduate degree persistence of african, asian, hispanic, and native americans at the university of nevada, reno, 1994–2002 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305456051).

Berrington, S. L. (2003). Successful native american students: Responses to challenges and barriers in college (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305225648).

Berry, L. C. (2008). Hearing their voices: College experiences of urban american indian women (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304502450).

Best, L. G., García-Esquinas, E., Yeh, J., Yeh, F., Zhang, Y., Lee, E. T., . . . Navas-Acien, A. (2015). Association of diabetes and cancer mortality in american indians: The strong heart study. *Cancer Causes & Control, 26*(11), 1551-1560. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10552-015-0648-7

Bill, D. (2012). *Native american educational leadership in the pacific northwest* (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1034566437).

Bircher, W. D. (2004). The effect of cultural influences on american indian students' matriculation into a southwestern community college (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305165869).

Bitsoi, L. L. (2007). Native leaders in the new millenium: An examination of success factors of native american males at harvard college (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304821805).

Blackwell, L. W. B. L. (2001). Development of an american indian studies program for the tohono O'odham community college (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304786576). Blair, M. L. M. (2015). Taking the next step: Promoting native american student success in american Indian/Native american studies graduate programs (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1690497969).

Blalock, N. R. (2013). Culturally sustaining pedagogies: Understanding school practices and the academic achievement of american indian and alaska native students through a multidisciplinary lens (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1467750773).

Blanton, E. L. (2004). The influence of students' cognitive style on a standardized reading test administered in three different formats (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305082124).

Bock, T. (2006). A consideration of culture in moral theme comprehension: Comparing native and european american students. *Journal of Moral Education*, 35(1), 71-87. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/03057240500495310

Bolt, J. (2003). Border pedagogy for democratic practice (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305336784).

Boothe-Kepple, S. (2015). American indian women's health perceptions and health promotion behaviors (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1698463057).

Bowman, J. (2015). Student voices: A phenomenological exploration of stockbridge-munsee student's experiences and strategies related to persisting in wisconsin colleges (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1649237212).

Bradway, B. M. (2011). Correlates of resilience among american indians in a northwestern US state (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (918694149).

Brantmeier, N. K. (2012). Undergraduate college student's attitudes toward native americans and their native studies course experiences: A critical mixed methods study (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1288382541).

Brave Heart, M.Y., & DeBruyn, L. M. (1998). The American Indian holocaust: Healing historical unresolved grief. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 8(2), 56.

Brave Heart, M.Y. (2004). "The Historical Trauma Response Among Natives and Its Relationship to Substance Abuse: A Lakota Illustration." In Healing and Mental Health for Native Americans: Speaking in Red, edited by Ethan Nebelkopf and Mary Phillips, 7-18.

Brave Heart, M.Y., Elkins, J., Tafoya, G., Bird, D., & Salvador, M. (2012). Wicasa was aka: Restoring the traditional strength of american indian boys and men. *American Journal of Public Health, 102* (Suppl 2), S177-S183. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300511

Brayboy, B. M. J. (2005). Toward a tribal critical race theory in education. The Urban Review, 37(5), 425-446.

Brayboy, B. M. J., Fann, A. J., Castagno, A. E., & Solyom, J. A. (2012). Postsecondary Education for American Indian and Alaska Natives: Higher Education for Nation Building and Self-Determination: ASHE Higher Education Report 37: 5. John Wiley & Sons.

Brayboy, B. M. J., Gough, H. R., Leonard, R., Roehl, R. F., & Solyom, J. A. (2012). Reclaiming scholarship: Critical Indigenous research methodologies. *Handbook of qualitative research*, 423-450.

Brayboy-Locklear, J. (2003). The motivational influence of the school environment on the resiliency of native american high school students in selected north carolina public schools (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305316253).

Brewer-Lowry, A. N., Arcury, T. A., Bell, R. A., & Quandt, S. A. (2010). Differentiating approaches to diabetes self-management of multi-ethnic rural older adults at the extremes of glycemic control. *The Gerontologist*, 50(5), 657-667. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1093/geront/gnq001

Bridges, A. L. (2010). Food intake of children participating in a healthy eating program (M.S.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (613986546).

Brinker, M., Westermeyer, J., Thuras, P., & Canive, J. (2007). Severity of combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder versus noncombat-related posttraumatic stress disorder: A community-based study in american indian and hispanic veterans. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 195(8), 655-661. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1097/NMD.0b013e31811f4076

Broker, P. L. (2010). Gichi-inendamang anishinaabe-bimaadiziwin (honoring the culture): A case study of the no child left behind act's influence on culturally based education in a bureau of indian education school serving ojibwe students in minnesota (D.Ed.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (580588421).

Brooks, E., Manson, S. M., Bair, B., Dailey, N., & Shore, J. H. (2012). The diffusion of telehealth in rural american indian communities: A retrospective survey of key stakeholders. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, *18*(1), 60-66. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1089/tmj.2011.0076

Brown, J. A., Jr. (2007). The clyde A. erwin high school mascot controversy (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304701058). Brown, R. A., Hruschka, D. J., & Worthman, C. M. (2009). Cultural models and fertility timing among cherokee and white youth in appalachia: Beyond the mode. American Anthropologist, 111(4), 420-431. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1548-1433.2009.01152.x

Brown, T. A. (2008). Work hard, eat lots: Lessons learned from a case study of an ojibwe educator's pedagogy (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304820416).

Brune, M. L. (2010). A qualitative study of a native american mascot at "Public university" (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (748179393).

Bryan, M. T. (2004). An examination of navajo cultural identity and its relationship to academic achievement (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305222276).

Bueno Watts, N. (2011). Broadening the participation of native americans in earth science (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (885874443).

Bundy, M. P. (2006). Approaches to learning in kindergarten: Associations with child and family background variables (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305279882).

Burks, D. J., Robbins, R., & Durtschi, J. P. (2011). American indian gay, bisexual and two-spirit men: A rapid assessment of HIV/AIDS risk factors, barriers to prevention and culturally-sensitive intervention. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 13*(3), 283-298. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1080/13691058.2010.525666

Burlingame, D. (2005, Jun 7, 2005). The great ground zero heist. *Wall Street Journal*, pp. A.14.

Bussinger-Stone, J. (2009). Teachers' inquiry-based mathematics implementation in rapid city area schools: Effects on attitude and achievement within american indian elementary students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304939986).

Cain, M. J. (2007). An examination of the psychological and cultural factors related to alcohol use in american indian people Available from PsycINFO. (622057435; 2007-99220-138).

Caldwell, V. D. (2015). Interactive videoconferencing course delivery for higher education in rural navajo communities (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1723973683). Cao Ngoc, L. V. (2014). Effects of speaker's accent in a multimedia tutorial on non-native students' learning and attitudes (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1609384560).

Capriccioso, R. (2004, Nov 1, 2004). Indian students at mainstream colleges overcome challenges. *News from Indian Country*, pp. 12.

Capurso, M. P. (2008). "The light in which we are": Evolution of indian identity in the schooling of native americans in the united states (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304507213).

Carlson, C. (2015). Multicultural education and culturally responsive teaching in music education (M.S.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1695821391).

Carlyle, K. E., & Steinman, K. J. (2007). Demographic differences in the prevalence, co-occurrence, and correlates of adolescent bullying at school. *Journal of School Health*, 77(9), 623-629.

Carmen, A. (2006). Recruiting native american college students: "why don't they just show up from their high schools like other students do?" (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305251734)

Castagno, A. E., & Brayboy, B. M. J. (2008). Culturally responsive schooling for Indigenous youth: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 78(4), 941-993.

Cavanaugh, C. L., Taylor, C. A., Keim, K. S., & Geraghty, M. E. (2008). Cultural perceptions of health and diabetes among 1029 native american men. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 19(4), 1029-1043. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1353/hpu.0.0083

C'de Baca, J., Lapham, S. C., Skipper, B. J., & Hunt, W. C. (2004). Psychiatric disorders of convicted DWI offenders: A comparison among hispanics, american indians and non-hispanic whites. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 65*(4), 419-427.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). 10 leading causes of death, United States: 2014, Am Indian/AK Native, both sexes. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Retrieved from: webappa. cdc.gov/cgi-bin/broker.exe

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). Definitions: Self-directed violence. Injury Prevention & Control: Division of Violence Prevention. Retrieved from: https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/suicide/definitions.html Ceppi, A. K. (2000). Examining a culturally relevant, community based secondary education program: The wai'anae high school hawaiian studies program (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304625289).

Cerecer, P. D. Q. (2013). The policing of native bodies and minds: Perspectives on schooling from american indian youth. *American Journal of Education*, 119(4), 591-616. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1086/670967

Charbonneau-Dahlen, B. K. (2010). Giving voice to historical trauma through storytelling: The impact of boarding school experience on american indians (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (849722546).

Chee, C. L. (2002). Native american college students: Ethnic identity, acculturation, and self-esteem (M.C.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (230690521).

Chee, C. L. (2008). Academic persistence of native american undergraduates (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304686536).

Cheng, S. Y. (2004). The politics of identity and schooling: A comparative case study of american indians and taiwan aborigines (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305218306).

Cherokee Nation v. Georgia, 30 U.S. (5 Pet.) 1 (1831).

Chin, C. D. (2010). Transformative non-confrontational multicultural education: An implicitly emancipatory elementary school contemporary native american artists program (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (863624741).

Choudhuri, D. D. (2001). Cartographies of identity in relationship: Multicultural client perspectives of counseling (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (252112789).

Christie, B. A. (2003). A qualitative examination of the nature and impact of three california minority engineering programs (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305297784).

Clark, L. E. (2012). Native american students' experiences of cultural differences in college: Influence and impact (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1314988128). Claw, E. L. (2014). New beginnings: A discussion guide adaptation for living with diabetes among an urban american indian community (M.P.H.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1638276850).

Clery, S., & Topper, A. (2008). Students earning zero credits. data notes. volume 3, number 5, September/October 2008 Achieving the Dream. 8455 Colesville Road Suite 900, Silver Spring, MD 20910.

Collins, M. L. (2012). The effects of reading recovery® on the american Indian/non-american indian achievement gap (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1240668431).

Collins, M. L. (2015). Navigating the academy: Lumbee indian students and higher education (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1703730719).

 $\label{lower-continuity} Cometsevah, C.\,L.\,(2013). \ Alcohol use and american Indian/Alaska \ native student academic performance among tribal colleges (Ph.D.). \ Available from ProQuest Dissertations \& Theses Global. (1449802194).$ 

Community leadership development program graduates nine grass-roots leaders. (2001, Jan 31, 2001). Asian Pages, pp. 5.

Conley, E. (2008). Exploring barriers to education for native american indians: A native perspective (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304568537).

Cornell, G. R. (Mar 2003). American indian dropouts and academically at-risk students: An exploratory comparison Available from PsycINFO. (620253909; 2003-95006-142).

Cortes, J. S. (2012). Do parents matter? examining the role of parental influences on the degree aspirations of first-generation students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1506939103).

Costa, L. (2011). Patients' perceptions of living with a diabetic foot ulcer (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (874983476)

Costello, E. J., Erkanli, A., Copeland, W., & Angold, A. (2010). Association of family income supplements in adolescence with development of psychiatric and substance use disorders in adulthood among an american indian population. *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association*, 303(19), 1954-1960. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1001/jama.2010.621 Covarrubias, R., & Fryberg, S. A. (2015). *The impact of self-relevant representations on school belonging for native american students*. Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 21(1), 10-18. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0037819

Cradoc Moore, L. (2007). *The career choices of underrepresented doctoral recipients* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304889642).

Crofoot, T. L., Harris, N., Plumb, M. A., Smith, K. S., Gault, J., Brooks, G., ... Holland, I. (2008). Mental health, health, and substance abuse service needs for the native american rehabilitation association northwest (NARA NW) in the portland, oregon metropolitan area. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 14(3), 1-23. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.5820/aian.1403.2007.1

Croy, C. D., Bezdek, M., Mitchell, C. M., & Spicer, P. (2009). Young adult migration from a northern plains indian reservation: Who stays and who leaves. *Population Research and Policy Review, 28*(5), 641-660. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s11113-008-9123-4

Crue, C. A. (2000). Resisting a narrative: Deconstructing the lamanite: A performance text. *Cultural Studies: A Research Volume, 5*, 47-56.

Cueva, B. M. (2013). Theorizing the racial and gendered educational experiences of chicanas and native american women at the ph.D. level in higher education: Testimonios of resistance, defiance, survival, and hope (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1283382931)

Cumbow, K. W. (2014). Motivation and resiliency among native american students: Factors impacting successful native american high school students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1619367895).

Cutler, M. M. (2006). Self-efficacy and resilience among american indian adults: A study of successful american indian adult survivors of life stress/trauma (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305261252).

Cwik, M. F., Barlow, A., Tingey, L., Larzelere-Hinton, F., Goklish, N., & Walkup, J. T. (2011). Nonsuicidal self-injury in an american indian reservation community: Results from the white mountain apache surveillance system, 2007–2008. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 50*(9), 860–869. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.06.007 Cypher, K. A. (2008). The impact of the least restrictive environment for american indian high school students on an IEP (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304833300).

 $\label{lem:decomposition} Dameron, S. (2014). American indian students' experiences in S.T.E.M at a native-serving institution (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1562519823).$ 

Dartt-Newton, D. D. (2009). Negotiating the master narrative: Museums and the Indian/Californio community of california's central coast (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304979701).

Davis, J. J. (2015). Space, labor markets, and history: An exploration of american indian employment hardship and socioeconomic inequality (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1699717359).

Davis, J. L. (2004). American indian movement survival schools in minneapolis and st. paul, 1968—2002 (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305217734).

De La Mare, D. M. (2010). Surrendering to institutional forces: How white high school teachers' alignment with school structures prevents meaningful engagement with montana's "Indian education for all" (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (622939661).

 $\label{lem:decomposition} De Coteau, L.\,I.\,(2012). \ Native american women perceptions in Pk-12 \\ administrative positions in north dakota public schools (Ed.D.). \\ Available from ProQuest Dissertations \& Theses Global. (1316985225).$ 

DeCoteau, L. I. (2013). Native american women perceptions in PK--12 administrative positions in north dakota public schools Available from PsycINFO. (1492669268; 2013-99230-492).

Deloria, V. (2003). God is red: A native view of religion. Fulcrum Publishing.

Dennison, M. E., Sisson, S. B., Lora, K., Stephens, L. D., Copeland, K. C., & Caudillo, C. (2015).

Assessment of body mass index, sugar sweetened beverage intake and time spent in physical activity of american indian children in oklahoma. *Journal of Community Health: The Publication for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention*, 40(4), 808-814. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10900-015-0004-6

Denny, C. H., Holtzman, D., Goins, R. T., & Croft, J. B. (2005). Disparities in chronic disease risk factors and health status between american Indian/Alaska native and white elders: Findings from a telephone survey, 2001 and 2002. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(5), 825-827. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2004.043489

Deters, P. B., Novins, D. K., Fickenscher, A., & Beals, J. (2006). Trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder symptomatology: Patterns among american indian adolescents in substance abuse treatment. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 76(3), 335-345. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/0002-9432.76.3.335

Dickerson, D. L., & Johnson, C. L. (2012). Mental health and substance abuse characteristics among a clinical sample of urban american Indian/Alaska native youths in a large california metropolitan area: A descriptive study. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 48(1), 56-62. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10597-010-9368-3

Dickerson, D. L., O'Malley, S. S., Canive, J., Thuras, P., & Westermeyer, J. (2009). Nicotine dependence and psychiatric and substance use comorbidities in a sample of american indian male veterans. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 99(1-3), 169-175. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib. asu.edu/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.07.014

Dillard, D., Jacobsen, C., Ramsey, S., & Manson, S. (2007). Conduct disorder, war zone stress, and war-related posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in american indian vietnam veterans. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 20*(1), 53-62. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/jts.20200

Dionne, R., Davis, B., Sheeber, L., & Madrigal, L. (2009). Initial evaluation of a cultural approach to implementation of evidence-based parenting interventions in american indian communities. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 37(7), 911-921. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/jcop.20336

Dixon, D. S. (2002). The effects of class size on student performance in reading in the primary grades (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305519053).

Dixon, O. C. (2008). Warrior women: A qualitative content analysis of the perceptions of the experiences of native american professors in the academy (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304839842).

Dodge Francis, C. (2005). *The art of looping linear: Perspectives from tribal college students and faculty* (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305385659).

Dorgan, B. L. (2010). The tragedy of native american youth suicide.  $Psychological Services, 7(3), 213-218. \ doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. \\ lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0020461 \ Downs, P. A. (2006). Student and parent perceptions of academic efficacy, abilities and support: Their relationships to navajo american indian high school students' academic achievement (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305345251).$ 

Doyle, M. A. (2012). Baleiichiwee (the story of understanding): The conscientization processes of effective teachers of american indian students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1030143935).

Ducheneaux, T. W. (2002). WISC -III performance patterning differences between native american and caucasian children (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305519130).

Duke, T. S. (2003). Project ho'oponopono: The impact of racism, sexism, homophobia/heterosexism, and colonialism on an adolescent day treatment program student service delivery team (ADTPSSDT) in rural hawai'i (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305334327).

Dvorakova, A. (2014). Beyond the "two-worlds": Native american scholars' experience (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1647769334).

Earle, K. A., Bradigan, B., & Morgenbesser, L. I. (2001). Mental health care for american indians in prison. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work: Innovation in Theory, Research & Practice*, 9(3-4), 111-132. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1300/J051v09n03 06

Ecklund, T. R. (2005). The relationship between psychosocial development and acculturation among american indian college students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305381679).

Edwards, R. & Edwards, G.C. (1980).  $\it Contested\ terrain$ . Heinemann Educational.

Ehlers, C. L., Gilder, D. A., Gizer, I. R., & Wilhelmsen, K. C. (2009). Heritability and a genome-wide linkage analysis of a type II/B cluster construct for cannabis dependence in an american indian community. *Addiction Biology, 14*(3), 338-348. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu. edu/10.1111/j.1369-1600.2009.00160.x

Ehlers, C. L., Wall, T. L., Corey, L., Lau, P., Gilder, D. A., & Wilhelmsen, K. (2007). Heritability of illicit drug use and transition to dependence in southwest california indians. *Psychiatric Genetics*, 17(3), 171-176. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1097/01. ypg.0000242201.56342.1a

Eisenberg, K. N. (2002). Gender and ethnicity stereotypes in children's books (Psy.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (251657696). Eitle, T. M., & Eitle, D. (2015). Explaining the association between gender and substance use among american indian adolescents: An application of power-control theory. Sociological Perspectives, 58(4), 686.

Eldridge, L. A. (2006). *Ruthe blalock jones: Native american artist and educator* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305333196).

Elliott, S. A. (2010). Walking the worlds: The experience of native psychologists in their doctoral training and practice (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (763614385).

Emery, J. A. (2011). Writing against erasure: Native american boarding school students and the periodical press, 1880–1920 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (874271457).

Eshkibok, M. J. (2014). A comparative content analysis of alcoholism treatment programs with a focus on a native treatment alternative (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1556653336).

Esqueda, C. W., Hack, L., & Tehee, M. (2010). Effects of alcohol use and anti-american indian attitudes on domestic-violence culpability decisions for american indian and euro-american actors. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 34(4), 61-76.

Executive Office of the President. (2014). 2014 Native youth report. Retrieved from: https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/20141129nativeyouthreport\_final.pdf

Exton, V. N. (2008). A qualitative case study of developing teacher identity among american indian secondary teachers from the ute teacher training program (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (193987448).

Fairbanks, A. R. (2005). Walking in two worlds: Making professional transitions between native and non-native worlds (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305435182).

Fanon, F. (2008). Black skin, white masks. Grove press.

Farris, C. T. (2013). Passing the totem: Successful high school graduation of native american students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1348696291).

Ferraro, F. R., Bercier, B. J., Holm, J., & McDonald, J. D. (2002). Preliminary normative data from a brief neuropsychological test battery in a sample of native american elderly. *Minority and cross-cultural aspects of neuropsychological assessment* (pp. 227-240). Lisse, Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger Publishers, Lisse.

Ficek, E. E. (2005). Intimate partner violence in a multi-ethnic sample of new mexico women: Prevalence and correlates (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305461152).

Figueira, A. M. (2001). Exploring american indian student-teacher relationships through reflective narratives (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304687183).

Fila, S. A., & Smith, C. (2006). Applying the theory of planned behavior to healthy eating behaviors in urban native american youth. The *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 3* doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1186/1479-5868-3-11

Fino, M. (2010). Fruit and vegetable intake and exercise practices of college students of color (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (757948057).

First Nations Development Institute. (2016). "Advancing Positive Paths for Native American Boys and Young Men: A Project Evaluation." Longmont, Colorado: First Nations Development Institute.

Fitch, D. C. (2002). Analysis of common risk factors for violent behavior in native american adolescents referred for residential treatment (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305444954).

FitzGerald, M. R. (2014). American masculinity in crisis: Cordell walker and the indianized white hero. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 38(2), 67-88.

Fletcher, S. E. (2011). Trusting homo economicus: A hermeneutical inquiry into the origin, application, and necessity of trust (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (874156631).

Foley, K., Pallas, D., Forcehimes, A. A., Houck, J. M., Bogenschutz, M. P., Keyser-Marcus, L., & Svikis, D. (2010). Effect of job skills training on employment and job seeking behaviors in an american indian substance abuse treatment sample. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 33(3), 181-192.

Foster, R. (2012). Predicting success for college students enrolled in an online, lab-based, biology course for non-majors (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1318498451). Fox, L. F. (2003). *The "other" category: Native american women faculty in academe* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305313952).

Frank, M. L., & Lester, D. (2002). Self destructive behaviors in american indian and alaska native high school youth. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 10(3), 24-32.

Freng, A., Davis, T., McCord, K., & Roussell, A. (2012). The new american gang? gangs in indian country. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 28(4), 446-464. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/1043986212458193

Frey, L. L. (2003). Use of narratives, metaphor, and relationship in the assessment and treatment of a sexually reactive native american youth. *Multicultural competencies: A guidebook of practices* (pp. 119-128). Alexandria, VA, US: Association for Multicultural Counseling & Development, Alexandria, VA.

Friedsam, D., Haug, G., Rust, M., & Lake, A. (2003). Tribal benefits counseling program: Expanding health care opportunities for tribal members. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93(10), 1634-1636. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.93.10.1634

Fulkerson, J. A., & French, S. A. (2003). Cigarette smoking for weight loss or control among adolescents: Gender and Racial/Ethnic differences. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 32(4), 306-313. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/S1054-139X(02)00566-9

Fyi...fyi. (2004, May 03, 2004). The Hispanic Outlook in Higher Education. 14. 50.

Gadhoke, P. (2012). Structure, culture, and agency: Framing a child as change agent approach for adult obesity prevention in american indian households (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1288063602).

Galindo, M. E. (2003). The journey of education: Characteristics of shoshone-bannock high school and community members on the fort hall indian reservation (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305297292).

Gacia, J. L. (Jun 2002). A values-based career intervention for at-risk native american boys Available from PsycINFO. (619969257; 2002-95012-292).

Gardenshire-Crooks, A., Collado, H., Martin, K., & Castro, A. (2010). Terms of engagement: Men of color discuss their experiences in community college. ().MDRC. 16 East 34th Street 19th Floor, New York, NY 10016-4326. Gardner, R. L. (2012). Rhetorical agency and survivance: American indians in college composition(Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1030443693).

Garland, J. (2013). Beyond the asterisk: Understanding Native students in higher education. H. J. Shotton, S. C. Lowe, & S. J. Waterman (Eds.). Stylus Publishing, LLC..

Garland, J. L. (2010). Removing the college involvement "research asterisk": Identifying and rethinking predictors of american indian college student involvement (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (762387257).

Garner, C., Byars, A., & Garner, K. (2009). A small investigation of purpose in life among reservation-dwelling native american elderly. *International Forum for Logotherapy*, 32(1), 31-36.

Garrett, M. R. (2010). Mormons, indians and lamanites: The indian student placement program, 1947-2000 (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (577618572).

Garrett, M. T., & Coll, K. M. (2005). Addiction among the native american population. *Critical incidents in addictions counseling* (pp. 83-88). Alexandria, VA, US: American Counseling Association, Alexandria, VA.

Garroutte, E. M., Sarkisian, N., & Karamnov, S. (2012). Affective interactions in medical visits: Ethnic differences among american indian older adults. Journal of Aging and Health, 24(7), 1223-1251. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/0898264312457410

Garwick, A. W., Rhodes, K. L., Peterson-Hickey, M., & Hellerstedt, W. L. (2008). Native teen voices: Adolescent pregnancy prevention recommendations. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 42(1), 81-88. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.08.004

Geffen, J. P. (2005). Fighting for life: Religion and science in the work of fish and wildlife biologists (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305004799).

Gere, A. R. (2005). Indian Heart/White man's head: Native-american teachers in indian schools, 1880-1930. *History of Education Quarterly*, 45(1), 38-65.

Gibbons, D. (2011). A question of ethics: Media literacy in youth media arts organizations (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (885364861).

Gilder, D. A., Gizer, I. R., & Ehlers, C. L. (2011). Item response theory analysis of binge drinking and its relationship to lifetime alcohol use disorder symptom severity in an american indian community sample. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 35(5), 984-995. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01429.x

Gilley, B. J. (2012). Gay american indian men's mobility and sexual sedentarism in the united states census rules of residence. *Human Organization*, 71(2), 149-156.

Gilley, B. J., & Co-Cké, J. H. (2005). Cultural investment: Providing opportunities to reduce risky behavior among gay american indian males. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, *37*(3), 293-298. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/02791072.2005.10400522

Gilley, B. J., & Keesee, M. (2007). Linking 'white oppression' and HIV/AIDS in american indian etiology: Conspiracy beliefs among AI MSMs and their peers. American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research: The Journal of the National Center, 14(1)

Gillis, K. S. (2001). A study of native american GED graduates at four tribal community colleges in north dakota (Ed.D.). Available from Pro-Quest Dissertations & Theses Global. (275923775).

Gloria, A. M., & Robinson Kurpius, S. E. (2001). Influences of self-beliefs, social support, and comfort in the university environment on the academic nonpersistence decisions of american indian undergraduates. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 7*(1), 88-102. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.7.1.88

 $\label{lem:continuous} Goette, S.\,A.\,(2009). Accessioning \textit{visions of the people (Ph.D.)}. Available \textit{from ProQuest Dissertations \& Theses Global.}\,(304952182).$ 

Gonzales, S. R. (2007). Remedial education and its relationship to academic performance and retention of students at central arizona college: A case study (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304817591).

Goodkind, J., LaNoue, M., Lee, C., Freeland, L., & Freund, R. (2012). Feasibility, acceptability, and initial findings from a community-based cultural mental health intervention for american indian youth and their families. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 40(4), 381-405. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/jcop.20517

Goodman, G. D. (2003). Elements of culture pertaining to schooling in the O'odham-piipaash indian community (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305338591). Gordon, C. L. (2003). Portrait of a native american charter school (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305344471).

Goslin, L. M. (2013). A phenomenological study of kindergarten suspension of ojibwe tribal students in two rural wisconsin public schools (D.Ed.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1357120111).

Grant, V. A. (2011). Virtual high school: Learning communities for american indian students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (929306023).

Grantham-Campbell, M. D. (2005). Recasting alaska native students: Success, failure and identity (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305433776).

Grayshield, L., Rutherford, J. J., Salazar, S. B., Mihecoby, A. L., & Luna, L. L. (2015). Understanding and healing historical trauma: The perspectives of native american elders. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling,* 37(4), 295-307. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.17744/mehc.374.02

Green, D. L. (2006). Does full-day kindergarten have significant long-term effects on student achievement? (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305356330).

Green, J. M. (2012). Intimate partner violence: Implications for northern plains and upper midwest american indian mother-daughter dyads' attachment relationships (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1030959242).

Green, J. R. (2007). Adult learning through storytelling: A study of learning strategies and philosophies of american indian storytellers (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304744627).

Greer-Williams, N. (2004). Underrepresented doctoral students: The cultural and institutional barriers that hinder their ability to graduate (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305108310).

Gregor, T. L. (2010). From captors to captives: American indian responses to popular american narrative forms (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (500143237).

Grey, A. (2014). Educated arguments: Schooling and citizenship in turn-of-thecentury tucson, arizona (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1562792519). Griffin, J. G. (2007). Student attitudes and activities that influence student achievement (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304826303).

Griffith, N. M. (2004). Traditional and non-traditional approaches to decreasing stress and improving coping among northern plains american indian college students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305167041).

Grimberg, B. I., & Gummer, E. (2013). Teaching science from cultural points of intersection. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 50(1), 12-32. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/tea.21066

Guardino, D. M. (2013). The disproportionate use of discipline: An investigation of the potential impact of school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1399994802).

 $\label{lem:condition} Guilmartin, L.\,A.\,(2002). \textit{Textiles from the steamboat bertrand: Clothing and gender on the montana mining frontier (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305442325).}$ 

Guilmino, A. J. (2007). Influential factors affecting the career success of professional northern plains native american males: A qualitative study Available from PsycINFO. (622034567; 2007-99200-509).

Gurley, D., Novins, D. K., Jones, M. C., Beals, J., Shore, J. H., & Manson, S. M. (2001). Comparative use of biomedical services and traditional healing options by american indian veterans. Psychiatric Services, 52(1), 68-74. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1176/appi.ps.52.1.68

Hack, S. M., Larrison, C. R., & Gone, J. P. (2014). American indian identity in mental health services utilization data from a rural midwestern sample. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 20*(1), 68-74. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0033349

Hackett, G. M. (2013). Challenges in a qualitative study of a tribal leader by a non-indian researcher: How a biography of a tribal leader endures time and a change in approach (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1430930610).

Haden, C. (2006). Retention of underrepresented students in engineering degree programs: An evaluation study (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304954759). Haga, C. (2011, Aug 24, 2011). 'IT'S NOT A LOGO': Proud of creation, disappointed by its fate, 'fighting sioux' artist says symbolism always intended to 'bridge all the gaps'. *McClatchy - Tribune Business News*, pp. n/a.

Hagman, L. W. (2001). Cultural self-efficacy of licensed registered nurses in new mexico (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (276254901).

Hall, D. M. (2006). Keeping hope alive: Retention of faculty of color at traditionally white four-year colleges and universities (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305334000).

Hammond, J. Q. (2003). Leadership strategies for school superintendents to increase the learning of african -american, hispanic, and native american students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305277009).

Hansen, J. C., Scullard, M. G., & Haviland, M. G. (2000). The interest structures of native american college students. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 8(2), 159-172. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/106907270000800205

Harkless, R. B. (2007). Selected south dakota native american students' perceptions of financial barriers in post-secondary education (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304818309).

Harper, F. G. (2013). The voices of female mental health professionals working with american indians with co-occurring disorders: A constructivist grounded theory (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1399177093).

Harrington, B. J. G. (2012). Navigating mainstream higher education: Examining the experiences of native students using tinto's interactionalist's model (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1022502715).

Harrington, C. E., Ni, C., Liebert, D., Wilkins-Turner, F., & Ellien, V. (2012). Predictors of employment among native americans. *Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling*, 43(4), 36-43.

Harris Badgett, T. L. (2015). Exploring an ACT preparation course as an intervention method for african american students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1734466532).

Hartzell, F. M. (2000). Contradictions in technology use: Stories from a model school (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304667297). Harwell, T. S., Moore, K. R., & Spence, M. R. (2003). Physical violence, intimate partner violence, and emotional abuse among adult american indian men and women in montana. Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory, 37(4), 297-303. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/S0091-7435(03)00136-1

Haworth, K. E. (2000). Developing cultural literacy through intercultural dialogue in ESL classes (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304652052).

 $\label{eq:hearst} Hearst, M. O., Biskeborn, K., Christensen, M., \& Cushing, C. (2013). Trends of overweight and obesity among white and american indian school children in south dakota, 1998–2010. Obesity, 21(1), E26-E32. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/oby.20022$ 

Hechenberger, D. W. (2009). Informing a transformative multicultural approach: Seeking a content form and a medium for illinois indian resources for preservice social studies teachers (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304998379).

Heinonen, N. L. (2004). Evaluation of cultural identification and coping strategies as predictors of percentage of graduate degree completed by american indian students Available from PsycINFO. (620632731; 2004-99022-303).

Hellerstedt, W. L., Peterson-Hickey, M., Rhodes, K. L., & Garwick, A. (2006). Environmental, social, and personal correlates of having ever had sexual intercourse among american indian youths. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96*(12), 2228-2234. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2004.053454

Henderson, J. A., Chubak, J., O'Connell, J., Ramos, M. C., Jensen, J., & Jobe, J. B. (2012). Design of a randomized controlled trial of a webbased intervention to reduce cardiovascular disease risk factors among remote reservation-dwelling american indian adults with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 33(4), 209-222. Hesselbrock, V. M., Segal, B., & Hesselbrock, M. N. (2000). Alcohol dependence among alaska natives entering alcoholism treatment: A gender comparison. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 61(1), 150-156.

Hill, J. S., Pace, T. M., & Robbins, R. R. (2010). Decolonizing personality assessment and honoring indigenous voices: A critical examination of the MMPI-2. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 16(1), 16-25. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0016110

Hill, K. M. (2010). The transition of youth with disabilities from the child welfare system: An analysis of state administrative data (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (840545105).

Hill, K. X. (2013). Cultural hybridization: Bicultural self-efficacy and resilience in northern plains american indians (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1501462449).

Hixon, K. S. (2002). Formal versus informal assessment of the fundamental motor skills of 4-year-old native american preschoolers (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (287880536).

Hockenberry, M. (2011). *Validation of the resilience competencies scale (RCS) for applications among american indian youth* (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1140200105).

Hoffman, A. P. (2010). Stories that matter: Native american fifth graders' responses to culturally authentic text (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (848878287).

Hogan, S. E. (2002). Strengthening identity through curriculum: A study of a custom designed curriculum at a tribally controlled community college and its impact on native american identity (Ph.D.).

Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305576468).

Holiday, J. (2006). A heuristic inquiry of three navajo women in educational leadership (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305353919).

Holm, J. E., Lilienthal, K. R., Poltavski, D. V., & Vogeltanz-Holm, N. (2013). Relationships between health behaviors and weight status in american indian and white rural children. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 29(4), 349-359. Honena, V. (2011). American indian tribal colleges: Mission statements, degrees and certificates, and american indian courses (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (883073090).

Hostetler, P. K. (2000). "Angles of vision": N. scott momaday, the native american renaissance, and effect on american identity (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (250125515).

Howarth, N. C., Murphy, S. P., Wilkens, L. R., Hankin, J. H., & Kolonel, L. N. (2006). Dietary energy density is associated with overweight status among 5 ethnic groups in the multiethnic cohort study. *Journal of Nutrition*, 136(8), 2243-2248.

Hrenko, K. A. (2010). Culture-based arts integration: An examination of carefully developed space where art and culture exist from a place of new student voice, knowledge, and discourse (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (749039623).

Huang, B. J. (2012). Navigating power and politics: Women of color senior leaders in academe (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1032967029).

Hudson, G. J. (2014). The relationship between mental health and attitudes toward seeking psychological help among american indian students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1545674544).

Hufnagel, G. (2000). Turning the world right side up: Bringing native american women into the university curriculum -- A selected interdisciplinary resource guide, 1980-2000. *Transformations*, 11(1), 35.

Hunt-Binkley, D. (2009). A comparison of educational values of native american high school students with other races Available from PsycINFO. (622090248; 2009-99230-119).

Hunter, L. (2007). Leadership approaches of principals of predominantly native american schools of the northern plains (Ed.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304809662).

Hurlock, M. T. (2008). Talking circle supervision: A group supervision format for marriage and family therapy master's students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304625615). Huyser, K. R., Sakamoto, A., & Takei, I. (2010). The persistence of racial disadvantage: The socioeconomic attainments of single-race and multi-race native americans. *Population Research and Policy Review.*, 29(4) 541-568

Im, J. M. (2007). Native english speakers' perceptions of intelligibility in the extended discourse produced by non-native speakers (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304854328).

In every U.S. state, women, including millennials, are more likely than men to live in poverty, despite gains in higher education. (2015, Apr 8, 2015).  $PR\ Newswire$ , pp. n/a.

 $Indian \ Health \ Service (2016). \ Indian \ Health \ Disparities (Fact Sheet).$   $Retrieved \ 12/8/1016 \ from: \ https://www.ihs.gov/newsroom/includes/themes/newihstheme/display_objects/documents/factsheets/ \ Disparities.pdf.$ 

 $\label{lem:construction} Jamerson, S. L. (2013). \ Looking for the goodness: Digital gamers constructing identities across social contexts (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1377700661).$ 

Jen, E. (2015). Incorporating a small-group affective curriculum model into a diverse, summer program for talented youth: A design based research study (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1782280352).

Jernigan, V. B. B., Duran, B., Ahn, D., & Winkleby, M. (2010). Changing patterns in health behaviors and risk factors related to cardiovascular disease among american indians and alaska natives. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(4), 677-683. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2009.164285

Jervis, L. L. (2009). Disillusionment, faith, and cultural traumatization on a northern plains reservation. Traumatology: An International Journal, 15(1), 11-22. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/1534765608321069

Jervis, L. L., Spicer, P., & Manson, S. M. (2003). Boredom, "trouble," and the realities of postcolonial reservation life. *Ethos, 31*(1), 38-58. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1525/eth.2003.31.1.38

Joe, J. R. (2001). Out of harmony: Health problems and young native american men. *Journal of American College Health*, 49(5), 237-242. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu. edu/10.1080/07448480109596309 Johnson v. M'Intosh, 21 U.S. (8 Wheat.) 543 (1823).

Johnson, L., Jr. (2001). Leadership qualities of a school superintendent on the diné nation from the perspectives of the diné people (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304783514).

Johnson, W. (2009). Leadership experiences of an american indian education leader serving indian students in an indian community (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (868573964).

Jones, D. J. (2011). Coparenting in extended kinship systems: African american, hispanic, asian heritage, and native american families. Coparenting: A conceptual and clinical examination of family systems (pp. 61-79). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association, Washington, DC. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/12328-003

Jones, E. A. (2013). American indian adolescents access to and involvement in in-school extracurricular activities in relation to substance use frequency and risk behaviors (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1490998056).

Jones, L. (2008). The distinctive characteristics and needs of domestic violence victims in a native american community. *Journal of Family Violence*, 23(2), 113-118. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10896-007-9132-9

Jones, L., Castellanos, J., & Cole, D. (2002). Examining the ethnic minority student experience at predominantly white institutions: A case study. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 1(1), 19-39. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/1538192702001001003

Jones, M. L., & Galliher, R. V. (2015). Daily racial microaggressions and ethnic identification among native american young adults. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 21*(1), 1-9. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0037537

Jones-Oltjenbruns, N. E. (2012). A historical case study of the arikara, hidatsa, and mandan indians at hampton normal and agricultural institute, virginia, 1878–1911 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1015379519).

Jones-Webb, R., Fabian, L. E., Harwood, E. M., Toomey, T. L., & Wagenaar, A. C. (2004). Fatal injuries associated with alcohol use among youth and adults: 1990-1998. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Substance Abuse, 14*(1), 41-60. Ka opua, H. (2013). Tenure experiences of native hawaiian women faculty (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1430294814).

Ka'ahanui, S. L. K., Jr. (2003). Native hawaiian preferences for counselor characteristics: An application of the bradley -terry -luce model for paired comparison data (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305239735).

Kahumoku, W.,III. (2000). The dynamics of cultural politics and language policy in public education: The case of native hawaiians (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304623183).

Kanell, R. U. (2000). Grandparents and other elders' role at the turn of the millennium: Their portrayal in multicultural children's literature (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304680568).

Kaufman, C. E., Black, K., Keane, E. M., Crow, C. K. B., Shangreau, C., Arthur-Asmah, R., . . . Tuitt, N. (2014). Planning for a group-randomized trial with american indian youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *54*(3, Suppl), S59-S63. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j. jadohealth.2013.12.028

Kaufman, C. E., Desserich, J., Crow, C. K. B., Rock, B. H., Keane, E., & Mitchell, C. M. (2007). Culture, context, and sexual risk among northern plains american indian youth. *Social Science & Medicine*, 64(10), 2152-2164. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j. socscimed.2007.02.003

Kaufman, C. E., PhD, Litchfield, A., BA, Schupman, E., MM, & Mitchell, C. M., PhD. (2012). Circle of life hiv/aids-prevention intervention for american indian and alaska native youth. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research (Online)*, 19(1), 140-53.

Kawulich, B. B., & Curlette, W. L. (1998). Life tasks and the Native American perspective. Journal of Individual Psychology 54 (3), 359-345

Kealoha, C. (2012). Going to college: Experiences of native hawaiian students (Psy.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1269730702).

Kelley, W. P. (2001). Pueblo individuals who are D /deaf: Acceptance in the home community, the dominant society, and the deaf community (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304720820).

Kent, J. (2002, Apr 11, 2002). Imagery of leadership. *The Native Voice*, pp. 2. Kicking Woman, C. L. (2011). The tribal college movement: Ensuring that native american students successfully complete an associate degree and persist to earn a four-year degree (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (874080369).

Kimura-Walsh, E. F. (2009). Balancing the values of ethnic studies and academe: Exploring efforts to advance the organizational stability of american indian and asian american studies (Ph.D.). Available from Ethnic NewsWatch, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304854867).

King, K. A., Vidourek, R. A., & Hill, M. K. (2014). Recent alcohol use and episodic heavy drinking among american indian youths. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 23(5), 334-346. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/1067828X.2014.928117

King, P. J. (2005, Sep 14, 2005). Grants support teacher training programs. *Indian Country Today*, pp. 36.

Kirkland, J., Jr. (2002). College students' perceptions of classroom experiences /environments: A collective case study relative to diversity /multiculturalism (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (275699672).

Korkow, J. (2008). *Native american success in college* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304458804).

Korpi, S. D. (2015). "We were always brothers": Natives of the americas in (east) german children's literature (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1697922502).

Krech, P. R. (2002). Envisioning a healthy future: A re-becoming of native american men. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 29(1), 77-95.

Krogman, C. (2013). Native american high school seniors' perceptions of higher education: Motivating and demotivating factors (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1464388924).

Kulis, S., & Brown, E. F. (2011). Preferred drug resistance strategies of urban american indian youth of the southwest. *Journal of Drug Education*, 41(2), 203-234. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2190/DE 41.2 a

Kulis, S., Okamoto, S. K., Rayle, A. D., & Sen, S. (2006). Social contexts of drug offers among american indian youth and their relationship to substance use: An exploratory study. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 12*(1), 30-44. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib. asu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.12.1.30

Kupo, V. L. (2010). What is hawaiian?: Explorations and understandings of native hawaiian college women's identities (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (745676095).

Kwok, L., Fowler, D. C.,  $\$  Yuan, J. (2010). Summer camps as a means to recruit prospective college students. Event Management, 14(2), 149-156. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.3727/15259951 OX12766070301000

LaBoone, K. L. (2006). *Minority students' transition experiences at a predominantly white institution* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304968254).

Lapidus, J. A., Smith, N. H., Lutz, T., & Ebel, B. E. (2013). Trends and correlates of child passenger restraint use in 6 northwest tribes: The native children always ride safe (native CARS) project. *American Journal of Public Health, 103*(2), 355-361. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib. asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300834

LaRocque, A. (2004). Psychological distress between american indian and majority culture college students regarding the use of the fighting sioux nickname and logo (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305167119).

Larsen, T. M. (2013). From carlisle to bradford: The media stereotypes, football, and american indians (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1520789837).

Lautenschlager, L., & Smith, C. (2006). Low-income american indians' perceptions of diabetes. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *38*(5), 307-315. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j.ineb.2006.04.004

Lawrence, A. (2006). Unraveling the white man's burden: A critical microhistory of federal indian education policy implementation at santa clara pueblo, 1902--1907 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305335704).

Lee, S. B. (2011). Relationships among body mass index, nutrition, internalizing symptoms, and ethnic identity of cherokee youth attending a private native american secondary school (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (924459440).

Lefler, E. K., Hartung, C. M., Bartgis, J., & Thomas, D. G. (2015). ADHD symptoms in american Indian/Alaska native boys and girls. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 22(2), 23-40. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.5820/aian.2202.2015.23

Lehavot, K., Walters, K. L., & Simoni, J. M. (2009). Abuse, mastery, and health among lesbian, bisexual, and two-spirit american indian and alaska native women. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 15*(3), 275-284. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0013458

Lehavot, K., Walters, K. L., & Simoni, J. M. (2010). Abuse, mastery, and health among lesbian, bisexual, and two-spirit american indian and alaska native women. *Psychology of Violence*, 1(S), 53-67. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/2152-0828.1.8.53

Lesky, M. J. (2008). Cross-generational past school experiences of american indians from a single reservation in the southwest united states (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304526529).

Lewis, S. (2004, Nov 10, 2004). Apache man lauded for efforts to fight HIV. *Native American Times*, pp. 6.

Limb, G. E., & Hodge, D. R. (2010). Helping child welfare workers improve cultural competence by utilizing spiritual genograms with native american families and children. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(2), 239-245. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu. edu/10.1016/j.childyouth.2009.08.021

Lindauer, M. A. (2002). Museum rememory: Imagining an (im)possible exhibition in the future of its past (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304794268).

Lindquist Mala, C. A. (2006). Campus racial climate as perceived by undergraduate american indian students attending the university of north dakota (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305288780).

Lino, T. K. (2010). The relationship of a culturally relevant and responsive learning environment to achievement motivation for native hawaiian secondary students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (375483891).

Linton, K. F. (2015). Interpersonal violence and traumatic brain injuries among native americans and women. *Brain Injury, 29*(5), 639-643. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.3109/02699052.2014.98

Listug-Lunde, L. B. (2004). A cognitive -behavioral treatment for depression in native american middle-school students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305166896). Looking for top engineering school. (2000, Jun 30, 2000). Hispanic Times Magazine, 22, 34.

Lopenzina, D. (2003). "Good indian": Charles eastman and the warrior as civil servant. American Indian Quarterly, 27(3)

Lotta, C. C. (2001). A values -based career intervention for talented, at -risk navajo adolescent girls (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (251637397).

Louderback, P. J. (2008). Comparison of the predictive validity of traditional intellectual measures and sociocultural factors on american indian student academic achievement (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (287954459).

Lovato, C. A. (2014). An evaluation of the achievement gap between native american and white students in gallup McKinley county schools (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1504640220).

Lowry, D. S. (2010). "I know you!": Understanding racial experience within the lumbee indian community (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (750061892).

Lucas, S. K. (2006). Walking two worlds: Integrating lumbee indian values and practices in education (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305352778).

Lucero, N. M. (2009). "Creating an indian space in the city": Development, maintenance, and evolution of cultural identity and cultural connectedness among multiple generations of urban american indians (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304872433)

Luna de la Rosa, M. (2005). Making a difference: Diverse college faculty and factors influencing student engagement (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305008169).

Lundberg, C. A. (2007). Student involvement and institutional commitment to diversity as predictors of native american student learning. Journal of College Student Development, 48(4), 405-417. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1353/csd.2007.0039

Mack, C. E. (2005). A study of mentoring historically underrepresented male students on a community college campus using a multiple worlds framework (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (917742425).

Magleby, D. J. (2000). Race, class, and gender in a one-teacher school (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304628200). Makomenaw, M. V. A. (2010). Tribal college transfer student success at four-year predominantly white institutions (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (745660977).

Manlove, S. L. (2004). When minority women lead: How leadership practices of women of color administrators influence the institutional culture in their community colleges (Ph.D.). Available from ABI/IN-FORM Complete, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305041427).

Manuelito-Kerkvliet, C. (2005). Widening the circle: Mentoring and the learning process for american indian women in tribal college administration (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305452675).

Manzo, K., Tiesman, H., Stewart, J., Hobbs, G. R., & Knox, S. S. (2015). A comparison of risk factors associated with suicide ideation/attempts in american indian and white youth in montana. Archives of *Suicide Research*, 19(1), 89-102. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.10 80/13811118.2013.840254

Marchetti, K. (2014). "This revolting trade": Native american slavery in territorial new mexico (M.S.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1660978157).

Marcus, U. A. (2011). Barriers and factors influencing persistence for first-year american indian students who participated in a university summer bridge program (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (886770156).

Marsiglia, F. F., Nieri, T., & Stiffman, A. R. (2006). HIV/AIDS protective factors among urban american indian youths. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 17(4), 745-758. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1353/hpu.2006.0128

Martin, C. (2013). The influence of negative educational experiences on health behaviors among gender nonconforming american Indian/Alaska native people (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1440134357).

Martin, S. M. (2015). Exploring the impact and benefits of a health education program at turtle mountain (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1700208784).

Martinez, N. C. (2010). Secondary schooling and indigenous pueblo youth: Dynamics of power (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (853648122). Maruyama, N. U., Yen, T., & Stronza, A. (2008). Perception of authenticity of tourist art among native american artists in santa fe, new mexico. International Journal of Tourism Research, 10(5), 453-466. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/jtr.680

Mason, M. C. (2001). Policies and practices at arizona state university promoting positive campus climate and student freedom of speech (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (252271543).

Massalski, D. C. (2009). Cognitive development and creativity in a navajo university student: An explorative case study using multiple intelligence perspective (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304846784).

Matamonasa-Bennett, A. (2005). Wounded warriors: Narratives on domestic violence from native american men Available from PsycINFO. (621055159; 2005-99018-014).

Matamonasa-Bennett, A. (2013). 'Until people are given the right to be human again': Voices of american indian men on domestic violence and traditional cultural values. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 37(4), 25-52.

Matamonasa-Bennett, A. (2015). "A disease of the outside people": Native american men's perceptions of intimate partner violence. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 39*(1), 20-36. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1177/0361684314543783

Matsumoto, D. H. K. (2010). Factors affecting native hawaiian student persistence in higher education (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (375523398).

Matthews, J. R. (2005). Killing a culture to save a race: Writing and resisting the discourse of the carlisle indian school (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304998780).

Mauer, K. W. (2014). Landscapes of disadvantage: The structure of american indian poverty from the reservation to the metropolis in the early 21st century (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1561546272).

Maynor, P. J. (2011). Bourdieu's habitus and the educational achievement of north carolina's american indian students: An empirical investigation (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (882881118).

McCaffery, A. (2012). American indian students: An exploration of their experiences in doctoral programs (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1143532892). McCaffrey, D. F., Longshore, D. L., Ellickson, P. L., & Spear, S. (2005). Prevalence of substance use among white and american indian young adolescents in a northern plains state. (No. RP-1313).RAND Corporation, P.O. Box 2138, Santa Monica, CA, 90407-2138, [mailto:Iao\_Katagiri@rand.org], [URL:http://rand.org/].

McClellan, G. S. (2003). Multiculturalism as a "technology of othering":An exploratory study of the social construction of native americans by student affairs professionals in the southwest (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305338797).

McFall, S. L., Solomon, T. G. A., & Smith, D. W. (2000). Health-related quality of life of older native american primary care patients. *Research on Aging*, 22(6), 692-714. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/0164027500226005

McIntosh, D. R. (2005). Circle of learning: Cultural aspects of american indian HIV/AIDS prevention (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305366697).

McLeod, M. (2002). KEEPING THE CIRCLE STRONG: Learning about native american leadership. *Tribal College, 13*(4), 10.

McMurrer, J., & Kober, N. (2011). State test score trends through 2008-09, part 5: Progress lags in high school, especially for advanced achievers. (). Center on Education Policy. 1001 Connecticut Avenue NW Suite 522, Washington, DC 20036.

Mead, C. M. (2014). Zeziikizit kchinchinaabe A relational understanding of anishinaabemowin history (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1540513989).

Mendez, J. P., Mendoza, P., & Malcolm, Z. (2011). The impact of financial aid on native american students. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 4(1), 12-25. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0021202

Mendivil, M. G. (2013). When jessica does fractions in school, she pictures herself in the kitchen baking with mom: A study of the power of storytelling and pedagogies of the home and their influence on the critical thinking and learning styles of urban mexican American/Chicana(o) and native american children (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1412677953).

Meranto, O. J. (2001). From buckskin to calico and back again: A historical interpretation of american indian feminism. New Political Science, 23(3), 333-349. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu. edu/10.1080/07393140120080976 Mesnick, S., & Maldonado, E. (2006). Efforts to increase participation of traditionally underrepresented groups in marine biodiversity and conservation American Geophysical Union, 2000 Florida Ave., N.W. Washington DC 20009 USA, [URL:http://www.agu.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/pubs/agu\_joureos.html].

Minorities have '50-50' chance of graduating high school, study finds. (2004). Black Issues in Higher Education, 21(3), 9.

Mischner, S. (2010). Econometric models of high school graduation: Usint test score data to project high school graduation rates (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (858964356).

Mohatt, G. V. (2010). Moving toward an indigenous psychotherapy. Counseling Psychologist, 38(2), 236-242.

Monago, E. A. (2008). University diversity training needs assessment: The perspectives of african, Latina/o, asian, pacific islander, and native american students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304690947).

Moon, S. S., Blakey, J. M., Boyas, J., Horton, K., & Kim, Y. J. (2014). The influence of parental, peer, and school factors on marijuana use among native american adolescents. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 40(2), 147-159. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/01488376. 2013.865578

Moore-Thomas, C. J. (2000). Minority middle school students' willingness to self-refer to school counselors for social and personal counseling (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304626829).

Morgan, H. F. (2001). Sources of empowerment for native american women: Pomo women's critical reflections (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304791228).

Morgan, K. F. (2002). A study of the responses of fourth grade, public school students to the same story read independently, read aloud, and told orally as a shared storytelling experience (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305456371).

Morrier, M. J. (2008). Disproportionate representation of preschool-aged children with disabilities (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (89134712). Morris, G. D., Wood, P. B., & Dunaway, R. G. (2007). Traditionalism or low self-control?: Explaining the healthrisk behaviors of american indian youth. Sociological Inquiry, 77(2), 194-218. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1475-682X.2007.00187.x

Morton, D. J., Garrett, M., Reid, J., & Wingard, D. L. (2008). Current smoking and type 2 diabetes among patients in selected indian health service clinics, 1998-2003. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(3), 560-565. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2006.104042

Mott, R. K. (2001). Digitally exploring tayo's world: Using hypertextual tools to teach leslie marmon silko's "Ceremony" (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (276216230).

Murphy, L. E. (2008). Their women quite industrious miners": Native american lead mining in the upper mississippi valley, 1788-1832. *Enduring nations: Native americans in the midwest* (pp. 36-53). Champaign, IL, US: University of Illinois Press, Champaign, IL.

Muus, K. J., Baker-Demaray, T., McDonald, L. R., Ludtke, R. L., Allery, A. J., Bogart, A. T., . . . Buchwald, D. S. (2009). Body mass index and cancer screening in older american indian and alaska native men. *Journal of Rural Health*, 25(1), 104-108.

Myhra, L. L., & Wieling, E. (2014). Psychological trauma among american indian families: A two-generation study. Journal of Loss and Trauma, 19(4), 289-313. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1 080/15325024.2013.771561

Nadeau, M., Blake, N., Poupart, J., Rhodes, K., & Forster, J. L. (2012). Circles of tobacco wisdom: Learning about traditional and commercial tobacco with native elders. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(5, Suppl 3), S222-S228. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu. edu/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.08.003

Nakano, S. (2011). Factor structure of the wechsler intelligence scales for children-fourth edition among referred native american students (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (904156696).

Napoleon, A. K. N. (2004). *The ho'oponopono: The journey* (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305196101).

National Congress of American Indians. (2012). Demographic profile of Indian country. Research Policy Center. Retrieved from: http://www.ncai.org/policy-research-center/research-data/bb\_2012\_november\_demograpHic\_profile.pdf.

National Indian Education Association. (n.d.). Native nations and American schools: The history of Natives in the American education system. National Education Association. Retrieved from: http://www.niea.org/our-story/history/native-101/.

Neault, N., Mullany, B., Powers, J., Coho-Mescal, V., Parker, S., Walkup, J., & Barlow, A. (2012). Fatherhood roles and drug use among young american indian men. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse, 38*(5), 395-402. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.3109/009 52990.2012.703735

Nebelkopf, E., & Wright, S. (2011). Holistic system of care: A ten-year perspective. Journal of Psychoactive Drugs, 43(4), 302-308. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/02791072.2011.628922

Nelson, K. M., Simoni, J. M., Pearson, C. R., & Walters, K. L. (2011). 'I've had unsafe sex so many times why bother being safe now?': The role of cognitions in sexual risk among american Indian/Alaska native men who have sex with men. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 42(3), 370-380. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s12160-011-9302-0

Nelson, L. (2007). Tribal college culture-based education impacts american indian students in north dakota (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304834323).

Nelson-Majewski, L. (2015). The association of resilience with cardiovascular disease among members of the cowlitz indian tribe (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1766301001).

Neuerburg, L. L. (2000). An interview study of educational success among american indian doctoral recipients (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304610935).

Neuman, L. K. (2002). *Recapturing culture: American indian identities at bacone college, 1927–1955* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304798231).

Neville, A. L. (Sep 2000). Native american students' self-perceptions regarding gardner's multiple intelligences (howard gardner) Available from PsycINFO. (619559460; 2000-95017-173).

Nichols, P. D. (2015). *Insider perspectives on the school dropout crisis* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1757512991).

Nixon, S. J., Phillips, M., & Tivis, R. (2000). Characteristics of american-indian clients seeking inpatient treatment for substance abuse. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 61(4), 541-547. Novins, D. K., Beals, J., & Mitchell, C. M. (2001). Sequences of substance use among american indian adolescents. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 40(10), 1168-1174. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib. asu.edu/10.1097/00004583-200110000-00010

Oatman, B. J. (2015). Culturally sustaining pedagogy in a science classroom: The phenomenology of the pit house (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1752386417).

O'Connell, J., Novins, D. K., Beals, J., Croy, C., Barón, A. E., Spicer, P., & Buchwald, D. (2006). The relationship between patterns of alcohol use and mental and physical health disorders in two american indian populations. *Addiction*, 101(1), 69-83. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01308.x

O'Connor, G. T., Lind, B. K., Lee, E. T., Nieto, F. J., Redline, S., Samet, J. M., . . . Foster, G. L. (2003). Variation in symptoms of sleep-disordered breathing with race and ethnicity: The sleep heart health study. Sleep: *Journal of Sleep and Sleep Disorders Research*, 26(1), 74-79.

Okakok, L. (1989). Serving the purpose of education. Harvard Educational Review, 59(4), 405-423.

Oltrogge, M. P. (2010). A history and case study at a selected tribal college (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305265105).

Omahen, A. (2014). Obesity among young american indian adults in north dakota (M.S.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1654782518).

Omuro-Yamamoto, L. K. (2001). Ho'oponopono: A phenomenological investigation of a native hawaiian harmony restoration process for families (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (231204175).

Ongtooguk, P. (2001). Remarks at the alaska native education summit (anchorage, AK, november 30,2001)

O'Reilly Foran, M. (2007). Representational status of minority students in special education in the state of rhode island (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304816484).

Orona, C. C. (2013). Efficacy and utility beliefs of mothers and children as predictors of mathematics achievement for american indian students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1465436820). Our voice, your voice, one voice: Nurturing american indian families for school success (2004). Paakspuu, L. K. (2014). Rhetorics of colonialism in visual documentation (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1637659496).

Pace, T. M., Robbins, R. R., Choney, S. K., Hill, J. S., Lacey, K., & Blair, G. (2006). A cultural-contextual perspective on the validity of the MMPI-2 with american indians. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 12(2), 320-333. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.12.2.320

Padgett, G. (2012). A critical case study of selected united states history textbooks from A tribal critical race theory perspective (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1272344612).

Paris, D. G. (2012). Factors that influence the leadership development of american indian deaf women (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1095108571).

Parisien, S. (2014). Relational aggression among caucasian and northern plains american indian school children (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1655360804).

Parker, A. C. (1916). The social elements of the Indian problem. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 22(2), 252-267.

Paskus, L. (2011). Retention strategies rely upon tradition, innovation. Tribal College, 22(4), 8-9. Patchell, B. A. (2011). Native american indian adolescents: Response to a culturally tailored, school-based substance abuse intervention (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1243423302).

Patterson, D. R. (2013). Integration and validation in hybrid-online teacher preparation: A case study of persistence in a native american special education licensure program (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1496776261).

Patterson, J. (2005, Apr 21, 2005). Club names yazzie student of the year. *Navajo Times*, pp. C1.

Patton, J. S. (2012). A descriptive study of african american male students at peaks university (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1019989171).

Peacock, R. B. (2002). The perceptions and experiences of american indian high school graduates and dropouts (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305511334).

Pearson, C. R., Walters, K. L., Simoni, J. M., Beltran, R., & Nelson, K. M. (2013). a cautionary tale: Risk reduction strategies among urban american indian/alaska native men who have sex with men. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, 25(1), 25-37.

Pedro, T. S. (2015). Silence as weapons: Transformative praxis among native american students in the urban southwest. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 48(4), 511-528. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/10665684.2015.1083915

Peltier, A. E. (2015). Addressing cervical cancer disparities among american indian women: Implementing an educational module for healthcare providers (D.N.P.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1669974091).

Pember, M. A. (2011). Circle of strength: Tribal colleges aim to recruit and retain native male students.  $Tribal\ College\ Journal\ of\ American\ Indian\ Higher\ Education,\ 22(4),\ 0.$ 

Pember, M. A. (2011). Circle of strength: Tribal colleges aim to recruit and retain native male students. *Tribal College Journal of American Indian Higher Education*, 22(4), 0.

Pember, M. A. (2011). Natural talent. Diverse Issues in Higher Education, 28(1), 6.

Peralez, E. (2014). *Native american student resiliency within southwest-ern tribal colleges* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1524003222).

Perry, C., & Hoffman, B. (2010). Assessing tribal youth physical activity and programming using a community-based participatory research approach. *Public Health Nursing*, 27(2), 104-114. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1525-1446.2010.00833.x

Pete-Willett, S. M. (2001). *Kiskinawacihcikana: Aboriginal women faculty experiences in the academy* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304686380).

Pettingell, S. L., Bearinger, L. H., Skay, C. L., Resnick, M. D., Potthoff, S. J., & Eichhorn, J. (2008). Protecting urban american indian young people from suicide. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 32(5), 465-476. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.5993/AJHB.32.5.2

Picou, R. (2015). School connectedness and racial-ethnic identity among alaska native students: An explanatory sequential mixed methods study (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1710095992).

Pitcock, R. L. (2000). "Let the youths beware!": The sponsorship of early 19th-century native american literacy Pitcock, R. L. (2001). Regulating illiterates: Uncommon schooling at the choctaw academy, 1825-1848 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304700464).

Plested, B. A. (2002). *Inhalant abuse: Social characteristics and their link to effective prevention* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304796714).

Plumm, K. M., Terrance, C. A., & Austin, A. (2014). Not all hate crimes are created equal: An examination of the roles of ambiguity and expectations in perceptions of hate crimes. Current Psychology: A *Journal for Diverse Perspectives on Diverse Psychological Issues*, 33(3), 321-364. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s12144-014-9215-8

Polzin, P. E., & O'Donnell, D. (2004). Economic status of american indians in montana: A preliminary assessment. *Montana Business Quarterly*, 42(4), 2-9.

Powell, F. J. (2004). Assessing the identity of black indians in louisiana: A quantitative and qualitative analysis (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305170172).

Prewett, B. M. (2011). Native americans and the minnesota multiphasic personality inventory (MMPI-2): Continuing to extend native american norms (Psy.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (884720748).

Pyterek, M. M. (2006). How can a teacher begin to help her kindergarten students gain "authentic" cultural understandings about native north americans through children's literature?(Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304923384).

Quash-Mah, S., Stockard, J., Johnson-Shelton, D., & Crowley, R. (2010). Fulfilling the hope of ICWA: The role of community context. *Children and Youth Services Review, 32*(6), 896-901. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.02.011

Ramsey, J. (2014). "Aho! all my relations": Native identity and its relationship to psychological well-being (Psy.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1660200210).

Rayle, A. D., Kulis, S., Okamoto, S. K., Tann, S. S., LeCroy, C. W., Dustman, P., & Burke, A. M. (2006). Who is offering and how often? gender differences in drug offers among american indian adolescents of the southwest. *The Journal of Early Adolescence, 26*(3), 296-317. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/0272431606288551

Redgrave, C. J. (2013). Indian education: Causal comparative research of oral reading fluency for native american first graders (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1348693602).

Reese, D. A. (2001). *Native americans in picture books recommended for early childhood classrooms, 1945–1999* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (250973242).

Reid, J. L. (2009). Obesity and associated cardiovascular disease risk factors: The impact on american indians residing in southern california, 2002--2006 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305059248).

Reifel, N., Bayhylle, R., Harada, N., & Villa, V. (2009). American indian veterans' views about their choices in health care: VA, IHS, and medicare. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 33(3), 23-33.

Reilly, S. M. (2014). On the front lines in the classroom: The careers of white and american indian women teachers at the carlisle indian school, 1875-1933 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1624889062).

Ressler, K. M. (2008). The path to leadership for native american women at north dakota tribal colleges (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304831501).

Reyes, M. E. (2001). Tortured victory or joyful accomplishment? successful eskimo and latina college students. *Race, Gender & Class, 8*(1), 82.

Reyes, R. F. (2002). A hermeneutic phenomenology of non-indian participation in american indian religious ceremonies (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305489927).

Rhea, J. M. (2012). Women and the construction of american indian scholarship, 1830–1941 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1282369044).

Rhoades, E. R. (2003). The health status of american indian and alaska native males. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*(5), 774-778. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.93.5.774

Ricci, C. L., Brown, B. D., Noonan, C., Harris, K. J., Dybdal, L., Parker, M., & Gress, S. (2012). Parental influence on obesity in northern plains american indian youth. Family & Community Health: The Journal of Health Promotion & Maintenance, 35(1), 68-75. Riggs, L. A. (2008). The church of jesus christ of latter-day saints' indian student placement service: A history (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304433650).

Rink, E., Anastario, M. P., & FourStar, K. (2015). Perceived level of relationship commitment, sexual risk taking and condom use among american indian men. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 17(4), 1078-1085. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10903-014-0058-z

Rink, E., FourStar, K., Elk, J. M., Dick, R., Jewett, L., & Gesink, D. (2012). Pregnancy prevention among american indian men ages 18-24: The role of mental health and intervention to use birth control. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 19(1), 57-75. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.5820/aian.1901.2012.57

Rink, E., FourStar, K., Elk, J. M., Dick, R., Jewett, L., & Gesink, D. (2012). Young native american men and their intention to use family planning services. *American Journal of Men's Health, 6*(4), 324-330. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/1557988312439226

Rink, E., FourStar, K., Elk, J. M., Dick, R., Jewett, L., & Gesink, D. (2012). Young native american men and their intention to use family planning services. *American Journal of Men's Health, 6*(4), 324-330. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1177/1557988312439226

Robbins, R., & Hong, J. Y. (2013). Building bridges between spirituality and psychology: An indigenous healer's teachings about befriending the self. *Journal of Transpersonal Psychology*, 45(2), 172-197.

Robbins, R., Robbins, S., & Stennerson, B. (2013). Native american family resilience. *Handbook of family resilience* (pp. 197-213). New York, NY, US: Springer Science + Business Media, New York, NY. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/978-1-4614-3917-2\_12

Roberts, E. S. (2015). Art, life story and cultural memory: Profiles of the artists of the lewis and clark bicentennial (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1695285998).

Roberts, K. L. (2000). Two life histories of native american women becoming literate (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304624466).

Robin, R. W., Gottesman, I. I., Albaugh, B., & Goldman, D. (2007). Schizophrenia and psychotic symptoms in families of two american indian tribes. *BMC Psychiatry*, 7'doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1186/1471-244X-7-30

Robin, R. W., Greene, R. L., Albaugh, B., Caldwell, A., & Goldman, D. (2003). Use of the MMPI-2 in american indians: I. comparability of the MMPI-2 between two tribes and with the MMPI-2 normative group.  $Psychological \ Assessment, 15 (3), 351-359. \ doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1040-3590.15.3.351$ 

Rocheleau, S. E. (2004). Effect of non-cognitive and social environmental factors on the retention of under-represented minority students in engineering and technology -related disciplines (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305178923).

Rodenburg, F. A. (2012). *Native american secondary female students'* perspectives on school success (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1112842735).

Rogers-Stellpflug, N. (2014). Exploring career development experiences of american indian educators becoming K-12 school teachers (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1554686457).

Rohde, M. (2010). Living and working in the enchanted lands: American indian tourism labor, development, and activism, 1900-1970 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (868856309).

Rombough, S., & Keithly, D. C. (2005). Native americans, the feudal system, and the protestant work ethic: A unique view of the reservation. *Race, Gender & Class, 12*(2), 104-120.

Ross, R. J.Native american cultural participation and post-traumatic stress symptom reduction Available from Sociological Abstracts. (1767330896; 201606553).

Ross, T., Kena, G., Rathbun, A., KewalRamani, A., Zhang, J., Kristapovich, P., & Manning, E. (2012). Higher Education: Gaps in Access and Persistence Study. Statistical Analysis Report. NCES 2012-046. National Center for Education Statistics.

Ross, T., Kena, G., Rathbun, A., KewalRamani, A., Zhang, J., Kristapovich, P., & Manning, E. (2012). *Higher education: Gaps in access and persistence study. statistical analysis report. NCES 2012-046* National Center for Education Statistics. , P.O. Box 1398, Jessup, MD 20794-1398.

Rougas, M. E. (2000). A cognitive profile of mohawk adolescents using the woodcock -johnson tests of cognitive ability -revised (Psy.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304651117).

Ruberg, R. S. (2008). In or out? predictors of educational attainment in american indian youth (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304387682). Ruhl, M. (2011). "Forward you must go": Chemawa indian boarding school and student activism in the 1960s and 1970s (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (884964161).

Ryan, R. S. (2002). *The healing road: A psychoeducational video on native american mental health issues* (Psy.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305483837).

Sabin, J. A., Moore, K., Noonan, C., Lallemand, O., & Buchwald, D. (2015). Clinicians' implicit and explicit attitudes about weight and race and treatment approaches to overweight for american indian children. Childhood Obesity, 11(4), 456-465.

Saftner, M. A. (2011). *Urban american indian adolescent girls: Framing sexual risk behavior* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (920612469).

Sage house collecting boarding school stories. (2003, May 1, 2003). Wind River News, pp. 12.

Saiduddin, J. (2003). Factors affecting achievement at a junior high school on the pine ridge reservation, south dakota (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305303689).

Salabiye-Gishey, L. (2014). Barriers and supports of female school administrators of primarily native american students (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1609717876).

Saliba, D., Kramer, B. J., Wang, M., Jouldjian, S., Lee, M. L., & Finke, B. (2009). Veterans health administration and indian health service: Healthcare utilization by indian health service enrollees. *Medical Care*, 47(6), 670-676.

San Pedro, T. J. (2013). Understanding youth cultures, stories, and resistances in the urban southwest: Innovations and implications of a native american literature classroom (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1351985939).

Sand, M. H. (2005). Job satisfaction characteristics of full-time faculty members at montana tribal colleges (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305426534).

Santos, C. (2015). Native patient navigators: Lived experiences along the cancer continuum - identity, community of practice, border crossing and bridge making (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1682049084). Saunders, C. T. (2011). Native american tribal colleges and universities: Issues and problems impacting students in the achievement of educational goals (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (920010802).

Sawchuk, C. N., Bogart, A., Charles, S., Goldberg, J., Forquera, R., Roy-Byrne, P., & Buchwald, D. (2008). Education is associated with physical activity among american indian elders. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 15(1), 1-17. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.5820/aian.1501.2008.1

Schmid, H. A. (. (2002). Building supportive community organizations for native youth: A case study of a facilities-based youth organization in indian country (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305496185).

Schultz, L. (2005). The relationship of educational level, reservation status and blood quantum with anger and post-colonial stress among american indians (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305364947).

Schweigman, K., Soto, C., Wright, S., & Unger, J. (2011). The relevance of cultural activities in ethnic identity among california native american youth. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 43(4), 343-348. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/02791072.2011.629155

Scott, W. D., Dearing, E., Reynolds, W. R., Lindsay, J. E., Baird, G. L., & Hamill, S. (2008). Cognitive self-regulation and depression: Examining academic self-efficacy and goal characteristics in youth of a northern plains tribe. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 18*(2), 379-394. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2008.00564.x

Secatero, S. L. (2009). Beneath our sacred minds, hands and hearts: Stories of persistence and success among american indian graduate and professional students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304948239).

Shadowwalker, D. M. (2012). Where have all the indians gone? american indian representation in secondary history textbooks (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1015663135).

Shafer, K. J. (2005). Use of cognitive interview techniques in the development of fruit and vegetable nutrition education for low-income american indians aged 18-24 years (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304993723). Sheppard, D. D. (2007). Understanding how highly involved minority parents sustain their involvement in their child's education (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304815560).

Shore, J. H., Brooks, E., Savin, D. M., Manson, S. M., & Libby, A. M. (2007). An economic evaluation of telehealth data collection with rural populations. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(6), 830-835. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1176/appi.ps.58.6.830

Shore, J. H., Savin, D., Orton, H., Beals, J., & Manson, S. M. (2007). Diagnostic reliability of telepsychiatry in american indian veterans. The *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(1), 115-118. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1176/appi.ajp.164.1.115

Shotton, H. J. (2008). *Pathway to the ph.D.: Experiences of high-achieving american indian females* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304485597).

Simms, M. L. (2002). *Native american women's views of school leader-ship* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305477761)

Simoni, J. M., Walters, K. L., Balsam, K. F., & Meyers, S. B. (2006). Victimization, substance use, and HIV risk behaviors among gay/bisexual/two-spirit and heterosexual american indian men in new york city. American Journal of Public Health, 96(12), 2240-2245. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2004.054056

Sinley, R. C. (2015). Exploring fruit and vegetable consumption among native american toddlers: A mixed methods study (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1729409205).

SiTanka university in huron, SD offering scholarships to NABI 2003 athletes. (2003, Jun 27, 2003). *The Native Voice*, pp. D1.

Sitting Crow, K. P. (2013). Tribal colleges and universities in the 21st century: Native american female leadership in tribal higher education (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1461465228).

Skelly, M. E. A. (2004). Campus climate and diversity issues: Listening to students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305160800). Skinner-Coleman, A. (2015). A quantitative study of dropout and suspension rates of native american high school students enrolled in title VII and non-title VII school districts (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1733656307).

Slattery, M. L., Murtaugh, M. A., Lanier, A. P., Ma, K., Ferucci, E. D., Etzel, R. A., & Edwards, S. (2009). Family health history and health behaviors in alaska native and american indian people. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 20(3), 678-694. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1353/hpu.0.0191

Slivka, K. R. (2013). *Ojibwe arts relationships: Traversing cultural emplacements* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1765193056).

Smith, C. B. (2009). Disparities in lung cancer stage, treatment and survival among american indians and alaskan natives (M.S.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305166425).

Smith, J. L., Cech, E., Metz, A., Huntoon, M., & Moyer, C. (2014). Giving back or giving up: Native american student experiences in science and engineering. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 20*(3), 413-429. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/a0036945

Smith-Hunt, A. P. (2001). Uncharted territory: The shared experiences of adult minority distance learners (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (251682422).

Smokowski, P. R., Evans, C. B. R., Cotter, K. L., & Webber, K. C. (2014). Ethnic identity and mental health in american indian youth: Examining mediation pathways through self-esteem, and future optimism. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(3), 343-355. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxyl.lib.asu.edu/10.1007/s10964-013-9992-7

Solis, S. E. (2011). "To preserve our heritage and our identity": The creation of the chicano indian american student union at the university of iowa in 1971 (Ph.D.). Available from Ethnic NewsWatch, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (894767316).

Solyom, J. A. (2014). The (in)visibility paradox: A case study of american indian iconography and student resistance in higher education (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1625403284).

Spears, B., Sanchez, D., Bishop, J., Rogers, S., & DeJong, J. A. (2006). Level 2 therapeutic model site. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research (Online), 13*(2), 52-78. Spears, D. L., & Boger, C. A., Jr. (2003). Residents' perceptions and attitudes towards native american gaming (NAG) in kansas: Demographics, policies & future development. UNLV Gaming Research & Review Journal, 7(2), 13-24.

Spillane, N. S., & Smith, G. T. (2007). A theory of reservation-dwelling american indian alcohol use risk. *Psychological Bulletin*, *133*(3), 395-418. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/0033-2909.133.3.395

Sprague, J. R., Vincent, C. G., Tobin, T. J., & CHiXapkaid (Michael Pavel). (2013). Preventing disciplinary exclusions of students from american Indian/Alaska native backgrounds. *Family Court Review*, 51(3), 452-459. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/fcre.12042

Springer, M. (2015). Native student organizations as a high impact practice: Native students' perceptions of the effects of participation in a native student organization on their academic and personal success at predominately white institutions (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1754417165).

Stagner, R. M. (2013). Effects of ethnicity and gender on sixth-grade students' environmental knowledge and attitudes after participation in a year-long environmental education program (M.S.T.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1499890362).

Starks, J. E. (2011). Factors influencing the decisions of native americans to attend or not attend college or vocational school Available from PsycINFO. (896406357; 2011-99151-083).

Stinson, D. (2003, Jan 31, 2003). DIW opens healing spirit home for boys. *The Circle: News from an American Indian Perspective*, pp. 7.

Stinson, D. (2003, Jan 31, 2003). DIW opens healing spirit home for boys. *The Circle: News from an American Indian Perspective*, pp. 7.

Stokes, S. B. S. (2011). The relationship between suspension, student engagement, and dropout (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (874154191).

Stone, W. O., & Njumbwa, S. (1994). A Review of the Videotaped Proceedings of the Summit of the American Association for Multicultural Counseling and Development. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 22(3), 195-197.

Storey, A. H., Jr. (2007). The impact of biculturalism on human learned helplessness with northern plains native americans (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304833976). Streetman, J. B. (2011). The influence of health beliefs and depression on health-promoting behavior associated with diabetes prevention and treatment in an american indian community (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (884331138).

Strong, W. C. (2000). *Teacher staff development and the integration of innovations into the classroom* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304600108).

Strong, Z. H. (2013). Native american youth voices on success, identity, and cultural values: Educational success and positive identity development through culturally responsive mentoring (Master's). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1426418200).

Stuart, K. N. (2000). The development of the mo'olelo (myth): A native hawaiian story, ritual, and dance (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (250020983).

Stuart, R. (2012). College bound: Efforts to recruit american indian males to college are working. Diverse: Issues in Higher Education, 29(21), 14-15.

Subgroup achievement and gap trends: South dakota, 2010 (2010). Center on Education Policy. 1001 Connecticut Avenue NW Suite 522, Washington, DC 20036.

Sullivan, S. P. (2004). Education through sport: Athletics in american indian boarding schools of new mexico, 1885--1940 (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305165166).

Swaim, R. C., Stanley, L. R., & Beauvais, F. (2013). The normative environment for substance use among american indian students and white students attending schools on or near reservations. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 83(2-3), 422-429. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib. asu.edu/10.1111/ajop.12022

Swaim, R. C., Stanley, L. R., & Beauvais, F. (2013). The normative environment for substance use among american indian students and white students attending schools on or near reservations. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 83(2 Pt 3), 422-429. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/ajop.12022

Syljuberget, D. R. (2010). Walking in multiple worlds: A narrative inquiry of william "Anutnurnerciraq" beans, a yup'ik elder and alaskan educator (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (749076478).

Taggart, S. W. (2000). Facilitating native american high school success: Learning from the graduates (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304587094). Tan, M. C., Westermeyer, J., Thompson, J., Thuras, P., & Canive, J. (2008). Sustained remission from substance use disorder among american indian veterans. Addictive Disorders & their Treatment, 7(2), 53-63. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1097/ADT.0b013e31805ea0ad

Tann, S. S., Yabiku, S. T., Okamoto, S. K., & Yanow, J. (2007). TRIADD: The risk for alcohol abuse, depression, and diabetes multimorbidity in the american indian and alaska native population. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 14(1), 1-23. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.5820/aian.1401.2007.5

Tato, D. (2006). The effects of a mandatory retention program on american indian college students (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305351471).

Taylor, J. S. (2000). America's first people: Factors that affect their persistence in higher education (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304628119).

Taylor, M. J. (2000). The influence of self-efficacy on alcohol use among american indians. Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 6(2), 152-167. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.6.2.152

Taylor, P. L. (2011). Objectionable team nicknames: Determining the likelihood of selling the issue of banning them in virginia high schools (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (887271347)

Tellett, A. E. (2004). Experiences on the journey toward cultural competence (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305160535).

Tetzloff, L. M. (2008). "Shall the indian remain indian?": Native americans and the women's club movement, 1899--1954 (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304501566).

Thao, N.X. (2009). Examining family and community influences on the attitudes to education and career aspirations of Hmong/Mong high school students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global (3358651). The state of indian education today; report details improvements, drawbacks. (2005, Sep 2, 2005). Native American Times, pp. 5.

Theis, L. D. (2014). Enculturation and posttraumatic growth factors in native americans (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1501469974).

Thigpen, R. E. (2011). Teacher responses to participation in hawaii's kahua induction program (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1011473092). Thomas, R. J. (2001). The effects of graphing calculators on college algebra courses at edison community college (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (250765699).

Thompson, J. L., Davis, S. M., Gittelsohn, J., Going, S., Becenti, A., Metcalfe, L.,  $\dots$  Ring, K. (2001).

Patterns of physical activity among american indian children: An assessment of barriers and support. *Journal of Community Health: The Publication for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention, 26*(6), 407-421. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1023/A:1012573306946

Thompson, L. W. (2007). Witnessing in modern antioch: Beginning the process of transforming a secularized multi-ethnic liberal arts college for christ through a biblical postmodern model (D.Min.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304862061).

Tippett, S. R. (2007). An examination of class and cultural variables, explanatory style, and academic achievement among native american and caucasian college students Available from PsycINFO. (622022415; 2007-99012-256).

Todacheene, V. K. (2008). A sense of community in distance education: A tribal college students' perspective (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304533134).

Tracy, S. N. (2005). Blurring the color line: Racial identity construction of individuals in interracial families (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305011042).

Tragesser, S. L., Beauvais, F., Burnside, M., & Jumper-Thurman, P. (2010). Differences in illicit drug-use rates among oklahoma and non-oklahoma indian youth. *Substance use & Misuse*, 45(13), 2323-2339. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.3109/10826084.2010.484320

Trujillo, M. L. (2008). Onate's foot: Remembering and dismembering in northern new mexico. *Aztlan: A Journal of Chicano Studies, 33*(2), 91-119.

Tsatoke, T. (2012). Meeting the culturally-related academic needs of american indian students: A case study of elva john middle school (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1029493009).

Tsinnajinnie, L. R. (2011). Examining the indigenous relationship between education and the united states' military from 2001–2009 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1011473173). Tsinnijinnie Lomay, V. (2004). The american indian college student: An intersection of identity, education and racism (Ph.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305216036).

Tsosie, R. A. (2005). Engaging the spirit of racial healing within critical race theory: An exercise in transformative thought. Michigan Journal of Race & Law. 11(21).

Tucker, W. G. (2014). Spaces for success in higher education: Males of color at an online predominantly white community college (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1545673941).

Tuitele, S. I. (2010). From cultural roots to worldview: Cultural connectedness of teachers for native hawaiian students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (366652017).

Turner, S. L. (2000). Native american adolescent career development: Initial validation of a computerized career exploration and assessment instrument (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304613248).

Turner, S. L., & Lapan, R. T. (2003). Native american adolescent career development. *Journal of Career Development*, 30(2), 159.

Tyro, F. H. (2004). More than smoke signals: An examination of the experience of online american indian students at salish kootenai college (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305049590).

U of arizona approves formation of its first american indian fraternity. (2001). Black Issues in Higher Education, 18(2), 23.

U.S. Const. Art. 1.

Uche, U. (2005). Multicultural education in a global classroom (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305341508).

United States Department of Education, (2014). Data Snapshot:School Discipline. Issue Brief No.1 Office for Civil Rights. Accessed online at http://ocrdata.ed.gov/Downloads/CRDC-School-Discipline-Snapshot.pdf.

Upham, L. (2010, Nov 25, 2010). Fathehood program lookks for a few dam good men and women. *Char-Koosta News*, pp. 1-1,4. Van Gelder, L. G. (2002). The philosophy of place and its application in the road scholars educational program: A contextual essay to accompany the road scholars web site (www.roadscholars.net) (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305495227).

Van Mullem, H. I. D. (2005). A season on the kaw: The role of sport in the lives of american indian women (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304990550).

Vande Sande, K. A. (2001). Transition of american indian students to an elementary school environment: A case study (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304772265).

Vang, M. J. (2009). Exploring students' experiences with the california high school exit examination february 2006 to may 2007 (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (518903665).

Vasquez-Ilaoa, L. S. (2009). American indian composition pedagogy: Related histories, dialogues, and response strategies (Ph.D.). Available from ProOuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304975573).

Venner, K. L., Wall, T. L., Lau, P., & Ehlers, C. L. (2006). Testing of an orthogonal measure of cultural identification with adult mission indians. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 12(4), 632-643. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.12.4.632

Vernon, I. S., & Jumper-Thurman, P. (2002). Prevention of HIV/AIDS in native american communities: Promising interventions. *Public Health Reports* (Washington, D.C.: 1974), 117 Suppl 1, S96-103.

Vigil, A. (2013). *The big break: Race and gender in pawnee bill's historic wild west, 1888-1913* (M.A.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1370778770).

Wade, B. H. (2005). Black masculinities and human rights for women: Preliminary considerations for a training agenda. *Southern Sociological Society* 

Walls, M. L., Chapple, C. L., & Johnson, K. D. (2007). Strain, emotion, and suicide among american indian youth. *Deviant Behavior*, 28(3), 219-246. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/01639620701233100

Walters, K. L., & Simoni, J. M. (2002). Reconceptualizing Native women's health: An "indigenist" stress-coping model. *American Journal of Public Health*. 92(4), 520-524.

Walters, K. L., Simoni, J. M., & Evans-Campbell, T. (2002). Substance use among American Indians and Alaska natives: incorporating culture in an" indigenist" stress-coping paradigm. *Public health reports, 117* (Suppl 1), S104. War on obesity vital for youngsters. (2010, Feb 17, 2010). *Indian Country Today*, pp. 4.

Warburton, M. A. (2012). "For the purposes of example and justice": Native american incarceration in the upper mississippi valley, 1803-1849 Available from PsycINFO. (1017621595; 2012-99050-479).

Warren, K. (2004). Education for citizenship: African -americans and native americans in kansas, 1865-1935 (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305127975).

Weaver, H. N. (2001). Native americans and substance abuse. *Ethnocultural factors in substance abuse treatment* (pp. 77-96). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press, New York, NY.

Weih, T. G. (2003). Reader response, story mapping, and writing of native american folktales: Teacher research and student experiences at the second, fifth, and seventh grades (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305317930).

Weiterman Barton, S. D. (2013). Web walkers a phenomenological study of adult native american distance learning experiences: Toward a standard model of indigenous learning (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1551196861).

Weldon, T. L. (2013). Can high school assessments predict developmental education enrollment in new mexico? (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1507844825).

Welsh, C. A. (2008). Making science education meaningful for american indian students: The effect of science fair participation (D.Ed.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304512427).

Westermeyer, J., Canive, J., Thuras, P., Thompson, J., Crosby, R. D., & Garrard, J. (2009). A comparison of substance use disorder severity and course in american indian male and female veterans. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 18(1), 87-92. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1080/10550490802544912

Wetzel, G. E. (2011). "We must teach wisely and lead aright": Civic literacy and writing pedagogy in late nineteenth century american women's journalism (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1015363742).

Wheeler, G. S. (2006). *Indian and faculty: Engaging miami university on native issues* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304910915).

Whitbeck, L. B., Adams, G. W., Hoyt, D. R., & Chen, X. (2004). Conceptualizing and measuring historical trauma among American Indian people. *American journal of community psychology*, 33(3-4), 119-130.

White Hat, C. R. (2003). *American indians and chemical dependency* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305337059).

White Shield, R. (2003). Identifying and understanding indigenous cultural and spiritual strengths in the higher education experience of indigenous women utilizing a culturally intrinsic research paradigm model (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305335459).

White, F. H. (2001). Participation and learning styles of the haida: A study of a haida language class (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (276629270).

Whitehead, J. L. (2000). *The influences of feminism and ethnicity on selected women artists of color* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304606093).

Whitekiller, V. (2004). Cultural resilience: Factors that influence the graduation of native american college students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305081158).

Whitesell, N. R., Beals, J., Mitchell, C. M., Novins, D. K., Spicer, P., O'Connell, J., & Manson, S. M. (2007). Marijuana initiation in 2 american indian reservation communities: Comparison with a national sample. American Journal of Public Health, 97(7), 1311-1318. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.2105/AJPH.2005.071266

Whitesell, N. R., Mitchell, C. M., Kaufman, C. E., & Spicer, P. (2006). Developmental trajectories of personal and collective self-concept among american indian adolescents. *Child Development*, 77(5), 1487-1503. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00949.x

Whitford, D. K. (2015). Office disciplinary referral patterns of american indian students in special education Available from PsycINFO. (1645218741: 2015-99010-531).

Whitney, S. R. (2010). Multiple representations and rate of change: The nature of diverse students' initial understanding (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (365864725).

Wilcox Jones, C. (2003). The blandin community leadership program: A case study in transformative learning (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305217463).

Wilhelm, H. J. (2010). Who do we tell? school violence and reporting behavior among native hawaiian high school students (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (750452263). Wilkie, M. J. (Mar 2003). Convergent and discriminant validity of acculturation and eating disorders measures in northern plains native americans Available from PsycINFO. (620229970;

2003-95004-103).

Wilkie-Villebrun, R. M. (2015). How shared experiences impact teachers who remain in american indian elementary schools more than five years (Ed.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1775528845).

Wilkins, D. E., & Lomawaima, K. T. (2001). *Uneven ground: American Indian sovereignty and federal law*. University of Oklahoma Press.

Williams Jr, R. A. (1997). Vampires anonymous and critical race practice. Michigan Law Review, 741-765.

Williams, C. (2009). A comparison of medical, clinical, and spiritual adolescent suicide interventions on the navajo nation (Ed.D.). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Arizona State University, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304843832).

Williams, R. D. (2011). The role of leadership in native american student persistence and graduation: A case study of one tribal college (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (887981557).

Wilson, A. A. (2009). Case study of a middle school student attending a separate reading class. *Literacy issues during changing times: A call to action* (pp. 103-117). Pittsburg, KS, US: College Reading Association, Pittsburg, KS.

Wind (Jazrea Thomas), G., & DeSpain, S. M. (2008). "As tall in her moccasins as these sequoias will grow on mother earth:" the life of ataloa. *The Journal of Chickasaw History and Culture, 11*(2), 14-43.

Wing, D.M., Crow, S.S., & Thompson, T. (1995). An ethnonursing study of Muscogee Indians and effective health care practices for treating alcohol abuse. *Family and Community Health*, 18, 52-64.

Winters, K. C., Latimer, W. W., Stinchfield, R. D., & Egan, E. (2004). Measuring adolescent drug abuse and psychosocial factors in four ethnic groups of drug-abusing boys. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 12(4), 227-236. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/1064-1297.12.4.227

Winters, K. C., Latimer, W. W., Stinchfield, R. D., & Egan, E. (2004). Measuring adolescent drug abuse and psychosocial factors in four ethnic groups of drug-abusing boys. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 12(4), 227-236. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu. edu/10.1037/1064-1297.12.4.227

Winters, K. C., Latimer, W. W., Stinchfield, R. D., & Egan, E. (2009). Measuring adolescent drug abuse and psychosocial factors in four ethnic groups of drug-abusing boys. Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association, Washington, DC. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1037/11855-025

Wirta Kosobuski, A. (2013). The experiences of native american women physician faculty in U.S. medical schools: Culture, diversity, and retention (D.Ed.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1496774281).

Wiseley, M. C. (Jan 2001). Non-verbal intelligence and native-american navajo children: A comparison between the CTONI and the WISC-III Available from PsycINFO. (619719253; 2001-95023-018).

Wofford, G. (2003, Feb 15, 2003). Union school board listens to native voices over mascot issue. Native American Times, pp. 1.

Wolf, S. J. (2004). Warriorship in practice: Identity and learning in an american indian school (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305203935).

Wolfe, D. L. (2011). Community college as a lifesong or swansong for the underrepresented population: A holistic critical theory perspective (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (889091832).

Wood, D. S., & Hays, Z. R. (2014). Self-reported versus administrative identification of american indian and alaska native arrestees: Effects on relative estimates of illicit drug use and alcohol abuse. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 21(2), 1-27.

Worcester v. Georgia, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515 (1832).

Wren, C. A. (2009). A picture of strengths and needs of alaska native and american indian youth (M.S.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305130045).

Wu, J. (2015). A comprehensive analysis of the NAEP data from native american youth concerning excellence gaps (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1731940732).

Yamamoto, K. K. (2010). "Standing behind" listening to the voices of native hawaiian students with learning disabilities in the transition process (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (860255499). Yaocihuatzin. (2011). Analysis of 45 Nahua/Mexica/Aztec children's books: Decolonizing children's literature on indigenous communities (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (864030089).

Yasui, M., Dishion, T. J., Stormshak, E., & Ball, A. (2015). Socialization of culture and coping with discrimination among american indian families: Examining cultural correlates of youth outcomes. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 6(3), 317-341. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1086/682575

Yatchmeneff, M. (2015). A qualitative study of motivation in alaska native science and engineering program (ANSEP) precollege students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1776715628).

Young, J. R. (2002). A grounded theory study of the values and beliefs that shape the teaching strategies of middle -level music educators (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305495006).

Young, L. K., Jr. (2006). *The journey toward the ph.D.: Native hawaiian experiences* (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305325498).

Young, W. M. (2010). An investigation of exemplary teaching practices of teachers of native american students (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (734722506).

Yu, A. C. L. (2008). The phonetics of quantity alternation in washo. Journal of Phonetics, 36(3), 508-520. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib. asu.edu/10.1016/j.wocn.2007.10.004

Yu, M., & Stiffman, A. R. (2007). Culture and environment as predictors of alcohol abuse/dependence symptoms in american indian youths. *Addictive Behaviors*, 32(10), 2253-2259. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1. lib.asu.edu/10.1016/j.addbeh.2007.01.008

Yurkovich, E. E., Hopkins-Lattergrass, Z., & Rieke, S. (2011). "Chaotic soup of politics:" A native american indian mental health perspective. Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 14(10), 1013-1029. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1080/13674676.2010.547986

Zanowski, C. (2008). The four-year tribal college experience and its impact on american indian students: A study in culturally-based education (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304567730). Zeitler, E. J. (2008). Geographies of indigenous-based team name and mascot use in american secondary schools (Ph.D.). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304529346).

Zhang, Y., Lee, E. T., Cowan, L. D., Fabsitz, R. R., & Howard, B. V. (2011). Coffee consumption and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in men and women with normal glucose tolerance: The strong heart study. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases.*, 21(6), 418-423.

## APPENDIX A

#### RISE INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

Program:

Date of interview:

Interviewer(s):

Interview participant(s):

- 1. Tell us about how your program came to be
  - a. How long have you been in operation?
  - b. How did it start?
  - c. Why did it start?
  - d. What has been important in the development of your program?
- 2. What are the central activities and approaches of your program?
  - a. How do you do what you do?
- 3. What are the most significant challenges you encounter in running your program?
  - a. How do you manage these challenges?
    - i. Who helps with them?
    - ii. What are the outcomes of the challenges?
  - b. What would make the challenges go away?
  - c. How much do you think those challenges are specific to your community and how much are they challenges that you think other communities would face?
- 4. What are the most significant rewards or impacts of your program?
  - a. How do you explain these awards or impacts to others?
  - b. How do these rewards manifest themselves? What do they look like?

- 5. How and in what ways do you engage tribal communities in your work?
  - a. What, specifically, do communities contribute to the program? To programming?
  - b. What challenges present themselves in the relationship between your program and communities? How and in what ways do tribal communities contribute to your programs successes?
  - c. How do you think tribal histories impact or shape your program and work?
- 6. What are the best lessons you have learned from running the program?
  - a. About community relationships?
  - b. About the challenges faced by Indigenous boys and men?
  - c. About the futures of Native boys and men?
- 7. If money was no object, what would the perfect program look like to address the needs of Native boys and men?
  - a. What are those challenges they face?
  - b. What is stopping you from building the perfect program?

# APPENDIX B

### RISE CODING SHEET

			vers	sion 10						
Article IDNo Reviewer Initials										
	Year/Date									
Author(s)										
	1									
Publication Title \							Pag	es		
		Rise Relevance								
Yes						Justif	No O Justification			
Site	Site(s)/Location(s)/Dataset(s)						Primary Focus Area			
		<ol> <li>Educati</li> <li>Health</li> <li>Crimina</li> </ol>		4. Economic Opportunit 5. Human S	у					
1. Quantitative	3. Mixed M	f Article 1ethods	5. Other		Secondary Focus Area					
2. Qualitative	4. Newspa	per			■ Education 4. Economic					
Theoretical Fram	Theoretical Framework		Methods		- 2 Health		Opportunity			
					3. Crimina	al Justice	5. Human S	•		
Years Active	Program	Duration	Funding	g Source	Samp	le Size	Age of Pa	rticipants		
			Target P	opulation						
1 American Indian 2 Alaska Native				3. Native Hawaiian						
Race/Ethr	Gender Variable									
Olndependent	OIndependent ONot Discussed									
ODependent	Opependent Other (Describe): Ocontrol									
Control Interve	Intervention/Program Purpose									
		micer venti	on, rrogra	пт игрозс						
OSchool Based ( OCommunity Based (										
Rate the Ac		Rate the Importance of the Study								
1 2	3	4	5	1	2	3	4	5		

Article IDNo	_	Reviewer Initials										
		Life-Stage Transition	on Points									
Early Childhood	4th Grade	8th Grade	Hig	h School	Higher Ed							
Fatherhood		Masculinities		Sexua	lity							
Author's Recommendations												
		United to the state of the stat	to Austri									
		Limitations Stated	in Article									
Policies, Practices, Purposes & Guiding Principles												
Notes												
Keywords:												

## APPENDIX B

#### **INSTRUCTIONS RISE PROJECT 7-4-2016**

<u>Overview:</u> The proposed project, "RISE: A Study of Indigenous Boys and Men," focuses on identifying and understanding current asset-based approaches that lead to enhanced educational and personal success among Indigenous boys and men (defined as American Indian, Alaska Native, and/or Native Hawaiian) in middle school through college (grades 7-20).

<u>Purpose:</u> To conduct a comprehensive scan of research literature, policies, programs, and practices, published over the past 25 years (1990-2015). The scan will identify innovative interventions and guiding principles that support the emotional, personal, and academic growth of Indigenous boys and men through educational settings.

#### **Research Questions:**

- 1. What types of interventions have been offered specific to Native boys and men? Where?
- 2. What successful guiding principles and practices have emerged from these interventions that lead to increased personal and academic achievement?

Article IDNo: Article IDNo

**Reviewer Initials:** Reviewer Initials

Author(s): Place the name of the authors in APA Format i.e. (Last, F., Last, F., and Last, F.)

**Year/Date:** Year of publication, include date if possible

Article Title: Title of Article in APA Format (Only capitalize the first letter of a sentence or the first letter after a colon)

**Publication Title:** Title of Publication, Journal, Newspaper, etc.

**Vol(issue):** Volume Number and issue number, if applicable

**Pages:** Page Range

**Topics/Abstract:** Provide a brief synopsis of the article, focusing on the central research questions, themes, and ideas presented in the article.

Rise Relevance: Yes or No;

IF YOU CHECKED NO, then list the Justification: Briefly describe why you feel the article is not relevant to our RISE analysis.

#### Site(s)/Location(s)/Dataset(s):

Name and describe the location of the study, article, etc. If it is a quantitative article using data collected from a pre-existing data source, indicate the Dataset used in the analysis. Try to be as specific as possible.

Primary Focus Area: Education, Health, Criminal Justice, Economic Opportunity, Human Services

Focus area of the article, based on RISE search parameters. What is the program focused on addressing, education (formal/informal), health (mental, physical, emotional), criminal justice (sentencing/incarceration disparities), Economic opportunity (employment services, vocational training, advancement, etc.), or human services (resources provided for temporary assistance/public assistance programs like unemployment, housing, food vouchers, etc.)

#### Secondary Focus Area: Choices: Education, Health, Criminal Justice, Economic Opportunity, Human Services

Focus area of the article, based on RISE search parameters. What is the program focused on addressing, education (formal/informal), health (mental, physical, emotional), criminal justice (sentencing/incarceration disparities), Economic opportunity (employment, economic development, advancement, etc.), or human services (resources for economic, physical health, etc.)

<u>Type of Article:</u> Choices: Quantitative, Qualitative, Mixed Methods, Newspaper, (Other: Fill in the description for what other type of article it is)

Describe the type of article, if it is academic select if it is qualitative or quantitative, if it is news whether it is National (distributed across the United States/Canada, i.e. New York Times, Indian Country Today, etc.) or local (specific to a region, i.e. Arizona republic, Navajo Times, etc.) (also recognizing the underlying colonial problematic raised by referring to the news of a Nation (i.e. Navajo Times) as a local paper, even though it is news of a nation, it is not distributed widely as other "national" papers are).

<u>Theoretical Framework:</u> Briefly describe the methodology stated by the article (i.e. Indigenous Knowledge Systems, Ethnography, etc.)

**Methods:** What does the article identify as the method of data collection or analysis used (i.e. interview, survey, etc.). Try to be as specific as possible. **Years Active:** How many years has the program been around, or how long has the program been in existence (for example, if it has been around since 1980 and the article was published in 2005, you would put "25" to indicate 25 years. If it is about a program which ended, the article should indicate how long the program lasted (i.e. a 4 year cohort)).

**Program Duration:** List the start and end date of the program. If it is still running list the second number as present. For example if a program ran from 1980 to 2005 it would be put in as 1980-2005. If it ran from 2006 to today, it would be 2006-Present.

Funding Source: Indicate where the funding for the article or program may have come from

**Sample Size:** How many people were involved in the study/program?

**Age of Participants:** Describe the age of participants as stated by the article, try to be as specific as possible and use only numbers. Can be an age range (12-25) or an approximate average (17)

#### **Target Population:**

**American Indian:** Specify which Tribal Nations are the focus of the study, if applicable. Alaska Native: Specify which Alaska Native Communities are the focus of the study, if applicable.

Native Hawaiian: Specify which Native Hawaiian Communities are the focus of the study, if applicable.

Other: Specify which other communities are the focus of the study, if applicable.

Race/Ethnicity/Culture Variable:Choices: Independent, Dependent, Control, Not Discussed, Other

If race or ethnicity are conceptualized as a variable(s), select how the article indicates the variable is used in the analysis. If the article is about a racialized group (i.e. American Indians) and race is not included as a category of analysis, select other and indicate "not used."

Other: Provide a brief description of the use of race as a variable

<u>Gender Variable:</u> Choices: Independent, Dependent, Control, Not Discussed, Other (Describe) If gender is conceptualized as a variable, select how the article indicates the variable is used in the analysis. If the article is about a gendered group (i.e. boys) and race is not included as a category of analysis, select other and indicate "not used."

Other: Provide a brief description of the use of race as a variable

Intervention/Program Type: Choices: School based, Community based, Governmental, Independent, Tribal, Other

Indicate what type of program it is, based on how the program is housed or situated or established. Be sure to indicate what "other" means. Other: Provide a brief description of the use of race as a variable Intervention/Program Purpose: Briefly describe the program described in the article. What are the key features of the program. What measures are used to indicate success? How is success defined by the program? Why is it worth talking about or studying? Is it unique? What is the role of cultural relevance in the program?

#### Rate the Accessibility of the Article- Scale 1-5

On a scale from 1 to 5, indicate how accessible the article is. Consider how easy the article was to read, whether the article relied on jargon for the specific field, and whether the concepts are easy to understand.

- a.) 1 means the article requires a high amount of specialization, meant for only experts in the field.
- b.) 5 means that you could hand this to a high school student and they could easily describe what the article was all about.

#### Rate the Importance of the Study: 1-5

On a scale from 1 to 5 rate the importance of the article, considering whether it changed your perspectives on a program, whether the program is crucial or radical, etc.

a.) 1 means the article was a dull recounting of a program that everyone has heard of. b.) 5 means the article altered your perceptions on this type of program or ideal.

#### **Author's Recommendations:**

What recommendations does the author of the article indicate? How would the article implement the program? Are there recommendations for more research? What do those entail?

#### **Limitations Stated in Article:**

What limitations of the study or program are indicated in the article? (remember this is what the author describes as limitations, not your own perceptions, save that for the notes)

#### Policies, Practices, Purposes & Guiding Principles:

What policies, principles, or "R's" do you see in the program/study described by the article? What importance does the article give to culturally relevant practices? What are the core principles of the program/intervention in the study?

#### Notes:

Use this space to describe or list any key themes, vocabulary, insights, and ideas presented you think are strong. Focus on what you think the key point of the article was, or how you think it is relevant to our overall project. Include any major quotes that you think summarize the program, or just really hit home the importance of work for Indigenous boys and men, or even to simply state that the article was not relevant in any particular way.

**Keywords:** words or phrases (to search)

RISE is a joint initiative co-led by Equal Measure and Penn GSE Center for the Study of Race and Equity in Education.

RESEARCH INTEGRATION STRATEGIES EVALUATION

RISE for Boys and Men of Color

www.risebmoc.org





